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This report covers TUHF’s financial year 
ended 31 March 2021 and is intended to share 
information about our strategy, governance, 
performance and prospects, in the context of 
our external environment, to demonstrate 
how we have been able to create value over 
time.

While this report is aimed primarily at our current and 
potential stakeholders, we also aim to share this infor-
mation with our funders and investors who are interested 
in our ability to create value. In this Integrated Annual 
Report you will find comprehensive information of our 
business performance, our strategy, and our prospects.

In preparing this publication, we were guided by the  
International Integrated Reporting Council’s (IIRC) Inte-
grated Reporting Framework.

SCOPE AND BOUNDARY
This report covers TUHF’s performance and its  
commercial subsidiaries (the Group), over the period  
1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021, with comparatives shown 
where available. 

The number of units, buildings, loans and entrepreneurs 
are reported on for active loans within our main operat-
ing company, TUHF Limited (TUHF). The report includes 
comparatives from previous years where available. All 
rand values, including loan book size and operating profit 
or related percentages, are reported for the Group as per 
the annual financial statements and this report.

Annual financial statements for the individual companies 
within the Group are available upon request. 

TUHF has offices in Johannesburg, Durban, Gqeberha 
(formerly Port Elizabeth), Cape Town, Bloemfontein 
and Pretoria. These offices also serve inner cities in the 
surrounding areas, such as Pietermaritzburg, Pinetown, 
Uitenhage and East London.

For more information on our geographic footprint, please 
see our Business Overview, page 28.

MATERIALITY
Our Board of Directors (Board) considers material  
matters to be those that may have an ongoing impact 
on TUHF’s business, and our ability to create and sustain 
value for our stakeholders.

The process of identifying these material matters to our 
business and stakeholders was aligned to our organisa-
tional decision-making processes. The identified risks and 
opportunities are those that could impact our leadership 
position and niche market. 

ASSURANCE
Deloitte has externally audited the Annual Financial 
Statements in this Annual Integrated Report. All infor-
mation in this report is subject to internal controls and 
strong management supervision. The Group is confident 
that other data, although not audited, accurately reflects 
the performance and position of the business.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain statements in this document may constitute 
“forward-looking statements”. Such forward-looking 
statements may differ materially from future results,  
performance or achievements, whether expressed or 
implied.

The Group undertakes no obligation to update 
publicly, or release any revisions to, these forward- 
looking statements to reflect events or circumstances 
after the date of this document, or to reflect the  
occurrence of anticipated events. These have not been 
reviewed or reported on by the Group’s auditors.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL
The Board is responsible for the integrity of the Integrated 
Annual Report, with the assistance of the Audit and Risk 
Committee, and support from management, who  
convened the skills and experience to undertake the 
reporting process and provided management oversight in 
its execution.

In preparing the report, the Board applied its collective 
mind to the report’s content and is satisfied that it fairly 
and accurately represents the Group’s performance and 
prospects. The Board concluded that this report is  
presented in accordance with the IIRC Integrated  
Reporting Framework.

This Integrated Annual Report was approved by the
Board and signed on its behalf by:

Welcome to our 
Integrated Annual Report

Samson Moraba  
Chairperson

Paul Jackson  
Chief Executive Officer

30 September 2021
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About us

TUHF is a specialised commercial property 
financing company that focuses exclusively on 
supporting property investors in inner cities.

We finance property entrepreneurs in their purchase  
and refurbishment of rental properties with a focus on 
providing affordable, quality rental housing. Technically, 
we are a non-bank financial services company that  
borrows money from the capital markets and invests it  
in inner-city areas with entrepreneurs who want to  
grow their businesses. We provide finance through a 
mortgage bond, so that traditionally we could be called  
a mortgage financier.

But we are far from traditional. We believe in the resilience 
of inner cities, and the power of investment in these areas 
to drive inclusive growth. Apart from providing access to 
finance for purchase and refurbishment to people with a 
passion for property and the potential to run successful 
rental operations, we support the entrepreneurs we work 
with to give them the best possible chance of prosperity.

We walk right beside our clients on their property  
investment journey, providing advice in finding the 
correct building and area and supporting them in select-
ing service providers such as building contractors and 
property managers. 

We also inspect the work and ensure everything is  
completed to the highest standard. By providing  
guidance during the negotiation process through to  
construction and rent up, our experience, knowledge  
and expertise is available to our clients throughout the 
15-year loan term.

TUHF sees what others don’t 
Our specialisation sets us apart from our competitors. We 
have unprecedented and in-depth knowledge of the areas 
that we focus on and we stick to what we do best. We are 
very close to the communities that we finance, so that 
we understand the market environment and the property 
trends that impact them and our clients’ success.

TUHF projects:
• are in major city centres that are in urban decline
• are close to schools, transport systems and places of 

work
• are economically sustainable – able to generate 

sufficient income to repay expenses, service the loan 
and make a profit

• will upgrade buildings in the selected inner-city area, 
providing affordable and decent residential rental 
units

• have a positive effect on the areas in which they  
are based.

We work with entrepreneurs to ensure that their project 
is feasible, the purchase price reasonable and local market 
conditions are met. We ensure that there is a good fit 
between the entrepreneur and the building as well as a 
balance between the financial demands of the purchase 
and the rentals that can be realistically expected. 

When considering a loan, we look at the person and the 
project. The entrepreneurial character and competence 
of the entrepreneur guides the way in which we make 
decisions.

TUHF entrepreneurs:
• have equity to contribute towards a project
• have an honest and reliable character
• know the inner city
• have the property management skills and network of 

contacts for their project’s size
• can provide good customer service and firm credit 

control
• are proud of owning well-maintained, clean buildings
• will make sufficient profit
• have the interests of urban regeneration at heart.

At TUHF we encourage our clients to develop their  
property interests, enabling them to grow from part-time 
to full-time property entrepreneurs. This is how we create 
impact through scale, and build trust with our clients and 
stakeholders.

Our Vision: Impact 
through Scale. “We believe in  

the resilience of  
inner cities.
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A Word from our Chair 

Q: Given the year that’s been, what are your thoughts 
on how TUHF has performed financially and commer-
cially over the past financial year?
A: The market that TUHF serves has shown its resilience 
during the past year. The inner-city remains a strong 
segment. Notwithstanding the disruption caused by 
COVID-19, TUHF has been able to grow its footprint 
across the regions. In fact, the business was even able to 
show some profitability during these difficult times.

The first and second quarter saw collections fall below 
50% but that rose to levels above 85% towards October. 
What has changed is how TUHF, and every other financial 
services provider, have focused on resilience. So, even 
though our impairment charge was higher than normal 
for some time, as our collections improved, so it overtook 
these charges.

Operationally, the pandemic highlighted how the 
 robust platform for growth that we embarked on in 
2018 supported our own resilience with nothing being 
adversely affected by the pandemic. We implemented key 
COVID-19 protocols and were able to adapt to keep our 
staff safe. We also took the necessary steps to enable our 
staff to work remotely during the hard lockdown period.

Additionally, over the reporting year, we have been 
fortunate that our profits have doubled even though 
they are still at a low level when compared with 2019. If 
you factor in the pandemic then things could have been 
significantly worse. The reality is that the sharp decline in 
profitability does translate to a lower return of opportu-
nity for shareholders.

This certainly reflects the totality of the impact 
COVID-19 has had on our commercial performance. 

However, we believe that we have the right growth  
strategy in place and will be moving to numbers commen- 
surate with what they were prior to the onset of the 
pandemic.

Q. Please discuss the TUHF Group growth strategy?
A: One of the things we can certainly boast about is that 
the growth strategy we embarked on in 2018 is on point. 
By December last year we put in place the funding archi-
tecture and the operations of business architecture – two 
critical components we wanted to accomplish.

Furthermore, our Capital Raise Programme will be signi- 
ficant to support the growth we envisage going forward. 
It was put on hold during the early days of the pandemic, 
but we are looking forward to resuming it from the next 
quarter and concluding the programme this year.

Another action we have taken is the operational split 
between TUHF21 and the Group Holdings from 1 April. 
However, our commitment to the development impact 
of the business remains a paramount feature from a 
stakeholder perspective. We are positioning ourselves to 
effectively leverage this and reporting on its success in 
future cycles.

Q: What do you think TUHF’s biggest challenges will 
be in the immediate future, and as the world begins to 
emerge from the pandemic?
A: The variables around health and economic matters, as 
well as the possibilities of future variants and the impact 
of the third wave, make forecasting difficult. As such, it 
is important for the country to meet its vaccine rollout 
objectives to help mitigate the risk of potential future 
infection spikes. Local government must also do more to 
reduce non-payment of services such as electricity.  

““...the pandemic  
highlighted how  
the robust platform  
for growth that we  
embarked on in 2018 
supported our own  
resilience...”

Basic services impact on everything that happen in the 
country.

From a TUHF perspective, our biggest challenge has been 
to find innovative ways to adapt and thrive in the new 
normal. It has been a case of taking to heart the lessons 
learnt and doing everything we can to retain the quality 
of our loan book that enables us to tap into capital  
markets as a funding option.

Furthermore, the retention of key personnel and  
competencies in the organisation will be paramount.  
The competitive landscape is as much about the people 
and their knowledge as it is about the products and 
services available. Retaining talent at both operational 
and board levels will be key to our ongoing success as an 
organisation.
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Q: What do you believe TUHF’s biggest achievements 
were over the last financial year?
A: Despite the disruption caused by COVID-19, all our 
strategic imperatives remained on point. We adopted 
new ways of doing things when it came to engagements 
with our employees, partners, clients, and stakeholders.

From a governance perspective, this environment brings 
with it increasing complexity and places more demands 
on the various stakeholders – making our decision- 
making more challenging than before. It is now not only 
about being resilient, but also factoring in health  
concerns that previously never affected the business  
culture. Whether COVID-19 will be the inflection point 
for corporate governance will remain to be seen, but the 
new way of doing things will be here for some time.

We have also undertaken a comprehensive approach to 
our compensation structures. As part of this, we have 
been paying more attention at a board level to the  
insights and viewpoints expressed on how compensation 
is managed, as well as the diversity of the organisation. 

Q. Looking back over the last 18-months+ what 
remains an important lesson and message (for the 
country, economy, industry and society) as the world 
begins to emerge from the pandemic?
A: At a boardroom level it comes down to being deliberate 
in decision-making. It is about enhancing the traditional 
ways of approaching things with more openness, trans-
parency, relevance, and speed in an environment that is 
more sensitive to market conditions than before.

For us, it is not about ticking boxes and simply fulfilling 
regulatory requirements. We are doing this work because 
we are passionate about it and we believe in what we do.

Q: Last year we spoke about the influence of green 
and sustainable building adoption trends. TUHF has 
since launched its ground-breaking Sustainable Bond 
Framework and listed its first Social Bonds on the 
JSE, with the assistance of Standard Bank. In your 
view, what will this Framework and the capital raising 
instrument mean for TUHF and the company’s vision 
and mission of Massive: Small impact through scale?
A: The Sustainable Bond Framework is a summation 
of what we at TUHF have been espousing in terms of 
generating a return on investment by a green and sus-
tainable approach to our business. Even though it is still 
early days, we already have the support of Standard Bank 
which is testament to the potential of the Sustainable 
Bond Framework.

This will be an important instrument to raise funding 
from investors who are looking for more than purely 
financial returns. It is also a perfect platform to assure 
them that the funds invested are being used for its  
intended purpose. Ultimately, TUHF is there for its  
shareholders and committed to integrating sustainable 

development into the operating environment. This 
Framework presents the opportunity to raise specific 
funding to grow this as a key approach to doing things.

Q: Your closing thoughts?
A: From my side, I would like to extend my gratitude 
towards all our employees. They have been doing  
phenomenal work through the pandemic, and their  
resilience and commitment to make the transition to the 
new normal has been immense. I also want to compliment 
my fellow board members on how they rose to the  
occasion, especially during the hard lockdown. In the end, 
we have become closer and stronger for it.

Of course, our shareholders also deserve a mention for 
their support. Between them and the funders who have 
made their facilities available at such difficult times we 
extend our utmost gratitude and acknowledge their  
contribution to the success of the business.

Furthermore, TUHF works in partnership with various 
institutions. As such, we want to salute our partners and 
the collaboration that saw us come through the pandemic 
stronger and more agile. Our clients have also been vital, 
and we are grateful that they have remained with us.

The issue of developmental impact is key to what we 
do as a business. We are not a mega-project company. 
Instead, we focus on the little ways to make our projects 
scalable and impactful on the places and communities we 
serve.

““Despite the disruption caused  
by COVID-19, all our strategic  
imperatives remained on point.” 

““...our Capital Raise  
Programme will be 
significant to support 
the growth we  
envisage going  
forward.”
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Paul Jackson’s  
reflections on FY21

Q: In light of the impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic, 
what are your thoughts on TUHF’s financial  
performance over the past financial year?
A: Our market niche has held up extremely well. TUHF 
has always maintained that the demand for inner city 
rental housing is deep and multisectoral with tenants  
obtaining income from varied economic sectors. That 
played out in our business and particularly in our collection 
figures. We saw a steep drop in collections – down to 
about 50% – in the first three months of hard lockdown, 
but we saw a very robust recovery as lockdown eased, 
even over the festive season which is usually a weaker 
collections period. 

I am also pleased with the way we were able to use the 
pandemic effectively to deliver our strategy of building  
a robust platform for growth. We’re still pursuing our  
Inclusive Growth & Transformation objective, using 
a massive-small approach, delivering large quantities 
of housing in well located areas through smaller and 
medium-sized interventions. And during the pandemic, 
we executed our strategic plans in our funding, operating 
and IT architectures to strengthen our robust operating 
platform. We were able to achieve all the objectives we 
set ourselves for those three pillars.

The pandemic also highlighted some frailties that we 
weren’t aware of. In particular, there has been some 
cleaning-out of loans that were weak even prior to the 
pandemic, and we are working hard to address these.  
Our loan book is still a good quality loan book, and we 
continue to perform competitively in the market. But 
there were some quality issues – underlying weaknesses 
either at client or at collateral level – that were brought 
into the light of day through the pandemic. 

Improvement in our arrears will necessarily follow  
collections, and while collections have recovered very 
nicely, we now need to look at our arrears.

Q: What is TUHF’s plan to address these frailties in 
the business?
A: We’ve interacted  with all our clients, across the board 
and we’re confident that they will be able to remedy the 
impact of the pandemic on their businesses over time. 
But there are also those with whom we need to part 
ways. 

In these instances, we’re implementing a number of 
work-outs – we’ve just completed one in Durban for 
example – and we’ll also be proceeding with foreclosures. 
There are projects in various parts of the country where 
we’ve had to have frank conversations with clients and 
work with them to sell their property. Then there are 
some that are just straight litigation, which takes time 
but is necessary.

Q: How has inner-city property investment shown 
resilience in the face of the pandemic? 
A: The first thing that stands out to me in terms of 
inner-city resilience is the underlying vacancies in our 
buildings. We expected vacancies, particularly in Gauteng, 
to go up to between 20% and 25% but they didn’t get 
anywhere near that. They ended up between 10% and 
15%, which shows that the demand to live in our  
accommodation has remained strong. We expect this to 
recover further as economic recovery takes hold.

The second is the robust recovery of our collections. 
Despite the drop at lockdown level 5, our collections had 
recovered so well that by December/January they were 
close to the same months in FY20.

““...we saw a very  
robust recovery as 
lockdown eased...”

Another factor was good property management. It is 
without a doubt the distinguishing factor for resilience 
in our space. Clients that managed their properties well, 
communicated well with tenants, kept up with mainte-
nance, provided effective customer service, helped  
people who lost jobs or suffered salary reductions and 
who practiced firm credit control were extremely resilient 
during the pandemic. Those clients that were less hands-
on weren’t able to react quickly enough, and this high-
lighted a frailty there. 

We also saw Port cities – Durban, Gqeberha (formerly 
Port Elizabeth), Cape Town and East London – performing 
very well. There, vacancies stayed closer to the traditional 
5%, though we saw slight decreases in the rentals. Even 
that demonstrated the resilience of our niche – while 
we didn’t see increases, we didn’t see much by way of 
decreases either.

Q: How did TUHF’s contribution towards creating 
inclusive growth fair during the pandemic?
A: When you invest in a local economy, like TUHF does, 
you stimulate local economic development in a  
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neighbourhood sense. As we invest in inner-cities, we are 
more likely to create employment, stimulate spending, 
contribute support for small businesses and in so doing 
grow local micro-economies in an inclusive way. All of 
that took a big set-back because of COVID. We closed 
credit from 1 March – 31 September and couldn’t invest in 
projects. Construction sites were closed down and most 
of our landlords had to help tenants get through the lock-
down. All of this led to a very strong setback to economic 
growth as a nation and to these local micro economies.

But we’re a high volume, low value lender and this isn’t 
the first crisis we’ve faced in our 18 years. The human 
resilience of our people and our clients has always been 
a key factor in getting through crises, and the pandemic 
has been no exception. We made it clear to clients and 
our employees that we are in this together, and we were 
blown away by their reactions. Some clients turned 
vacant flats into creches to support parents when they 
couldn’t send their kids to school. Another opened all 
the fire escapes and held singing classes to help tenants 
keep their sense of community. And those are just two 
examples of how our clients’ human resilience has and 
continues to stimulate inclusive growth.

Another way this human resilience revealed itself was in 
how hard tenants worked to pay their landlords, and how 
hard the landlords worked to pay us. Deposit utilisation, 
rent deferral agreements and similar arrangements were 
put together very quickly and offered to tenants. It was 

truly heart-warming to see the way people made an 
effort to support and help each other. 

Q: So, with the country’s economy taking such a large 
setback, how has TUHF performed commercially?
A: Last year’s audited financials were a disappointing  
performance, and while TUHF made a profit it was a 
modest one. Two things contributed to this showing. 
We had to put enormous loan-loss provisions into the 
books during the height of lockdown because of the sheer 
extent of uncertainty locally and globally. 

We also incurred a fair amount of cost – some of it 
unexpected – to achieve our strategic outcomes towards 
our robust platform for growth. Then, with the onset of 
COVID, a lot of our clients started hoarding cash to  
protect themselves in the face of uncertainty. 

But in spite of those things, we still posted a profit, and 
our profits are predicted to double for this year, which 
shows both operating and commercial resilience. We’re 
charting a growth path to push ROE from 7% to around 
12% next year. But we’ve come through FY21 in really 
good shape. 

We have a large loan-loss provision place, we’re showing 
excellent improvement trends in our overall loan book 
and we’ve done that by cutting costs without cutting 
capacity.

Our shareholders also stepped to the plate with a share-
holders loan, which was a welcome demonstration of 
their backing and support. All of this shows enormous 
commercial resilience and we’re confident this will  
support our current capital raise programme, which forms 
part of our plans for growth. That process is well under-
way and will gain momentum in the new financial year.

Our brand and brand presence, as well as our competitive 
advantage, have contributed to our commercial resilience 
and remains strong. We have made it clear, in our  
positioning, the way we work with our clients and 
through crises like the COVID-19 pandemic, that we 
don’t invest in the city only when the sun shines. We 
invest in the city no matter what. 

We are an “Invested Stakeholder”. We’ve seen our 
competitors become very risk averse and cautious, while 
we’ve been able to demonstrate to our clients that our 
ability to partner with them, to stand with them through 
thick and thin is real. 

TUHF always does better when things are a little tougher, 
and our brand strength together with our commercial 
sustainability and resilience has supported our competi- 
tive advantage despite some of the frailties that were 
uncovered through FY20.

Q: What do you think TUHF’s biggest challenges will 
be in the immediate future, and as the world begins to 
emerge from the pandemic?
A: Our biggest challenge will be navigating economic 
uncertainties, which are influenced by socio-political 
uncertainties, the ongoing pandemic and concerns in the 
broader South African economy. Critically, I feel,  
we must reach an agreement around local government 
taxation. Though local government has extensive  
consultation programmes, these have proven to be 
ineffective lip service really. Taxation – meaning rates 
levels and utilities – have increased 3.5 times faster than 
rentals. This is unsustainable and it has become anti- 
investment. 

This incredible increase rate is driven by huge areas of 
non-payment, such as Soweto where the non-payment 
rate is around 85%, and by government wage increases 
which have far outstripped inflation. The approach has 
been to increase taxes, and this is fiscally short-sighted. 
To be clear, the non-payment issue pivots around people 
who can and should pay rates and utility bills, but simply 
don’t. And while we recognise that someone has to pay 
that shortfall, we don’t believe increased taxation is the 
way and this needs to be addressed. Certainly, there has 
been an improvement of late, but the fact remains that 
local government needs to start looking at ways to make 
utilities cheaper. 

And lastly urban management remains a key challenge, 
as well as a key opportunity, and is probably the element 
that requires the most consistent work.

Q: How do you believe TUHF will be able to overcome 
these?
A: We are well placed to take advantage of the opportu-
nities in our niche. Our brand presence and reach, and our 
commercial resilience, all indicate a positive outlook for 
the organisation. Our record disbursement is R 836 million, 
and prior to COVID we were aiming for R1 billion per  

““...our brand strength together  
with our commercial sustainability 
and resilience has supported our 
competitive advantage...”

““The human resilience 
of our people and our 
clients has always 
been a key factor in 
getting through  
crises...”

annum, moving quickly to R1.5 billion. We reduced that 
to R 300 million last year due to COVID and our book 
actually got smaller. So, next year’s path is about getting 
net book growth back, and getting credit quality back to 
where it should be. 

We’re happy that we’ve implemented what we committed 
to in terms of our robust platform for growth, and the 
balance between bilateral loans and our securitisation 
structures are properly aligned to fund our R 1 billion + 
per annum goal. We now need to chart a way forward for 
growth, in the face of a lot of uncertainty and a state that 
is, to be frank, almost bankrupt. 

Low economic growth remains persistent. TUHF’s  
continued strength and commercial resilience will lie in 
how we respond to our market. And we think the market 
opportunity for affordable housing, mixed use develop-
ment, student housing and all the other areas we invest 
in remains substantial. We also need to make sure that 
the timing of our growth plan is entrepreneurial and 
positive – because that’s what TUHF is – but cautious. We 
must understand our markets properly before we invest.

Finally, we need to make sure our loan book gets back to 
its former quality standards and we need to leverage all 
the efficiencies we’ve unlocked through our robust plat-
form for growth to extract those economies of scale. We 
can do R1 billion a year with the platform we have.

Q: What do you believe TUHF’s biggest achievements 
were over the last financial year?
A: Completing our robust platform and our financial 
performance have been good achievements. But the way 
we’ve worked with our clients – speaking to every one of 
them to co-create solutions for the pandemic challenge 
– has been our greatest achievement. We call it “The 
TUHF Love”. We understood at a very early stage that it 
wouldn’t be a one-size-fits-all solution and we worked 
with every individual to get through it together.
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2021 Highlights

Profit after Tax

Annual Disbursements Highest monthly 
Disbursements for 
2020/2021

Our loan book 
showed a more 
modest increase 
than we set out 
to achieve before 
the pandemic

Units financed 
since inception

Remuneration

million

R40.3
R52.6 million

R343.9 
million44 400

688 142 458m2

73.2  
million

contributed in rates, taxes 
and utilities to the CoJ

Total commercial 
retail space R226

Loan book

R3.8 billion
1%

395%

Total number of 
buildings

TUHF was not exempt from the 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and the resulting lockdown measures, 
which certainly had an impact on our 
financial performance. Our loan book 
showed a more modest increase than 
we set out to achieve before the 
pandemic struck and, as might be 
expected, this translates to a more 
modest increase in the number of 

units we were able to finance and  
entrepreneurs we were able to  
support. 

However, we are pleased with our 
commercial performance despite the 
challenges of the last financial. The 
fact that we have been able to post 
increases and a profit, however  
modest, illustrates that we have 

a robust business operating in a 
remarkably resilient market. In 
particular, our clients and employees 
have demonstrated the power of our 
community to support our entre-
preneurs and their tenants through 
tough times. This is demonstrated 
in the improvement of our collection 
figures towards the end of the year. 

High increase due to the acquisition of 3 companies  
and the provsional accounting 

million
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2018

2021

2003 2009

2011

2013

2015

2017 2020
Founded in Braamfontein, 
Johannesburg

• TUHF Non-Profit 
Company converted to 
private company, TUHF 
Pty Limited 

• KwaZulu-Natal offices 
opened

• Eastern Cape offices 
opened 

• TUHF receives the 
Business Award in the 
Investing in the Future 
and Drivers of Change 
Awards

TUHF is awarded Mortgage 
Bank of the Year by the  
African Banker Awards

• TUHF Pty Limited  
converts to a public 
company, TUHF Limited 

• Western Cape and Free 
State offices opened

TUHF successfully lists a  
Domestic Medium Term 
Note on the Johannesburg 
Stock Exchange

TUHF successfully refinances 
its domestic medium-term 
note for a longer period and 
at a cheaper cost of funds

Successfully lists over- 
subscribed securitisation on 
Johannesburg Stock  
Exchange welcoming two 
new funders

COVID-19 and its impacts led 
to more modest growth than 
targeted.

R500 000 000

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

R1 000 000 000

R1 500 000 000

R2 000 000 000

R2 500 000 000

R3 000 000 000

R3 500 000 000

R4 000 000 000

18 years of growth:
Our loan book
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Why invest with TUHF

72%

18 
years

We assess risk holistically. This 
involves our specialised character- 
based lending approach, where 
we look at the person before the 
deal as part of our credit appraisal 
process.

A national footprint across 
South Africa with five 
branches operating in

Total 
arrears 

Total loans 
with arrears

11% 135
CTI

TUHF Holdings TUHF Holdings

Approach 
to risk

Sustainable 
growth

ROE

suburbs

Risk-weighted capital 
adequacy ratio of

25%

10.24%

1.53%

Our loan book 
has grown at an 
average of

year on year over the last 5 years

14%

We have a robust business  
operating in a remarkably  
resilient market

Our Sustainable Bond Framework 
was first published in November 
2020. The first social bonds were 
launched in 2021.
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Our Development Impact 
in numbers

current entrepreneurs
financed

total loans

male female

355 813

South Africa’s first 
Social Bonds

Entrepreneurial 
Growth

Access to Finance Jobs created

Client gender 
profile

Client racial profile

75 275
Asian

Coloured

Black

White

23

17
199

109

No. of Clients per RegionGeographic Growth 

Johannesburg

The Sustainable Bond Framework allows TUHF and its associated 
structured finance vehicles to issue green and sustainable social 
bonds that support its lending to qualifying projects and ensures 
that the relevant impact that TUHF has, such as providing funding 
in the affordable housing space and providing access to finance  
for small scale property entrepreneurs, is recognised. 

(incl. PTA)
since 2003

253
Bloemfontein

since 2015

11
Port Elizabeth

since 2011

38
Durban

since 2009

27
Cape Town
since 2015

26222 
permanent jobs

65

short-term jobs

157
created during 2021  
financial year
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Lazola Nyerere Kubukeli 
breathes new life into this 
rundown building

In March 2019, Kubukeli saw an 
advertisement on Property24 for a 
building at 266 Oxford Street in  
Belgravia, East London. He contacted 
an agent and went to view the  
property, put in an offer and was told 
that his offer had been accepted. 

Unfortunately, the agent never 
provided him with a signed offer to 
purchase, and a week later Kubukeli 
was told the property had been sold 
to someone else.

Having invested in a feasibility study, 
as the building was rundown and 
there were no building plans for  
the property, he was extremely  
disappointed. “I decided I wouldn’t 
look for another property for a 
while,” he says.

Then, in September of the same year, 
a new team of real estate agents  
presented Kubukeli with another 
property for consideration, but he 
still had his heart set on 266 Oxford 

“Ask questions and get advice  
from people who know a bit about 
the market and about property 
development, like TUHF. 

and told them so at the viewing. It 
turned out the property was back 
on the market, and Kubukeli sent in 
another offer of R6.8 million  
immediately – R400 000 less than 
his first offer. 

This time, the sale went through 
smoothly and on 26 March 2020 
the transfer of the property went 
through. “The Transfer came through 
on the day that hard lockdown was 
announced.” Kubukeli laughs,  

recognizing the irony. “Luckily, we 
had started doing some demolition 
work in January, as I had opted to 
pay occupational rent. 

“We had to delay the start of  
construction to June, which was  
extremely nerve-wracking. We started 
going at it hard when the construction 
sector reopened, because we had to 
make bond payments and because I 
wanted to catch up the lost time. 

“I was here personally until late at 
night to get the property completed.”

TUHF has been involved in the 
refurbishment of C.Z Kubs since 
inception of the project. “In 2018, I 
did SAPOA’s Property Development 
Programme at UCT and that’s where 
I found out about TUHF,” Kubukeli 
says. “At the time I was told they 
didn’t have a presence in the Eastern 
Cape, but when I started doing my 
research in January 2019, I found 
out they had an office in PE and I 
approached them.”

Working with his own architect, 
the original building at 266 Oxford 
– a four story mixed-use building 
consisting of 15 residential units and 
three retail spaces – was recon- 
figured and refurbished to comprise 
46 apartments and seven retail 
stores downstairs. C.Z Kubs offers 
two 3-bed units at R7 000 per month, 
eight 2-bed units at R5 500 per 
month and 36 1-bed bachelor studios 

at R3 900 per month. An old build-
ing at the back of the property was 
demolished to create parking.

The building had been home to the 
original building’s caretakers, and  
the elderly couple still resides at  
C.Z Kubs in one of the new studios at 
no charge. With practical completion 
achieved in October 2020, the  
building is now 100% tenanted, with 
four beautifully furnished units  
available for holidaymakers on 
Airbnb. 

All lighting in the building is energy 
saving LED, and Kubukeli intends to 
do further green conversions in the 
future. It is close to tourist attrac-
tions including the East London 
Museum, German Settlers Memorial, 
East London Aquarium and Nahoon 
Corner. 

C.Z Kubs also offers easy access to 
everyday amenities for its permanent 
residents, including a pharmacy, 

take-away food outlets, grocery 
stores and East London’s Boston City 
Campus. The ground floor’s reno- 
vation was crucial to the building’s 
success, so Kubukeli put additional 
effort into creating viable retail spaces 
here. At the moment, it contains a 
supermarket, nail bar, water purifi-
cation company and a fish and chips 
shop. 

Kubukeli’s advice to aspiring property 
entrepreneurs is very practical. “Look 
after your finances and especially 
your credit record,” he says. “Cars are 
not worth it, they just depreciate. 
You can get those cars effortlessly at 
a later stage. But as you start out, it’s 
better to use those funds as equity.”

He adds, “Ask questions and get 
advice from people who know a bit 
about the market and about  
property development, like TUHF. 
Your first deal can so easily be your 
last deal. Be informed before you 
take the plunge.”

Lazola Nyerere Kubukeli named this beautifully restored mixed-use  
development in East London after his late grandfather.  
Welcome to C.Z Kubs.

Lazola Nyerere Kubukeli crossing the road outside C.Z. Kubs



T UHF INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T UHF INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 202126 27

R11 776 479 total
investment

Intuthuko loan

TUHF loan

R2 494 276

R9 282 203

Configuration upon completion

current tenanted  
units

2 Three bedroom apartments, 8 two bedroom 
apartments, 36 bachelor with 4 apartments  
available for holidaymakers on AirBnB 

4 months

Turnaround time  
for full tenanting 

R3 900, R5 500 & R7 000
Rental value per unit

Green building 
features

LED energy saving globes

100%



T UHF INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T UHF INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 202128 29

TUHF Urban Finance RF Limited is a securitisation 
of mortgage loans originated by TUHF Limited. 
The issuer is an insolvency remote entity 
operating in accordance with the requirements 
and is administered by TUHF Limited. It has no 
employees of its own and is owned by TUHF 
Urban Finance Owner Trust.

The Vusulela Warehouse is a standalone 
bankruptcy remote entity established for 
the purposes of warehousing of residential 
and commercial property loans originated by 
TUHF. The assets funded by the warehouse 
facility will then exit into future securitisation 
programmes.

Urban Ubomi 1 (RF) Limited is the second 
securitisation of mortgage loans originated by 
TUHF Limited. This is the first exit for loans 
warehoused through the Vuselela Warehouse 
SPV. The entity is structured as an insolvency 
remote, ring-fenced special purpose entity 
which limits the risks arising from third-party 
creditors who are not bound by the Issuer’s 
Transaction Documents. 100% of the entity’s 
ordinary shares are held by the Urban Ubomi 1 
Issuer Owner Trust.

URBAN FINANCE (RF) LIMITED

VuselelaVuselela VUSELELA  
WAREHOUSE SPV  
(RF) PTY LTD

Group structure

1 RF LIMITED

URBAN
UBOMI

Group holding company 
exploring alternative 
developmental projects 
such as township  
affordable rental housing 
finance

TUHF21 NPC

TUHF Foundation is a  
public benefit organisation 
(PBO) with the purpose 
of creating sustainable 
neighbourhoods and quality 
housing environments.

TUHF 
F O U N D A T I O N

An Equity holding company

HOLDINGS LIMITED

TUHF Properties (Pty) Ltd purchases 
properties that become available for 
on-selling to entrepreneurs under  
deferred sale agreements

PROPERTIES (PTY) LTD

Finances sustainable 
and legal township- 
based rental housing 
businesses

Provides equity finance to previously 
disadvantaged individuals for first-time 
property investment

A security Special  
Purpose Vehicle (SPV)

MBS (PTY) LTD

Offers equity funding to existing 
property investors with competence, 
but lacking capital

EQUITY (PTY) LTD

Provides short-term bridging finance 
enabling senior debt finance from 
TUHF Limited

BRIDGE (PTY) LTD

Finances entrepreneurs to purchase, 
convert or refurbish buildings in inner 
cities. TUHF Limited is our main  
operating company

LIMITED

Shareholding information 
for TUHF Holdings:

Public Investment Corporation acting on behalf 
of the Government Employees Pension Fund

Future Growth Asset Management 
(Pty) Ltd on behalf of Old Mutual 
Life Assurance Company (South 
Africa) Limited 

TUHF Conditional Share Plan (CSP)  
and treasury shares 

TUHF Limited Treasury Shares

TUHF21 NPC

NHFC

32,85%

32,64%

14,32%

14,32%

2,51%

3,35%

EQUITY FUND (PTY) LTD
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City of 
Cape Town

Free State

Gauteng

KwaZulu-NatalEastern Cape

Western Cape

Nelson Mandela 
Metropolitan Municipality 
Gqeberha (formerly Port Elizabeth)

Mangaung Municipality 
Bloemfontein

City of eThekwini 
Durban

City of Tshwane 
Pretoria

City of Johannesburg Ekurhuleni Metropolitan 
Municipality 
East Rand

We are the largest lender in our inner-city market niche. We have a 
significant commercial and developmental impact through our five 
branches in all eight South African metros: Johannesburg, Tshwane, 
Ekurhuleni, Mangaung, eThekwini, Buffalo City, Nelson Mandela 
Bay and the City of Cape Town.

Since 2015

3 employees

473 units in servicing

R94 122 789,56 loan book

11 entrepreneurs assisted

Since 2009

7 employees

2 914 units in servicing

R614 725 677,7 loan book

27 entrepreneurs assisted

Since 2011

5 employees

1 605 units in servicing

R230 223 521,5 loan book

38 entrepreneurs assisted

Since 2011

6 employees

1 380 units in servicing

R390 355 235,7 loan book

26 entrepreneurs assisted

Johannesburg Pretoria

Since 2003

50 employees

19285 units in servicing

R2 576 655 667 

loan book

Since 2018

2 Employees

244 units in servicing

R69 318 619,24 loan book

253 entrepreneurs assisted

Our national 
footprint
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Financial Capital
What we do Our Product

Property finance

Human Capital

Intellectual Capital

Social and  
Relationship Capital

Inputs Activities Outputs

Su
pp

or
te

d 
by

C
om

pl
em

en
te

d 
by

The funds available to TUHF, 
including debt capital, equity 
funding and the reinvestment of 
retained income.

• Finance SMEs for inner city 
property investment

• Offer experience, knowledge 
and expertise on property 
entrepreneurship

• Connect entrepreneurs to 
our greater network of role 
players

• Induct, train and mentor 
starter and emerging 
entrepreneurs

• Offer value-added services 
such as events where 
industry experts share  
industry and market related 
trends and information on 
challenges close to inner 
city property entrepre-
neurship

• A single mortgage  
loan facility over  
15 years for acquisition  
and development

• Prime-linked interest 
rate

• Once-off raising fee
• No monthly service fees
• Financial structuring 

such as grace periods 
to accommodate the 
property development 
and tenanting stages

Mortgage bond finance for 
mixed-use developments of 
which the largest component 
should be residential.

This fund provides the balance between entrepreneurs’ 
equity contributions and the minimum requirement 
for property finance from TUHF. 

Only available to previously disadvantaged clients for 
realising first-time property investment opportunities.

Using their title deed as security, township property 
owners obtain mortgage loans to build rental rooms 
on their property with access to proper ablution 
facilities.

Vuselela is an important building block of our  
funding architecture. This brand was created as  
part of Standard Bank’s R700m loan facility in 2020.

Equity funding is offered to existing property 
investors with competence, passion and drive but 
lacking in funding to take their property business to 
the next level in exchange for an equity stake in their 
business.

Our team, including professionals 
who specialise in unearthing 
inner-city potential in areas,  
buildings and people.

We are street smart and know our 
market niche well. Our character- 
based lending approach is supported 
by a robust LCMS. This process is 
customised to our market niche and 
specialisation supported by our IT 
systems.

Our strong and interdependent  
relationships with role players 
across our stakeholder Groups 
such as ASISA, HSOB, JPOMA, 
JICBP, NASHO and National  
Treasury’s Jobs Fund.

EQUITY (PTY) LTD

VuselelaVuselela VUSELELA  
WAREHOUSE SPV  
(RF) PTY LTD

Business model



T UHF INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T UHF INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 202134 35

TUHF21: Agility for  
business resilience

TUHF21 builds on the proud 18-year heritage 
of the TUHF Group.

The TUHF Group of companies is excited to announce 
the launch of TUHF21 as a “separate but connected” 
operation from the Group. The objective is to enable 
TUHF21 to explore other markets more rapidly, partic-
ularly in townships, while growing its existing product 
portfolio and developing innovative new ones. It will 
remain connected to the overarching TUHF ethos of 
ensuring that access to finance for property entrepre-
neurs is optimised; urban regeneration, densification and 
management is scaled; and that training and mentorship 
of clients continues. TUHF21 will also manage all the 
Group’s Corporate Social Investment (CSI) activities, 
which are an important focus for the group. 

Essentially, TUHF21 will focus on three pillars to harness 
fresh opportunities:
• Managing and growing its Intuthuko, uMaStandi, and 

other products. 
• Developing new solutions based on relevant and 

practical research.
• Providing impact tracking and reporting services 

for the Group to ensure the development impact 
activities continue in a financially sound and highly 
governed manner.

“As a non-profit organisation, TUHF21 remains proudly 
not for loss. Financial sustainability will be at the core of 
our future operations. It will receive an injection of  
capital through the sale of a portion of our shares in 
TUHF Holdings and will continue to accrue dividend 
income from its remaining shareholding. As a founding 
shareholder and incubator of the well-known TUHF 
Limited brand, which operates in inner-cities and has 

a successful 18-year track record, TUHF21 now wants 
TUHF Limited to go into the world on its own and to free 
up TUHF21 to focus on its newer products. To this end, 
TUHF21 can now attract new stakeholders and grow its 
recently developed uMaStandi sub-brand in township 
markets, among other exciting products and programmes 
in its stable,” says Lusanda Netshitenzhe, CEO at TUHF21.

This will see the uMaStandi core lending programme 
driving aggressive targets to reach profitability, and all 
other programmes will be managed on, at minimum, a 
cost-plus-margin basis. The research, development and 
innovation work will be performed in a focused manner 
with clear lines of funding to each result area to ensure 
that applied research becomes the driver of any new 
products that will be brought to market. 

Changing lives
It comes down to making an inclusive impact and  
affecting real change to people’s lives. The inner cities 
and townships are not easy markets. But it is in this 
challenging environment where TUHF21 wants to make 
meaningful and sustainable impact.

“We want to be able to scale uMaStandi in markets where 
we see opportunity, and really focus on the development 
work needed in the country. TUHF Limited will still be 
assisting us with some of the infrastructure, technology, 
and policies we built up over the years to ensure that 
TUHF21 is able to leverage on this long track record,” 
adds Netshitenzhe. 

With a philosophy of creating impact through collabo-
ration and innovation, TUHF21 will build, develop, and 
incubate financial services solutions that serve urban 
development needs. And, while each TUHF company will 

““The central mandate 
driving TUHF21 will be 
to incubate businesses 
through its subsidiary 
companies.”

have its own focus areas, they will be collaborating with 
TUHF21 to drive a more sustainable and resilient urban 
development agenda that goes beyond the traditional 
inner-city focus of the Group to include South Africa’s 
townships.

Urban renewal and management
In many respects, TUHF21 will be the ‘insider/outsider’ to 
TUHF Limited. It will optimise the urban renewal efforts 
of TUHF Limited and assist it to better manage contri- 
butions to urban management, regeneration, and  
collaboration with communities and local government.

“It is about providing honest input on the regeneration 
efforts and identify ways to improve on our past efforts. 
The benefit is now that we are on the outside looking in, 
we can better see the gaps that exist and look to enhance 
and advance the work being done,” says Netshitenzhe.
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TUHF supports  
the UCPASA

For over 50 years, the United Cerebral Palsy 
Association of South Africa (UCPASA) has 
cared for the needs of Cerebral Palsy patients 
in Gauteng, and beyond. The organisation’s 
reputation as a caring, efficient and  
professional institution is irrefutable.

The UCPASA has clearly defined objectives, and the  
residents in their care are their foremost and only  
concern. Unfortunately, the organisation was significantly 
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic as no one who 
wasn’t employed by the Home could enter the premises 
during Lockdown. 

Funders and volunteers were unable to visit the home, 
putting enormous pressure on the small team of  
employees to care for residents. To make matters worse, 
many long-time supporters had to stop their donations 
– individuals and companies – as they came under their 
own economic pressure resulting from the pandemic. 

“We were able to visit the UCPASA premises before Level 
5 lockdown was implemented, and it was heart-breaking 
to see the organisation working so hard to provide the 
degree of care their wards require despite their economic 
challenges,” says Katherine Cox, Research, Development 
& Innovation Manager at TUHF. “It was clear that, if 
the UCPASA could not take care of those children, their 
situation would be dire indeed. It was also plainly evident 

that the different ‘facets’ of the charitable association – 
all of which rely on charitable donations for funding – are 
many and varied, and we simply had to offer our support,” 
Katherine adds.

TUHF donated towards the UCPASA’s sensory room  
refurbishment. “The refurbishment of the children’s 
sensory room and residential block closely aligned with 
TUHF’s CSI Policy,” Cox says. 

“The UCPASA also occupies and maintains a significant 
land parcel towards the south of Turffontein, which is an 
area TUHF currently invests in, and which has potential 
for increased affordable residential development and 
investment. The land is used for the children and is  
maintained to a high standard.”

“...The different ‘facets’ of 
the charitable association 
... are many and varied, 
and we simply had to  
offer our support.” 

Expanding market
The planned main product line of TUHF21, uMaStandi, 
will continue to target entrepreneurs and resident land-
lords who provide affordable rental housing in the town-
ships. It uses the property as equity to fund a rental  
enterprise where the owner or entrepreneur gets the 
peace of mind that construction on the property to 
increase its revenue potential will be professionally 
designed and built according to the required planning 
permissions.

TUHF21 will seek to further grow and commercialise this 
innovative initiative that builds on the pillars of all TUHF 
funding initiatives; such as ensuring that the product is 
scalable and able to grow rapidly, and that the product 
is replicable so it can be launched in all major townships 
across the country, sustainably. 

Another product TUHF21 will drive is the Intuthuko  
Equity Fund (IEF). Established in 2004, this is a unique  
inner-city property finance initiative supporting previously 
disadvantaged individuals who want to enter the property 
 investment market but face equity and/or deposit  
constraints in accessing the finance required to do so.

Netshitenzhe states that the IEF uses individual TUHF 
Portfolio Managers to provide extensive learning support 
for the entrepreneurs it funds. “They are training them 
in the areas where they might lack sufficient knowledge. 
And if more specialised skills are required, Portfolio 
Managers match those needs with the relevant external 
training and mentorship stakeholders. It is all about 
giving the hands-on training necessary to empower IEF 
clients with the means to get the most value from their 
property investments.”

“The central mandate driving TUHF21 will be to  
incubate businesses through its subsidiary companies like 
uMaStandi and IEF, rather than having direct contact with 
entrepreneurs. Its main objective is to ensure that the 
financial solutions developed have business continuity 
and are sustainable while always looking for new and 
innovative ways to provide real development impact,” 
concludes Netshitenzhe.

““It is about providing 
honest input on the 
regeneration efforts 
and identify ways to 
improve on our past 
efforts.”
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Our people:  
In this together!

Our  
Values

Our  
Culture

Looking beneath the 
surface to see what’s 
real

A healthy disregard 
for limitation

Authentic, enduring  
relationships

The tenacity to keep  
going and going and 
going

Simple, nimble, can- 
do attitude and 
down to earth

Authentically engaged, 
good listeners and 
personable

Recognising potential 
and problems,  
pragmatic solutions

Commercial know-
how, market savvy

Get it done, great 
lender – better partner

Grit

Straight- 
forward

Approachable

Street
Smart

High  
performance

Discerning

Human  
Connections

Enquiring 
Mind

Ground-
breakers

Gauteng 49

Free State 3

KwaZulu-Natal 8

Eastern Cape 5

Western Cape 7

Our people are the heart and 
soul of TUHF’s brand. 

Gender
breakdown

Age
breakdown

26 male

46 female

TUHF  
offices

Race
breakdown

Their grit, authenticity, curiosity and 
street-smarts enable business  
decisions that are discerning and  
projects that are ground-breaking.

Indian

WhiteAfrican

Coloured

8

1442

7

35 years< 35 years

43% 57%
> 35 years
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We are
entrepreneurs

The way  
we connect  
and build  
relationships

Our unique  
ability to spot
potential

Our specialist 
and unparalleled 
knowledge of the 
city

“

“
“

““

“

“
“

As the first touch point for potential new clients at 
TUHF, I do my best to explain the basics of rentals 
and guide them on what we look for in a viable 

project, should that be needed. I also explain why we 
provide funding in certain areas and use my inner-city 
knowledge to explain inner-city regeneration and how  
affordable housing plays a role in uplifting the areas 
around the city.

For me, demonstrating our specialist knowledge lies in 
the daily phone calls and emails I respond to – speaking 
to people of all backgrounds and especially those who 
might not have had many opportunities in life and are 
often overlooked by other lenders. These interactions are 
my ‘impact through scale’ – I get to assist people that 
have the drive and tenacity to realise their dreams by 
sharing my knowledge of the inner-city and our feasibility 
requirements. Being able to help an individual understand 
the market a little better or suggesting a different area in 

Tarryn-Lee van Wyk - 
Operations Administrator, 
Johannesburg

Riëtte Labuschagne - 
Credit Analyst:  
Bloemfontein

Sanet Badenhorst -  
Operations Administrator, 
Cape Town

This means we can take a building no-one sees any 
value in and turn it into a beautiful, affordable living 
space. It’s about creating safe living and working 

spaces around the city, where others see nothing but 
decline. My favourite example of this pillar is 29 Syringa 
Avenue. The client applied for a purchase pulse deal. She 
wanted to supply accommodation. The building had some 
fixing up to do, but we saw the potential in her plans and 
linked her up with some good contractors that we had 
worked with before to assist her with the refurbishment 
work that needed to be done. 

We helped our client to achieve her long-standing dream 
to become a property entrepreneur in a predominately 
male environment, and she has proven to have what it 
takes. She’s been consistent and reliable and takes her 
commitment to TUHF very seriously. Being a part of her 

growth from a first-time property owner to a successful 
property entrepreneur makes me believe in everything 
that TUHF stands for.” Taryn-Lee van Wyk, Operations 
Administrator

Human connections is one of our values and we 
are proud to be a networked, respected and 
reliable partner to various people, bodies and 

organisations. We walk right beside our clients through 
their property investment journey. With the arrival of 
the pandemic in March 2020, networking has changed 
entirely. We all had to adapt quickly to using technology 
like Microsoft Teams and Pexip to make connections and 
nurture relationships from behind a screen. 

But even though we had to change the way we do things, 
we still touch base with the majority of our clients at 
least every two weeks. We make sure to call from time to 
time to find out if everyone is still ok and if there is  
anything we need to be aware of relating to property 
issues. Knowing how our clients are managing does 
wonders when the time comes to have a more serious 
discussion. This also helps us to manage our client’s  
expectations effectively and proactively, and to assist 
them in identifying red flags and – more importantly – 

opportunities, which promotes TUHF’s loan book health. 

Now that lockdown has lifted and we’re able to meet 
up face-to-face, we try to attend entrepreneur’s events 
whenever there is one to show our support. And we enjoy 
doing it together as a team.” – Riette Labuschange, Credit 
Analyst, Bloemfontein Office.

and around Cape Town CBD that could suit their needs 
often gives them hope that, even if they don’t meet the 
funding requirements at that moment, they should fight 
for it and keep pursuing their dream because we will be 
here when they are ready.” – Sanet Badenhorst,  
Operations Administrator

Our unique 
ability spot 
potential

The way  
we connect 
and build  
relationships

Our  
specialist and 
unparalleled 
knowledge of 
the city

Both emerging and seasoned entrepreneurs face 
many challenges daily. For me, this pillar talks to 
our unwavering pledge to seek to understand the 

challenges facing our clients so that we can formulate 
solutions that afford them the financial support and 
space they need to focus on growing their businesses. 
 
For example, in February 2021, we concluded a credit 
approval for Chiltern Court. The property was referred 
to TUHF by a security guard working for a company 
that was hired to secure the dilapidated building at the 
beginning of March 2020. We acted swiftly, asking the 
security guard to facilitate a meeting with the building 
owner through the security company. The meeting took 
place within a week. Initially, the owner wasn’t open to 
selling the building, but a seed was planted. Less than 
three months later the building owner contacted TUHF 
to say he was ready to sell if we could introduce him to a 
potential buyer who would present a worthwhile offer.

As luck would have it, we had been constantly interacting 
with our clients – keeping abreast of their COVID-19 
induced challenges and immediate priorities – and one 
of them was in the market for a viable acquisition. The 

dilapidated building was a perfect fit with his existing 
portfolio and, after following the due diligence process, 
an offer to purchase was signed in July 2020. 

Due to the seller’s urgency to finalise the deal, the client 
opted to settle in cash and pursue funding subsequently 
to date of transfer. TUHF’s approval of funding for the 
deal personifies our unwavering pledge to our clients to 
execute on our brand promise ‘We are Entrepreneurs’.” – 
Bonga Xulu, Regional Manager: Gauteng, Johannesburg

Bonga Xulu - Regional 
Manager: Gauteng, 
Johannesburg

We are
entrepreneurs

Our commercial resilience in the face of adversity, such as 
the COVID-19 pandemic, stems from four pillars that drive 
our business forward.
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From vacant plot to  
thriving community at 
Nhlulo Maison

“I saw the auction sign on the vacant 
lot on my way home from church one 
day. So, I took a chance and went 
to the auction, buying the land with 
a bond from one of the four major 
South African banks,” RM says.

“My wife and I were both employed 
full time, but we knew we wanted to 
develop the property to generate  
income and service the bond,” he 
says. Unfortunately, the couple 
weren’t able to secure a building 
loan, and had to resort to personal 
loans and credit cards to start  
building. 

“It was a good thing to take a stab 
– I think the fact that there was 
development happening on the 
property showed TUHF that this was 
a worthwhile project to fund – but 
that personal debt was very painful 
to carry.”

While looking for ways to ease their 
debt burden and finish the  

“My wife and I started from scratch 
and it’s great to see what we’ve 
managed to achieve on a vacant 
lot.

development, RM approached TUHF 
with rough calculations of what it 
would cost to complete his vision. 
TUHF did a site visit and a feasibility 
study, then assisted to complete the 
documentation needed to apply for 
loan finance. 

“We were about halfway at that 
stage,” RM says, “but couldn’t finish 
the project and could only service the 
existing loans through our personal 
salaries.  

“TUHF approved our application in 
2017.”

Work to finish the build started in 
2018, and by November 2020 eight 
brand new, 2-bedroom units, with 
carports, were ready for occupation. 
The ground floor units were put on 
the market at R6 000 per month,  
and top floor units at R5 800. By 
January 2021, Nhlulo Maison was 
fully tenanted.

“Working with Mahlatse was very 
informative. He helped me every 
step of the way and taught me a lot I 
didn’t know, such as the importance 
of involving a quantity surveyor in 
developing the project cost estimates,” 
RM says.

RM also completed the TUHF  
Programme For Property Entrepre-
neurship (TPPE) and appreciated  
having Henry Chitsulo from Bold 
Moves as his mentor. “We did a 
practical exercise as part of the 
course, where we visited a building in 
downtown Jozi to do the calculations 
for refurbishing it, and it was a real 
eye-opening experience, and inspiring,” 
RM says. “I almost wanted to tackle 
that building on my own!”

The original loan from TUHF was for 
R1.9 million. Though the first tenant 
had signed up in May 2019 – a 
promising sign for quick return on 
the investment – South Africa’s hard 
lockdown did create some challenges 

for RM both in terms of signing up 
tenants and in terms of keeping 
up to date with payments to the 
contractor. “I got a lot of support 
from Mahlatse at TUHF, though. 
For example, during the lockdown 
Mahlatse assisted on a call with the 
contractor to come to agreement on 
when funds would be available to 
pay the account, which allowed us to 
continue and complete the build.”

“It’s so amazing. Every time I visit 
Nhlulo I love what I see. My wife 
and I started from scratch and it’s 
great to see what we’ve managed to 
achieve on a vacant lot. The tenants 
have also formed a close community 
where the kids all know each other.” 

Nhlulo Maison is close to Birchleigh 
Primary and High School, a park  
with a jungle gym, and a shopping 
complex which makes it ideal  
residential space for young families. 
It’s also near Glen Marias’ developing 
business hub.

When asked for his advice to aspiring 
property entrepreneurs, RM says: 
“Understand the bill of quantities! 
For example, the original costing for 
this project didn’t include paving for 
the full area, so we had to approach 
TUHF to make up the short fall. But 
working with TUHF means that, as 
long as you do your homework  
properly, you don’t need to be fearful 
of the funding side. TUHF can help 
you to make it work.”

Our client, RM, bought a vacant piece of land in Birchleigh on auction in 
2016. Now, Nhlulo Maison – meaning The House of Triumph – is home to 
eight happy families.

Andrew Walker, CEO, SA Property Investor Network (Left) interviews Mahlatse Kekana, Junior Portfolio Manager,  
TUHF (Right) at Nhlulo Maison

“The tenants have 
formed a close 
community, 
where the kids all 
know each other.
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R2 494 276   total
investment

Intuthuko loan

TUHF loan

R792 102

R1 702 174

Configuration upon completion

current tenanted  
units

two-bedroom
units8

3 months

Turnaround time  
for full tenanting 

R5 800 to R6 000

Rental value per unit

Green building 
features

LED lighting Solar geyser panels

100%
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In it together:  
uMaStandi supports  
clients through lockdown

Athi Mathinise, whose second 
uMaStandi-funded development was 
60% complete when the lockdown 
was announced, says: “I was starting 
to do marketing to get tenants in for 
occupation by 1 July 2020 when the 
announcement was made, and of 
course everything came to a sudden 
stop.”

“It was really difficult. First, the  
contractors couldn’t come on to the 
site to keep building. Then, there 
were delays in getting building  
supplies because both imports and 
local manufacturing were stopped. 
This also affected the prices as every-
thing became very expensive. And, 
on top of all that, we had a lot of 
materials being stolen from the site 
because no one was allowed to be 
there to keep it secure. 

“I also paid my contractor in advance 
when we heard lockdown was likely, 
thinking that I could help to keep 
him and his employees paid over the 

“
“

“Nomfundo offered great support 
in finding cheaper contractors and 
materials and came with me to site 
visits to inspect the work and make 
sure everything was on track and to 
the right standard.”

“Importantly they helped me to stay  
motivated. There was a time I felt like I had 
made mistakes and had to give up on the 
project, but the team at uMaStandi were 
very encouraging and helped me to keep  
going when I felt that way.”

period, and that shot me in the foot. 
When we were able to start building 
again the contractor no longer had 
the funds to continue with the project.” 

Athi found himself in an awkward 
position, to say the least, and took 
a personal loan to start buying the 
materials and finishings that were 
needed to complete the build, such 
as doors and toilets. But the loan’s 
interest rate was extremely high, and 
it added a lot of stress to an already 
challenging situation.

He then spoke to his portfolio man-
ager at uMaStandi, who jumped into 
action immediately. “Nomfundo  
offered great support in finding 
cheaper contractors and materials 
and came with me to site visits to  
inspect the work and make sure 
everything was on track and to 
the right standard. uMaStandi also 
helped me to safeguard the materials 
on site,” Athi says.

“But,” he continues, “even more 
importantly they helped me to stay 

motivated. There was a time I felt 
like I had made mistakes and had to 
give up on the project, but the team 
at uMaStandi were very encouraging 
and helped me to keep going when I 
felt that way.”

Athi’s other, smaller property is 
also funded by uMaStandi, and was 
also affected by the hard lockdown. 
“Most of the tenants in that property 
were employed in hospitality, and 
of course that was one of the worst 
affected industries at the time. 
So, when they lost their jobs they 
couldn’t pay rent and I knew I had to 
do something to help them through 
such a tough time,” he says.

“How you treat tenants is very  
important. I worked with each of 
them to make a plan to pay what 
they could until they were back on 
their feet and uMaStandi supported 
that by renegotiating my loan pay-
ment terms as well, so that I could 
help them,” he concludes.

Both Athi’s properties have  
recovered well – they are fully  
tenanted and collecting rent so that 
his repayments are also back on 
track.

The property market in South Africa took an enormous knock when  
President Ramaphosa implemented a hard lockdown to slow the spread 
of COVID-19 in March 2020. Property entrepreneurs working with  
uMaStandi in townships around the country were not immune to the 
impact. But, with uMaStandi’s personal and hands-on support many were 
able to weather the storm. Two of our clients share their experience.

Athi Matinise, Property Entrepreneur of Brahms Court, Cape Town
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Shumani Pharamela, another uMaStandi client, had just 
started building on his first project in Protea Glen, Soweto, 
when the lockdown was announced. All the Quantity  
Surveying and costing had been done, but the price 
increases in materials due to the lockdown threw all that 
work off course. “Prices increased by 10-15% on most of 
the materials we needed, and steel went up by as much 
as 30%,” he says. “So, we had to replan everything.”

Shumani says the uMaStandi team and his contractors 
were very proactive, working with him every day to 
look for opportunities to cut back or renegotiate prices. 
“Because we buy a lot of materials from local hardware 
stores and wholesalers, who either couldn’t get stock or 
had to increase their prices too much to come close to 
our budget, we were forced to go to the manufacturers 
for some materials to try to offset the increases,” he says.

“uMastandi extended my grace period by a few months 
to accommodate the delay in construction caused by the 
lockdown, and that really helped. 

“We also had delays in delivery of the materials when  
the manufacturers and suppliers started to come back  
to work, as bigger projects and contractors took  
precedence,” he continues. “This had a knock-on effect 
to getting the construction going after lockdown lifted. 
The uMaStandi team and the project managers were 
very helpful and proactive in terms of planning for this 
and mitigating against it. They proactively advised me to 
apply for an increase on my loan, for example, knowing 
that the cost of materials would remain higher than we 
had planned.

“We finally started building in June 2020 and the project 
is now complete and ready for tenanting,” Shumani 
concludes.

Both Athi and Shumani are extremely happy with the 
support they received from uMaStandi during such a 
difficult time, and are looking forward to expanding their 
property portfolios.

Shumani Pharamela, Property  
Entrepreneur of Lutendo Heights,  
Soweto
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Chief Financial Officer’s 
Report

Q: Following your review of the financial results, 
please share your view of the company’s financial 
standing at the end of FY21.
A: Our results were better than expected this year,  
especially in light of COVID-19 and its impacts, and 
that puts us in a very good position to talk to investors 
about moving the business forward as we come out of 
an extremely difficult period. The previous financial year 
end (March 2020) closed with enormous uncertainty as 
the pandemic had only just become global news, and 
that was reflected in the numbers as we were required to 
provide a stress factor to our expected losses. We had to 
do so, with no real idea then of how long the pandemic 
would remain a reality in the world, and that had an 
impact on collections that caused some of our covenants 
with funders to exceed their limits. This placed a lot of 
pressure on our financial results last year and our auditors 
had focused on this issue specifically as an emphasis of 
matter.

We were able to be much more proactive this year. We 
worked collaboratively with our investors on the issue of 
covenants, so that when breaches happened again as  
further lockdowns were implemented to curb waves two 
and then three of the pandemic, they were able to  
condone the breaches. Their support meant that we 
didn’t have another emphasis of matter in this year’s 
results.

The key areas of focus in this year’s audit were our  
performance relative to our contractual requirements, 
our provisions and our model adequacy. We brought a 
new team of auditors, Deloitte, on board this year, which 
is always challenging as they get to know us and the 
business. 

We also had to manage change in the business relating 
to a group of clients who, in the COVID climate, weren’t 
able to perform in terms of their loan commitments to 
us. We ultimately had to exercise our rights in terms of 
step-in and took over their entities. This was finalised in 
February 2021, and we still had to work through some of 
the details of what the impact would be. It turned out to 
be positive, though.

All in all, it certainly wasn’t a year of business as usual. 
As the first hard lockdown was announced right at the 
beginning of our new financial year, collection levels 
dropped to 50%. This was daunting for us and we did 
worry about how we would pay our funders. In the end 
we simply stayed close to investors, talking about the 
impact, and collaborating with them to find solutions. 
Just to be cautious we asked them for a grace period on 
principal repayments for 6 months of the year (April - 
September), which every one of our investors agreed to, 
and that was extremely encouraging.

From a credit perspective, we couldn’t consider new loans 
for a period, so it was really a year of figuring out how 
we could come through the period better, together. In 
terms of collaboration within the organisation and with 
stakeholders, this was a strong theme for us. As we come 
through this kind of event, it is a real testament to our 
relationships with funders and our innovative approach 
that we were able to perform as well as we did. We  
started seeing good recovery from around August.

We spent time setting the organisation up – from a 
funding perspective – to deal with whatever else might 
come our way, and we have put some good solutions in 
place. We were able to implement more sustainable ways 
to raise funds that we can on-lend to clients. Specifically, 

““As we come  
through this kind  
of event, it is a real  
testament to our  
relationships with 
funders and our  
innovative approach 
that we were able to 
perform as well as  
we did.”

we put a warehouse facility in place with Standard Bank 
that moves us towards more sustainable lending. The 
Standard Bank Facility was put in place in January 2020 
and our first listed structure, working with Standard 
Bank as arrangers, was concluded in March 2021. This is 
an excellent achievement given the difficult operating 
environment and enabled the Group to raise R609 million 
in this way. 

Normally our disbursements are around the R800 million 
mark, but because credit was closed and business activity 
in general was depressed in FY21 our disbursements were 
R311 million.  
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This, together with cost management, assured that our 
results were better than expected. The companies that 
we took over also contributed positively to our results.
This speaks to the debt side of our business, and we have 
also been working on the equity side. Our capital raise 
programme looks at our shareholders and the equity 
contribution they inject into the business. 

We’re aiming to grow the business going forward through 
this programme, and the positive results of our efforts on 
the debt side of the business bode well for success in this 
programme, too.

Q. What is TUHF’s outlook for the future?
A: It’s an exciting time for us to align further with our  
existing shareholders, and attract potential new  
investors, that share our passion for development in 
the inner-city market. We want to align ourselves with 
shareholders who support the business and who have a 
common understanding of what we’re trying to achieve. I 
think our results will support this going forward.

We also listed our securitisation structure under the  
sustainable bond framework on the JSE as part of the 
March issuance. The securitisation meets the social  
aspects of the sustainable bond framework, that aspires 
to both social and green impact. The social impact out-
lined in the framework is something we’ve been doing for 
as long as we have existed, and the green impact is very 
exciting for us and something we are making good  
progress on. The securitisation that we launched in 
March, and all the loans in that securitisation, met all the 
social aspects of the sustainable bond framework. It was 
the first issuance in the country that met these social 
criteria and the first to be launched on the JSE Sustain-
ability Index. 

Impact investing is drawing increasing attention and 
that’s very positive for us, because our impact is real. 
We’re putting a lot of effort into developing the ways we 
can meet the criteria in the greening side of the frame-
work, and developing ways to help our clients implement 
energy saving greening elements in their construction.  
Ultimately, we want them to benefit from the cost  
savings that they can then pass on to their tenants.

We are planning another issuance like this, under Urban 
Ubomi, later in the 2022 financial year that will again 
meet the social requirements of the sustainable bond 
framework. We’re aiming to raise another R500 million.

In light of our performance in FY21, I think we’re in an  
exciting time in our life cycle. We’re well positioned to 
grow our business in the markets we know well – inner 
city and townships, where we are most confident. We are 

also exploring what we call in-city markets – areas  
surrounding the inner cities – and their potential to  
diversify our income stream, and that’s also very exciting.

There’s still work to do, but we’re well-placed to grow the 
business with the funding structures we have put in place 
over a difficult period. We’re well-positioned to have  
productive conversations with funders and investors, 
even though we still have some work to do on meaningful 
covenants. We are making steady progress on these.

The financial architectures put in place as part of our robust 
platform for growth (the warehousing facility and the  
refinance risk it addresses being particularly note- 
worthy) are a key achievement for us. There are some 
other nuances, such as cash reserves we have put in place 
to prepare for the unexpected and cover a minimum of 
three months’ operating cost, now that we know the kind 
of impact something like a global pandemic can have on a 
business like ours. 

We’re also actively managing the maturity mismatch that 
is part of the nature of our business model and looking 
for more sustainable ways to ensure we have funding 
available to fund our loan pipeline and can settle debt 
maturities as they fall due from available cashflow.

““Impact investing is drawing  
increasing attention and that’s  
very positive for us, because  
our impact is real. ” 

““The securitisation 
that we launched  
in March, and all  
the loans in that  
securitisation, met all 
the social aspects of 
the sustainable bond 
framework. It was 
the first issuance in 
the country that met 
these social criteria 
and the first to be 
launched on the JSE 
Sustainability Index. ”
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2021 Corporate 
Governance Report

Introduction
The King IV Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa, 2016™ 
(King IV) defines corporate gover-
nance as the exercise of ethical and 
effective leadership towards the 
achievement of an ethical culture, 
good performance, effective control, 
and legitimacy as the outcomes of 
good governance. King IV is adopted 
on an apply-and-explain basis and 
practices underpinning the principles 
espoused in King IV are entrenched 

The Boards of the TUHF Group  
provide effective leadership and 
guide management in the strategic 
decisions that determine the future 
direction of the Group. The Boards 
are ultimately responsible for  
corporate governance within  
regulatory risk parameters. 

The Board is satisfied with its composition in terms of its mix of knowledge, skills, experience and diversity. There are 
eight directors, of whom three are Executive Directors and five are Non-Executive Directors.  The demographic targets 
for board composition are 50% black and 25% black female, which has been achieved over the prior reporting periods.

Our Boards of Directors

TUHF21 NPC

The group governance structure

in many of the Group’s Governance 
Frameworks, internal controls,  
policies, and procedures that govern 
its corporate conduct. 

TUHF embraces King IV in keeping 
with the commitments to good  
governance and broader stake- 
holder interests. The Boards accept 
responsibility for considering and 
applying the King IV principles and 
are satisfied that they have made 

They ensure sound governance to 
the benefit of long-term equity 
performance and shareholder value. 
Most importantly, the Boards are 
responsible for transparent and open 
reporting to stakeholders on the 
Group’s performance and how their 
responsibilities have been fulfilled. 

every effort to comply, in all material 
aspects, with these principles where 
applicable to the TUHF Group. 

The TUHF Group King IV Application 
Register is uploaded on the company’s 
website here.

They are expected to make efficient, 
objective and transparent decisions. 
To this end, they are supported by 
sub-committees, governance policies 
and internal governance codes. 

TM Adler
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz

KEY:
Independent Non-Executive
Non-Executive
Executive

C Coovadia

C Coovadia

IL Roodt
PGN Jackson
LN Netshitenzhe

IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

IL Roodt
PGN Jackson
NH Makwela
LN Netshitenzhe

IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

LN Netshitenzhe

TUHF21 NPC

PROPERTIES (PTY) LTD

TM Adler
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz

https://www.tuhf.co.za/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/King-IV-Application-Register-TUHF-Urban-Finance-RF-2021-Final.pdf
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Leadership
The Boards recognise that, through 
good governance, the Group realises 
an ethical culture, good performance, 
effective control, accountability and 
legitimacy. TUHF directors recognise 
the need to manage the group with  
integrity and to provide effective 
leadership based on an ethical  
foundation. This includes timely, 
relevant and meaningful reporting to 

shareholders and other stakeholders 
that provides an objective overview 
of the company and its activities. 

This directs the strategy and  
operations of the Group with the 
intention of building a sustainable 
business that creates value to all 
its stakeholders and considers the 
short- and long-term impact of this 
strategy. The Boards are responsi-

ble for the implementation of the 
Group’s corporate governance,  
which results in the Group being a 
responsible corporate citizen.

Ethics
Ethical practice is part of the system 
of governance within TUHF and 
there are rules for employees when 
performing their duties. TUHF’s 
reputation and brand are affected by 

Based on the strategic shareholder approach for the TUHF Holdings Board, the Board is satisfied with the composition 
in terms of its mix of knowledge, skills, experience and diversity. The Board has 11 directors, of whom two are Executive 
Directors, one is an Independent Non-Executive Director and the balance are Non-Executive Directors. Please refer to 
page 64 for the Board members of the TUHF Holdings Group and the TUHF21 Group.

TUHF Holdings Group Directors 

L Vutula  
TM Adler
JF Howard
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz
BL Mapongwana

KEY:
Independent Non-Executive
Non-Executive
Executive

TM Adler
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz
RR Emslie
IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

L Vutula  
TM Adler
JF Howard
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz
BL Mapongwana
RR Emslie
IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

L Vutula  
TM Adler
JF Howard
C Coovadia
SS Moraba
JK Mamatela
JS Strelitz
BL Mapongwana
RR Emslie
IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

C Coovadia
IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

HOLDINGS LIMITED

RR Emslie
IL Roodt
PGN Jackson

MBS (PTY) LTDBRIDGE (PTY) LTD LIMITED EQUITY (PTY) LTD

URBAN FINANCE (RF) LIMITED
VuselelaVuselela

VUSELELA WAREHOUSE SPV  
(RF) PTY LTD

what the Boards, management and 
employees do every single day. The 
Boards are, therefore, responsible 
for setting and steering the strategic 
direction and culture of the Group. 
They also hold management to  
account for ensuring the Group 
adheres to the highest standards of 
ethics and integrity. 

TUHF has a Code of Ethics and  
Business Conduct that is adhered 
to by all employees. The Social and 
Ethics Committee is responsible for 
monitoring the continued implemen- 
tation of this policy. The policy  
clarifies the Group’s mission, values, 
and principles, linking them with 
standards of professional conduct. 

Ethical behaviour at TUHF goes 
beyond just observing the law. It is 
about following the spirit and  
intention of the law and ultimately 
treating all our stakeholders and 
peers fairly and respectfully. All 
employees are expected to read, 

understand, and apply the Code of 
Ethics and Business Conduct policy. 
Anything less would impact TUHF’s 
reputation and damage its ability to 
do business.

TUHF has a Whistleblowing Policy 
that is overseen by the Audit and Risk 
Committee, which has an amplified 
role in assuring that whistleblowing 
procedures are in place. There is an 
independent Hotline, through TUHF’s 
 internal auditors, that provides a 
third-party anonymous and con-
fidential whistle-blower reporting 
service for potential fraud, ethical 
issues, and any other concerns. 

Responsible Corporate Citizenship
TUHF’s mission and values, strategy 
and conduct are consistent with it 
being a responsible corporate citizen 
in the commercial property finance 
environment. The strategy and 
operations of the group are intended 
to build a sustainable business that 

is considerate of the short- and long-
term impact on the economy, society 
and the environment. It is recognised 
that the group is an integral part of 
the communities in which it operates 
and, as such, it is committed to 
building sound relationships based 
on trust, honesty, value creation and 
fairness. 

The Boards are responsible for ensuring 
the company’s corporate citizenship 
on an ongoing basis and set the 
direction for how the achievement 
of this corporate citizenship is to 
be approached and addressed. They 
ensure that the company’s efforts in 
this regard follow all applicable laws, 
leading standards and its own codes 
of conduct and policies. 

The oversight and monitoring of 
the Group’s corporate citizenship is 
performed by the Social and Ethics 
Committee. 
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Governance 
Framework 
The Boards review and update the 
Group’s governance policies and  
procedures to adhere to King IV, the 
JSE Debt Listings Requirements, 
regulatory environment, and national 
best practice. They carefully consider 
all new non-statutory corporate 
governance concepts and implement 
those that are in the best interests 
of the Group and its stakeholders. 
TUHF maintains that governance 
requirements should enable, not 
detract, from the directors’ ability  
to carry out their statutory and  
fiduciary duties as well as their duties 
of care and skill.

The Governance Framework allows 
the Boards to keep effective control 
and stay accountable while delegating 
authority to Board committees and 
the CEO, along with clearly defined 
mandates and authority. The Group’s 
company secretary provides all 
corporate governance services to the 
Boards, and the Boards are satisfied 
with the effectiveness of their  
services.

The Boards are therefore satisfied 
that the delegation of authority 
framework contributes to role clarity 
and the effective exercise of authority 
and responsibilities.

DELEGATION FRAMEWORK 
The Boards of all entities within the 
TUHF Group delegate Group corp- 
orate governance functions, decisions, 
and applications to the TUHF21 and 
TUHF Holdings Group Boards. 

However, these Boards and the  
Memorandums of Incorporation 
(MOIs), Board Charter and  
Governance Framework will instruct 
TUHF’s directors, who will be  
required to safeguard the interests  
of the respective companies when  
executing the management  
agreements.

The TUHF Boards are committed to 
a high standard of responsibility, 
accountability, fairness and trans- 
parency. These four governance 
principles are fundamental to the 

The roles, functions, and responsibilities of the TUHF Group Boards can be summarised as:

During the year, the TUHF Holdings Board undertook strategic tasks, including:

During the year, the TUHF21 Board undertook strategic tasks, including:

• Setting the Group’s objectives, 
strategy, short-term and  
medium-term plans, and  
the monitoring of actual  
performance against budgeted 
and operational results

• Reviewing and approving the 
Annual Financial Statements, 
management accounts, interim 
reports, dividends, financial 
matters, and covenants

• Approving the annual strategic 
and business plans

• Setting and reviewing the 
Group’s risk appetite, funding 

• Overseeing the management 
of the impact of the COVID-19 
Pandemic on the business, its 
asset quality and liquidity risk 
and the implementation of 
strategies to ensure that TUHF 
remains a resilient business, 
including overseeing the 
seeking of shareholder support 
to protect the operations and 
TUHF’s brand

• Overseeing the Group’s growth 
objective with regards to the 

• Developing the transition plan 
for TUHF21’s separation from 
TUHF Holdings, which inter 
alia includes funding, strategic 
focus, Group structure and 

requirements and liquidity 
status

• Appointing and succession  
planning of the CEO and  
Executive Directors

• Delegating authority to the 
CEO and Board committee 
mandates and authorities, as 
well as annual review thereof

• Regularly reviewing Group  
policies and procedures

• Maintaining effective internal 
systems of control, including  
IT management

• Overseeing the external  

COVID19 environment, as the 
implementation of the Project 
Management Office (PMO) was 
finalised and the Board was 
satisfied with the implementa-
tion of the three architectures, 
namely the Information and 
Technology, Funding and  
Business architectures 

• Monitoring the impact of 
funder covenants during the 
COVID-19 period and proactive 
management thereof

employees, and which was 
implemented in April 2021

• Reviewing and agreeing on  
the strategic objectives of 
TUHF21 and its subsidiaries. 

reports, stakeholder  
communication and appropriate 
 action to resolve issues

• Assessing and implementing  
a suitable and cost-effective  
risk-based internal audit and 
risk mitigation strategy

• Setting the corporate  
governance philosophy and 
continuing compliance with 
laws and regulations

• Assessing the performance of 
the Board, its committees and 
its members.

• Promoting the Group’s  
development objectives of 
improving livelihoods,  
providing rental housing for 
low- to moderate-income  
earners, funding entrepreneurs 
and small businesses, and  
urban land reform.

smooth, effective and transparent 
operation of a company, as well as to 
sustainable growth for shareholders 
and stakeholders. The Companies 
Act, No. 71 of 2008 (Companies Act), 
as amended, and the Group policies 
and codes require directors to under- 
take certain duties carefully and 
skilfully. TUHF continuously devotes 
considerable time and resources to 
identify and implement best  
practices.

Delegation of Management of  
the Groups
As the focal point of the Group’s 
governance and operations, TUHF 
Ltd has entered into management 
agreements with all the entities in 
the TUHF Holdings and TUHF21 
Group companies. TUHF Ltd will  
provide management and admin- 
istrative services necessary, in- 
cidental and ancillary to satisfy the 
ongoing requirements of each of the 
companies concerned, including but 
not limited to secretarial, accounting, 
treasury, banking, administrative, 
corporate governance, social and 
ethics management, strategy  
planning and reporting, and statutory 
reporting services.

In providing management services, 
TUHF Ltd will:
• be subject to the MOI of the 

respective Group companies
• be subject to instruction from 

the Board of the company  
referred to and TUHF Ltd will  
be entitled to impose and  
implement any Board decisions

• remain responsible for the over-
all direction and control of the 
company referred to and

• provide any and all management 
services, including signing 
documents and taking actions 
incidental to the business of the 
company referred to.

The TUHF Group Boards are satisfied 
that the delegation of authority 
framework clarifies roles and  
responsibilities and improves  
disclosure on how authority and  
responsibilities are exercised 
throughout the Group. 

The Group Boards’ 
Structure
The Boards of the TUHF Group  
comprise both Executive and 
Non-Executive Directors, with the 
majority being Non-Executive  
Directors. 

TUHF Holdings, as a Group with a 
commercial focus and with entities 
that are debt listed with the JSE, has 
appointed an Independent Non- 
Executive Director to bring balance 
to the Board. 

The CEO and the CFO are members 
of the Board and serve as such for 
all the Group companies. There is no 
fixed-term service contract in place 
for the CEO and the CFO, and their 
tenures are subject to normal terms 
and conditions for employer/ 
employee relationships. The Board 
has approved a succession plan 
for Executive Directors and senior 
managers to improve employment 
contract continuity.

The Non-Executive Directors of 
TUHF Holdings, as a strategic  
shareholder-led company, are  
appointed by the shareholders for  
an indefinite appointment and a 
Director only ceases to be a Director 
under the circumstances provided for 
in the Companies Act or the MOI.

In terms of TUHF21’s MOI, one-third 
of its Non-Executive Directors retire 
by rotation at each annual general 
meeting (AGM). Retiring Directors 
may offer themselves for re-election.

A formally documented and  
approved Board Charter outlines the 
scope of authority, responsibilities, 
powers and functioning of the TUHF 
Boards. The Boards review the Charter 
periodically to keep it relevant and in 
line with governance best practice. 
The Governance Framework policy 
sets out the operating principles of 
directors and prescribed officers as 
well as Directors’ fiduciary conduct 
and probity.

The procedures for appointing and 
inducting new Directors are detailed 
in the TUHF Governance Framework 
and the Board Charter. 

The role, function, and powers of 
the Boards, TUHF 21 members, 
shareholders and committees, as 
well as their relationship with direct 
and indirect subsidiaries, are deter-
mined by law, the MOIs, third-party 
agreements, governance regulations, 
and best practice guidelines and 

policies. These include resolutions of 
the board and members, all of which 
are related to the decision-making 
power or control of the individual 
companies.

The Group’s Boards are assisted by a 
competent, suitably qualified and  
experienced outsourced Company 
Secretary who provides practical 
support and guidance to directors. 
In fulfilling their role as the focal 
point of corporate governance, the 

TUHF Boards (where applicable) 
and management ensure that the 
Group’s business is run effectively 
and efficiently, for the benefit of all 
stakeholders.
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LUTHANDO VUTULA*

Age: 49 years

Board responsibility:  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
27 July 2018

Length of Service:  
2 years 8 months

Education:  
Masters Degree in Development Finance 
(University of Stellenbosch); Bachelor 
of Business Administration (Hons) 
(University of Stellenbosch); Bachelor of 
Economics and Accounting (University 
of Botswana), Chartered Development 
Finance Analyst (CIDEF)

Expertise:  
Finance, property, housing, banking, 
Leadership

Experience: 21 years

TUHF Governance Structure

SAMSON MORABA^ MANDU MAMATELA^

ILONA ROODT^ JILL STRELITZ^

ROBERT EMSLIE* LUSANDA NETSHITENZHE*

TAFFY ADLER^

CAS COOVADIA^

BELINDA MAPONGWANAPAUL JACKSON^

JAMES HOWARD*

Age: 66 years

Board responsibility:  
Chairman

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
21 May 2003

Length of Service:  
18 years

Education:  
BCom (UNISA); PMD (Harvard  
Business School)

Expertise:  
Housing finance, corporate finance, 
banking, development

Experience: 40 years

Age: 54 years

Board responsibility:  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
21 November 2006

Length of Service:  
15 years

Education:  
Associate Accountant Technician 
International Executive Development 
Programme (IEDP) (University of the 
Witwatersrand Business School); MBA 
(North-West University,  
Potchefstroom)

Expertise:  
Strategic leadership, credit risk assess-
ment, project finance and financial  
management, organisational restructuring

Experience: 30 years

Age: 53 years

Board responsibility:  
Chief Financial Officer

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
1 December 2016

Length of Service:  
5 years

Education:  
CA(SA); HDipTax

Expertise:  
Property, financial management, risk
management, reporting, stakeholder 
relationships

Experience: 25 years

Age: 71 years

Board responsibility:  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
18 January 1993

Length of Service:  
18 years

Education:  
BBA (Hons) Sociology; MSc in Town and 
Regional Planning, Diploma in Financial 
Instruments, Executive Development  
Programme (run jointly by the University 
of the Witwatersrand and Harvard  
Business School)

Expertise:  
Housing, finance, social impact

Experience: 40 years

Age: 63 years

Board responsibility:  
Lead Independent Non-Executive
Director for the TUHF Holdings Group

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
1 August 2009

Length of Service:  
12 years

Education:  
CA(SA)

Expertise:  
Financial services sector, banking,
commercial and residential property 
industry, strategic leadership

Experience: 38 years

Age: 45 years

Board responsibility:  
Executive Director - TUHF21 Group

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
30 August 2018

Length of Service:  
3 years

Education:  
Master of Business Leadership (UNISA), 
Master of Science in Development  
Planning (Wits University), Higher  
Diploma in Development Planning  
(Wits University), Bachelor of Arts  
(Wits University)

Expertise:  
Housing, planning, social impact,
investment (ESG)

Experience: 17 years

Age: 71 years

Board responsibility:  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
17 May 2013

Length of Service:  
8 years

Education:  
BPhil African Studies; MSc Building  
Science (University of the  
Witwatersrand)

Expertise:  
National housing policy, housing,  
political and social activism, urban  
development and human settlements

Experience: 46 years

Age: 71 years

Board responsibility:  
Deputy Chairperson - TUHF21

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
18 January 1993

Length of Service:  
28 years

Education:  
BCom (University College, Durban);
Housing Finance Course (Wharton Real 
Estate Centre, University of Pennsylvania); 
Effective Directors Programme (Kagiso 
School of Leadership)

Expertise:  
Financial Services Charter, Basel III and 
similar regulations, lobbying, government 
interaction and broader stakeholder 
engagement, banking operations
Experience: 49 years

Age: 48 years

Board responsibility:  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
25 March 2020

Length of Service:  
1 year 7 months

Education:  
Master of Laws (LLM) in International 
Business Law  (Vrije University,  
Amsterdam), Bachelor of Social Sciences 
and LLB (University of Cape Town)

Expertise:  
Mergers and Acquisitions, Corporate 
Governance, Banking and Regulatory, 
Compliance and Risk, Corporate  
Commercial Law, Commercial Litigation

Experience: 15 years

Age: 61 years

Board responsibility:  
Chief Executive Officer

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
21 May 2003

Length of Service:  
18 years

Education:  
BSc Agricultural Economics (University 
of Natal); BSc (Hons) Agricultural  
Economics (University of Pretoria); 
Property Development Programme 
(University of Cape Town); Housing 
Finance Course (Wharton Real Estate 
Centre, University of Pennsylvania)

Expertise:  
Commercial property finance,  
development finance, housing,  
economics

Experience: 35 years

Age: 64 years

Board responsibility:  
Non-Executive Director

Appointed to TUHF Board:  
28 August 2012

Length of Service:  
9 years

Education:  
BCom (Stellenbosch University)

Expertise:  
Impact investment, private equity funds, 
property assets

Experience: 34 years

^ Directors of TUHF21 NPC, TUHF Holdings Limited and TUHF Limited Boards
* Directors of TUHF Holdings Limited and TUHF Limited Boards only

^ Directors of TUHF21 NPC, TUHF Holdings Limited and TUHF Limited Boards
* Directors of TUHF Holdings Limited and TUHF Limited Boards only
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The Chairperson of the Boards of 
TUHF Group
The Chairperson of the TUHF Holdings 
Group Boards is Mr. Samson Moraba, 
a Non-Executive Director. The Group 
Chairperson and Group CEO have 
distinct and separate roles with a 
clear division of responsibilities. 
The Chairperson and CEO’s roles 
and functions are formalised in the 
Board Charter. Although the Chair-
person is currently a Non-Executive 
Director, the TUHF Holdings Board 
has appointed a Lead Independent 
Non-Executive Director, Mr. Robert 
Emslie, to assist in bringing balance 
to the Board.

The Chairperson provides overall 
leadership to the Board and presides 
over Board meetings, AGMs, and 
general meetings to ensure they are 
productive. The Chairperson acts as 
the link between the Board and  
management, particularly between 
the Board and the CEO, and safe-
guards relations with the shareholders 
of TUHF Holdings.

The CEO
The CEO is an Executive Director of 
the companies in the Group and is 
accountable and responsible to all 
the Boards for implementing the 
strategies, objectives, and decisions 
within the delegated authorities, 
values and policies of the applicable 
Group companies. The CEO plays 
a critical role in the day-to-day 
business and is required to alert 
the Chairperson of all forthcoming 
complex, contentious and sensitive 
matters affecting the Group.

All the authority of the board has 
been delegated to the CEO with  
certain material exceptions. TUHF 
Holdings’ MOI contains protected 
matters that cannot be undertaken, 
engaged in, agreed to or performed 
by the Company or its subsidiaries 
unless Directors representing share-
holders who hold at least 75% of the 
issued share capital of TUHF Holdings 
have agreed to it in writing.

REMCO reviewed the CEO’s  
performance and rated it as “good 
and competent”.

The Board comprises of the following committees:

Roles and responsibilities
• Review Group accounting  

policies and practices and, when 
necessary, recommend changes

• Review Group financial,  
operational and internal  
control systems, including 
business rescue plans, and make 
recommendations to the board 
when required

• Review the implementation of  
IT structures, processes and 
mechanisms and indicate if it is 
satisfied that the IT strategy is  
integrated with the Group  
strategy and business process

• Ensure that risk assessments are 
formally documented

• Review the Group’s regulatory 
compliance and oversee the 

compliance risk management 
processes

• Monitor management’s compliance 
 with reporting best practices

• Oversee reporting by internal and 
external auditors (exceptions are 
noted) and ensure that the level 
of risk tolerance and appetite are 
set

• Evaluate, review, approve and 
recommend to the Boards the 
Annual Financial Statements  
and Integrated Annual Report

• Liaise with the Social and Ethics 
Committee on ethical matters. 

The Audit and Risk Committee Report 
is set out in page 74.

M
EM

BE
R

S RR. Emslie (Chairperson)
C. Coovadia
JK. Mamatela

By invitation:
P Jackson
I Roodt
External Auditors – Deloitte
Internal Auditors – KPMG

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

Directors’ access to information 
and resources
Directors have unrestricted access to 
Group management and Company 
information. For them to carry out 
their duties and responsibilities all 
Group resources are available to 
them, as is the advice of outsourced 
consultants at the Group’s expense 
as outlined in the Board Charter. 
Subject to the approved protocol the 
Board may engage, at the Group’s 
expense, any firm of accountants, 
lawyers or other professionals for 
independent counsel and advice on 
any review or investigation into the 
performance of their fiduciary duties.

Declaration of interests
In terms of the Companies Act,  
Directors are required to make a  
general declaration disclosing their 
outside interests. The declaration 
must be updated as and when any 
changes occur. The Company  
Secretary keeps a record of these 
declarations, which are tabled  
annually.

Board evaluation
The Social and Ethics Committee, 
assisted by the Company Secretary, 
evaluates the Boards every two years. 

An evaluation of the Boards was 
performed by the Company Secretary 
during the 2019 financial year and 
the following areas were identified as 
areas of improvement:
• Board structure and composition
• Ensuring that the Board has the 

right number of Directors
• Board evaluation processes and 

accountabilities
• Ensuring that the process for 

communication with shareholders 
is effective, together broader 
stakeholder engagement and 
feedback.

The Boards, with the oversight of  
the Social and Ethics Committee,  
has addressed these areas of  
improvement as follows:

Board composition and the right 
number of directors
The Board agreed that there was  
a need to consider having more  
independent directors on the Board 

and delegated the responsibility 
to REMCO to recommend ways in 
which Board composition can be 
improved. These recommendations 
will be implemented during the 2022 
financial year. Board composition 
will also the reviewed as part of the 
ongoing Capital Raise program that 
TUHF is undertaking.  

Board evaluation processes and 
accountabilities
The Social and Ethics Committee 
reviewed the process of Board  
evaluation and, in collaboration with 
the Company Secretary, developed a 
more focused framework that will be 
implemented during the next Board 
evaluation in the 2022 financial year.

Shareholder communication
In ensuring that the processes for 
communication with shareholders 
and broader stakeholder engagement 
and feedback is effective, the Social 
and Ethics Committee  undertook to 
monitor the implementation of the 
Stakeholder Engagement Policy that 
was approved by the Board in 2019. 
During the year, the Committee  
received reports from management 
on how TUHF engaged with the 
broader TUHF stakeholder groups 
and identified focus areas for each 
stakeholder group and how TUHF 
responded to those.

The Stakeholder Engagement Report 
is included as part of this Report in 
page 72.

Company Secretary
The Company Secretary’s role and 
functions are formalised in the Board 
Charter. Kilgetty Statutory Services 
(Proprietary) Limited, an independent 
secretarial practice company  
represented by Matthew Wray, is 
appointed as the Group’s Company 
Secretary.

The Company Secretary observes  
the Boards’ procedures, duties,  
responsibilities and statutory  
regulations. The Company Secretary 
guides members of the Boards on 
governance, compliance and their 
fiduciary responsibilities. All new and 
amended legislation and regulations 
that are relevant to the Group’s  
business will be provided to the 
members of the Boards at meetings 

or by circulars. Directors have un-
restricted access to the Company 
Secretary.

Board Sub-Committees
The Group has appointed Board 
committees with delegated functions 
to assist in discharging the Boards’ 
duties. The committees enhance  
the standards of governance and  
effectiveness within the Group. The 
Audit and Risk Committee is a  
statutory body, and the shareholders 
elect its members. The Boards 
appoint the members of the other 
committees. However, creating a 
committee does not absolve any 
Board of its overall responsibility  
and, accordingly, a Board decision  
(by majority vote) overrides any 
committee recommendations. 

Each committee has clear Board- 
approved terms of reference that sets 

out its purpose, functions and  
delegated authority. Each committee 
gives written or oral reports to the 
Boards on its activities and the 
minutes of its meetings. The Boards, 
assisted by the Audit and Risk and 
Social and Ethics Committees,  
annually review the activities and 
functions of the board committees. 

It is a responsibility of all the Board 
sub-committees to:
• Lead ethically and effectively
• Balance the interests of the 

Group and its various  
stakeholders

• Ensure that management best 
serves shareholders’ and  
stakeholders’ interests 

• Enact corporate governance 
within regulatory risk  
parameters

• Practice sound governance.
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REMUNERATION AND HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE (REMCO)

REMCO develops and implements 
fair remuneration policies that align 
with the Group’s strategy and long-
term interests consistently. The 
committee oversees remuneration 
and ensures that it is fair and  
responsible at all levels, and that 
it attracts, retains and motivates 
exceptional individuals.

The Committee must be satisfied 
that the Group’s HR policies,  
procedures and practices meet  
the principles of best practice,  
competitiveness, flexibility, creativity 
and innovation, and equity and 
fairness. 

Roles and responsibilities
• Enact policies that attract,  

develop and retain employees 
with specialised and critical skills

• Review employee earnings,  
including benefits, to maintain 
best practices and ensure com-
petitive remuneration packages

• Review, recommend and approve 
executives’ remuneration  
packages

• Approve the issue of the CSP as 
well as the vesting of its awards

• Review, recommend and approve 
salary and performance  
increments

• Review and recommend annual 
incentive bonuses

• Review, recommend and approve 
HR policies and procedures.

 
Due to the COVID-19 Pandemic and 
the prioritisation of other focus areas 
within the business, there were no 

The Boards guard the Group’s ethics 
and values. The Social and Ethics 
Committee, a statutory committee 
as provided for in the Companies 
Act, monitors the Group’s corporate 
citizenship status. King IV requires 
the Social and Ethics Committee to 
enhance the Group’s focus on  
corporate governance. 

Roles and responsibilities
• Monitor the Group’s activities 

concerning legislation, best 
practice, social and economic 
development, good corporate 
citizenship, environment, health, 

The function of the Jobs Fund  
Committee is to make debt capital 
available to entrepreneurs through 
grants received from the National 
Treasury to create permanent, short-
term and temporary jobs during  
both the construction/refurbishment 
and management phase of  
developments. The committee  
ensures all terms and conditions 
of the grants are adhered to and 
achieved.

The committee gives detailed reports 
on project closures to the National 
Treasury covering self-evaluation, 
project close-out audits and  
summative evaluation reports. 
Summative evaluation reports are 
independent assessments carried  
out immediately after a project is 
completed. The committee  
continually monitors the project’s 

Roles and responsibilities
• Identify and manage the Group’s 

credit exposure, as well as trends 
and responses affecting this 
exposure

• Review and recommend changes 
to the Group’s loan and credit 
policy, including the adequacy  
of allowances for credit losses

• Track and ensure policies and 
controls operate effectively

• Delegate to the Management 
Committee (MANCO) the  
authority to evaluate and  
approve financing and  
guarantees of projects within  
the established value band  
(below R10 million)

• Evaluate and approve financing 
and guarantees of projects  
within the established value 
band (above R10 million)

• Refer to, and request authori-
sation by, the Board for loan 
applications where there are risk 
tolerance concerns

LOANCO keeps abreast of  
developments relevant to the Group’s 
loan and credit policies, systems, 
procedures, loan applications and 
approvals, funding requirements and 
sources, and financial covenant 
requirements. It takes due con- 
sideration in evaluating the risks 
attached to commercial mortgage 

REMCO meetings held during the 
year.

Planned focus areas for REMCO are:
• Review and evaluate salary  

increase and bonus proposals 
in line with submissions made 
against industry standards for 
similar organisations

• Review all REMCO-related 
governance areas with the view 
of increasing its remuneration 
governance role.

Independent Consultants
The Committee engaged the services 
of Sally Blaine as an external HR 
consultant and expert to assist in all 
human resources-related matters.

The Remuneration Report is set out 
on Page 78.

public safety and stakeholders’ 
perceptions, and labour and 
employment

• Liaise with the Audit and Risk 
Committee on ethical matters

• Ensure compliance with legislation, 
regulation and governance codes, 
including King IV

• Report to the Boards and  
shareholders on any matters 
within its mandate. 

The Social and Ethics Committee 
Report is set out on page 76.

sustainability for two years after  
its completion.
 
Roles and responsibilities
• Oversee and act as a sounding 

board to TUHF’s CEO and  
management in respect of the 
National Treasury’s Jobs Fund 
grants

• Conduct post-monitoring  
assessments of the sustainability 
of permanent jobs created and 
small, medium and micro-sized 
enterprises (SMMEs) funded 
through the initial Jobs Fund 
grant for two years from April 
2018 to March 2020

• Oversee the Development  
Impact Unit’s (DIU) activities

• Measure outcomes and/or impact 
of energy efficiency/greening,  
entrepreneur growth, local  
economic development, fiscal  
impact, affordable housing  
provision and inner-city  
regeneration. 

The Jobs Fund Committee oversees 
the DIU, which develops specific  
economic and social outcomes. The 
DIU is neither a board nor  
management committee. It is an  

• Report approved projects to the 
Board.

The Boards guard the Group’s ethics 
and values. The Social and Ethics 
Committee, a statutory committee 
as provided for in the Companies 
Act, monitors the Group’s corporate 
citizenship status. King IV requires 
the Social and Ethics Committee to 
enhance the Group’s focus on  
corporate governance. 

Due to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic and associated lockdowns, 
there was low economic activity 
during the year. Credit decisions 
were suspended in March 2020 and 
opened again in October and  
LOANCO focused on:
• Monitoring TUHF’s collections, 

arrears and non-performing 
loans given the weaker economic 
situation

• Monitoring property values and 
continuing to discuss ways in 

and bridging loan applications, and 
whether the Group’s levels of risk 
tolerance and risk appetite are met. 
Where there are risk tolerance  
concerns related to commercial 
mortgage and bridging loan  
applications, the loan application  
will be referred to the Boards for 
authorisation.

which TUHF could safeguard its 
existing loan book

• Monitoring the restructuring 
TUHF clients’ debts and relief 
measures that were put in place 
by management for clients  
affected by the COVID-19.

In addition, LOANCO’s key focus 
areas and achievements in the year 
were:
• Review of TUHF’s Loan and 

Credit Policy
• Monitoring the Better Urban 

Living 2 and the Jeppestown  
Urban Trust portfolios, which 
were under litigation and reaching 
settlement agreements when 
TUHF bought the properties

• Monitoring the IFRS 9 expected 
credit loss provisions

• Approved seven loan proposals 
and total disbursements of  
R221 259 588, despite the close 
of credit.

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

LOAN COMMITTEE (LOANCO)

JOBS FUND COMMITTEE

operating division of TUHF. Due to 
its diverse responsibilities, the DIU is 
accountable to several Board and 
management committees, as well as 
to TUHF21 in relation to uMaStandi 
and the Intuthuko Equity Fund’s (IEF) 
operations and outputs. 

Key focus areas and achievements 
in the year:
• TUHF21 Group has created 222 

permanent and 575 short-term 
jobs through the National  
Treasury’s Jobs Fund programme 
in this financial year. From  
inception to date, TUHF21 has 
created 797 jobs. This is a com- 
bination of short-term and  
permanent jobs for IEF and  
uMaStandi

• TUHF21 Group has maintained  
a continued constructive  
relationship with National 
Treasury’s Jobs Fund Investment 
Committee

• TUHF21 Group facilitated two  
online iterations of the TPPE 
training programmes during 
2020/2021, with 70 participants 
completing the training and 
receiving certificates from the 
University of Cape Town. 
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External Consultant – Sally 
Blaine 
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Roles and responsibilities
• To proactively identify and review 

treasury risks and develop risk 
strategies to monitor and  
mitigate these risks. 

• Monitor maturity mismatch 
strategy

• Manage the liquidity and internal 
capital adequacy assessment 
processes

• Manage Internal funding and 
capital structure

Key focus areas and achievements 
in the year:
• Supported key activities  

necessitated by the COVID-19 
pandemic and its impact on the 
economy, namely: 
• monitored the high levels of 

arrears in relation to funder 
requirements

• monitored funder covenants 

and engaged proactively with 
funders during the year to 
condone covenants

• monitored liquidity risk and 
cash requirements due to 
reduced collections and  
resulting lower cashflows

• monitored funder facilities 
that were maturing during the 
year and the  negotiations for 
payment reliefs and interest- 
only payments

• managed liquidity support as 
requested from the share-
holders 

• Approved TUHF’s hedging strategy 
as part of interest rate risk 
management and approved the 
Hedging Policy

• Monitored the Urban Ubomi 1 
securitisation transaction, which 
was then listed and completed in 
March 2021

• Monitored the differences and 
enhancements between the  
two securitisations that TUHF  
has listed on the JSE to adopt  
enhancements for future  
securitisations and attract  
larger investors

• Received feedback from  
management on the  
implementation of the  
approved IFRS 9 model

ASSET AND LIABILITIES MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (ALCO)

• Monitored TUHF’s credit rating 
• Continued to manage significant 

treasury risks by using developed 
dashboards that cover funding 
cost, funding concentration, 
liquidity, maturity mismatch, 
capital/leverage and NIM targets

• Continued to develop the ALCO 
policy in light of the growth of 
the Group

• Monitored the Group’s going  
concern assumption and liquidity 
in light of the COVID-19 pandemic 
to ensure that the business is 
resilient and sustainable. 

During 2022, the Committee will 
focus on:
• Monitoring TUHF’s funding  

mismatch
• Managing TUHF’s asset quality
• Managing TUHF’s concentration 

risk
• Balance sheet restructure and
• Re-contracting covenants with 

funders.  

Independent Consultants
The Committee engaged the services 
of AJ Rothman a specialist consultant 
in Securitization and Facility  
Structuring.

Roles and responsibilities
• Oversee TUHF Equity
• Review and approve investments 

into joint ventures with inner-city 
residential entrepreneurs

• Review the performance of  
approved joint venture  
investments

• Identify significant risks  
confronting joint venture invest-
ments and develop, implement 
and monitor appropriate risk 

management reports
• Develop, implement and monitor 

a documented Investment  
Committee management policy 
and plan. 

Key focus areas and achievements 
in the year:
• Managed the portfolios collec-

tions and arrears as an impact of 
COVID-19

• Focused on problematic portfolios, 
 overseeing their performance as 
TUHF Equity (Pty) Ltd increased 
its ownership in most of these 
portfolios from 50% to 100% 
(which is material for the TUHF 
Group as a whole)

• Monitored the property  
management of these portfolios 

TUHF EQUITY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

with a view to improve occupancy 
and overall financial performance

• Monitored the risk reported  
for year-end in the accounts  
31 March 2021

• Decided to suspend approval of 
new investments and continue  
focusing on the existing portfolios, 
due to the non-performance of 
the properties in the portfolio

• Evaluated the resources required 
to ensure proper portfolio  
management and administration.

In 2022, the Committee will  
focus on:
• Ensuring that the investments 

reach a break-even position and 
are generating sufficient surpluses 
 to service their interests after 
all obligations and expenses and 
with no capital deterioration

• Getting the correct valuations  
of properties in the portfolio

• Ensuring proper portfolio  
management to achieve full  
occupancy of the properties, 
with a medium-term strategy 
of selling the properties where 
appropriate

• Dealing with issues relating to 
municipality arrears and getting 
the correct billing for the  
properties.
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Number of Meetings 1 2 1 1 7 7 7 6 3 5 1 4 2

Samson Moraba 1 2 1 7 7 N N N N X N N

Cas Coovadia 1 2 1 1 6 7 6 6 N 5 1 4 N

Jill Strelitz 1 2 1 N 7 7 N N 3 N N N 2

Mandu Mamatela 1 X 1 N 6 4 3 3 2 N N N N

Luthando Vutula 1 X N N 6 N 3 N N 3 N 2 N

Robert Emslie 1 N N 1 7 N 7 6 N 5 1 4 N

James Howard 1 N N N 7 N N N 3 N N N 2

Belinda Mapongwna 1 N N N 7 N N N N N N N N

Taffy Adler 1 2 1 1 6 7 N N N 5 N 4 N

Paul Jackson 1 2 1 1 7 7 7 6 N 5 1 4 2

Ilona Roodt 1 2 1 1 7 7 7 6 N 5 N 4 2

Board and committees meetings attendance report

KEY:
X   Did not attend
 -   Not a member

A minimum of six meetings are scheduled per year with additional  
ad hoc meetings as required.
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External Consultants
AJ Rothman
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Management committees
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (EXCO)
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S P Jackson 
 I Roodt 
L Netshitenzhe
B Cooke
S Govender
N Makwela
V Derrocks
R Jeffery
B Xulu
S Moodley
T Moseamedi 

EXCO is responsible for the day-
to-day activities of the Group and 
oversees various management 
committees. Committee members 
assist the CEO and CFO to develop 
and implement the board-approved 
strategies, operational plans, policies, 
procedures, and budgets, and to deal 
with all operational matters affecting 
the Group.

Roles and responsibilities
The Boards have delegated TUHF’s 
management to the CEO and other 
members of EXCO. EXCO, under 
the CEO’s leadership, is responsible 
for the Group’s overall management 
and, at a strategic level, its business. 
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The Risk Management Committee 
is a management sub-committee of 
the Audit and Risk Committee and is 
responsible for enterprise-wide risk 
management.

Roles and responsibilities
• Review risk management policy 

and processes
• Ensure risk management is  

integrated into business  
operations

• Ensure management considers 
and implements appropriate risk 
responses

Bi-weekly meetings are scheduled 
to:
• Assess and discuss key strategic 

business issues, including liquidity 
and stakeholder relationships

• Review the Group’s balanced 
scorecard and the implementation 
 of strategic issues

• Discuss progress on high-risk 
projects identified, including 
litigation matters

• Assess all operational aspects of 
projects, financing, development 
and implementation, including 
procedures for project preparation 
and approval

• Ensure compliance with legislation, 
regulation and governance codes, 
including King IV

• Discuss matters surrounding 
existing or required staff

• Evaluate the basis and adequacy 
of insurance cover

• Ensure internal audit is aligned 
with risk management processes

• Identify emerging areas of risks
• Ensure compliance with legislation, 

 regulation and governance codes, 
including King IV

• Identify areas of governance 
non-compliance and propose 
remedial action. 

Key focus areas and achievements 
in the year:
• Developed a new approach to risk 

management and drafted a Risk 
Management Framework that 
was recommended by the Audit 
and Risk Committee to the Board, 
and subsequently approved

• Continued to implement the new 
approach, which involves risk 
champions being responsible for 
risk identification and assessment 
within their areas of operation

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

• Discuss views and perceptions 
with funders and shareholders. 

Key focus areas and achievements 
in the year:
• Assessing and discussing key  

strategic business issues and 
stakeholder relationships

• Identifying requirements in 
respect of key strategic projects, 
with a focus on the funding  
architecture and overall liquidity 
for the organisation

• Monitoring collections, arrears 
and covenants – the loans with 
arrears covenant, and the  IFRS 
9 provisions – considering the 
economic environment and the 
impact of COVID-19 

• Monitoring client concessions 
and the support required by 

• Continued with the assessment, 
monitoring and management 
of risks covering general, credit, 
market, treasury and IT risk.

Planned areas of future focus 
include:
• Enhancing the Risk Management 

Framework and top-down  
methodologies

• Automating the risk management 
system and training the champions

• Embedding risk management 
within the business and developing 
an enhanced risk management 
culture

• Monitoring and reporting on any 
reportable incidents arising from 
the KPMG Hotline 

• POPIA compliance and  
development of a POPIA  
Compliance Framework.
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S I Roodt (Chairperson)
B Cooke
K Chikomo
S Govender
P Jackson
R Jeffery
L Dube
T Moseamedi

LOANCO establishes the principles 
of MANCO, clearly setting out its 
purpose and functions. Committee 
members are required to keep up to 
date on relevant matters relating 
to loan and credit policies, systems 
and procedures, loan applications 
and approvals, funding requirements 
and sources, and financial covenant 
requirements. LOANCO and Group 
Directors have unrestricted access 
to information and documents from 
MANCO’s deliberations. 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (MANCO)

Roles and responsibilities
• Approve financing and guarantees 

of projects with a value of less 
than R10 million, weekly

• Recommend projects of a value 
exceeding R10 million submitted 
to LOANCO. 

Key focus areas and achievements 
in the year:
• The committee approved 26 loan 

applications.
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S P Jackson 
 I Roodt 
L Netshitenzhe
B Cooke
S Govender
N Makwela
V Derrocks
R Jeffery
B Xulu
S Moodley
T Moseamedi

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (EXCO)

our clients due to the impact of 
COVID-19

• Assessing the economic  
environment in respect of closing 
and re-opening of credit due to 
the impact of COVID-19

• Managing ongoing funding 
requirements, liquidity and cash 
flows

• Monitoring compliance with 
COVID-19 hygiene protocols, 
managing the business remotely, 
staff and client communications 
and plans for staff rotations in the 
office

• Finalising the change impact and 
change management implemented 
 as part of the PMO

• Monitoring performance of all 
staff members.
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Governance func-
tional matters
Governance of Risk
The Audit and Risk Committee, ALCO 
and Risk Management Committee 
identify, assess, measure and manage 
those key risks that arise from the 
Group’s business activities. To this 
end, the committees continually 
review risks and establish mitigating 
internal controls. TUHF Ltd is  
ultimately responsible for managing 
risk in the Group and implements a 
risk awareness culture. 

Effective risk management is key to 
the Group’s success. Our business 
strategy depends on our ability to 
take calculated risks without  
compromising stakeholders’ interests. 
We are mindful of the need for a 
healthy balance between performance 
and acceptable risk levels. The Board 
approved a Risk Management 
Framework, which is implemented 
by management to ensure effective 
and ongoing risk assessments and 
processes to anticipate unpredictable 
risks. The Risk Management process 
oversees financial reporting risks, 
internal financial control risks,  
market risks, IT risks, reputational 
risks and business risks including 
money laundering and compliance 
with industry codes, controls and 
regulatory requirements.

Although the Audit and Risk  
Committee is accountable to the 
Boards of the TUHF Group, each 
employee is responsible for risk 
management. Employees at all levels 
manage risks as part of their daily 
operations, and, the risk register is 
updated and submitted to the Risk 
Committee. The Chairperson of the 
Risk Committee reports to the Audit 
and Risk Committee. The Audit and 
Risk Committee – together with the 
internal auditor, KPMG – maintain a 
rolling three-year internal audit plan 
based on various executive functions.

The Audit and Risk Committee is 
satisfied that the risk management 
processes and the adopted  
methodology are appropriate,  
effective and sustainable.

Information and Technology 
Governance

Stakeholder Governance  
Engagement

The Risk Committee is responsible 
for all information and technology 
risk management, and report to the 
Audit and Risk Committee. TUHF has 
two main vendors – Hambisana and 
AS-Tech. 

Hambisana Technologies is an  
independent external service  
provider and supports the Group’s  
infrastructure and software IT  
requirements, including system  
monitoring and logging. 

AS-Tech are an independent external 
service provider and provides 
software development and system 
reporting support, including the  
development and configuration of 
the Loan Cycle Management System 
on Sage CRM. 

The Group developed an industry- 
leading, bespoke Loan Cycle  
Management System (LCMS) as well 
as an accounts receivable module. 
The loan proposal for credit approval 
is purely system-generated, based on 
data captured. 

LCMS uses workflows to manage 
processes and includes loan proposal, 
default management and portfolio 
management capabilities. Reporting 
is continuously improved to meet 
management requirements and a 
data warehouse has been developed 
for historic reports. The system’s 
development is ongoing. Improve-
ments are introduced to meet any 
new requirements, optimise system 
processes and incorporate other 
enhancements while ensuring the 
necessary controls are in place and 
compliance is maintained. 

The system ensures information is 
readily available so that the Group 
continues to meet reporting and  
governance requirements and  
enhances its product offering. Group-
wide accountable and principled 
business practices promote ethical 
behaviour and quick decision making 
among the Boards, managers and 
employees. 

TUHF’s business is built around  
creating shared values in the  
areas we operate in and realising  
opportunities that drive impact 
through scale, innovation and 
collaboration. We are committed to 
recognising and unearthing potential 
in inner cities, buildings and people, 
and creating value for all our stake-
holders in the areas of interest. 

The Boards exercise ongoing  
oversight of stakeholder relationship 
management, but responsibility for 
implementation and execution of 
effective stakeholder relationship 
management has been delegated by 
the Board to the Social and Ethics 
Committee and management. 

The Social and Ethics Committee 
oversees the implementation of the 
Stakeholder Engagement Policy. The 
Group’s main stakeholders are clients, 
 employees, funders, inner-city  
communities, regulators, government 
and municipalities. 

TUHF communicates honestly and 
transparently to enable stakeholders 
to assess the Group’s economic value 
and prospects.

The Group uses Kyriba Treasury  
Management system from  
TreasuryONE to improve cash and 
liquidity reporting and forecasting. 
The reports generated by the  
treasury management system  
are used by ALCO.

To reduce risks associated with the 
dependency on the IT infrastructure, 
the Group has an offsite disaster 
recovery system, and this is  
independently audited. An IT  
Management Committee assists  
in monitoring the IT risks, IT infra-
structure, compliance, and alignment 
of IT with the business strategy. All 
stakeholders are represented in the 
IT User Committee which reports 
to the IT Management Committee. 
An IT report is included in the board 
pack to keep the board updated on IT 
developments. IT risks are monitored 
against a risk matrix and reported to 
the Risk Management Committee.

During 2021, the IT Focus areas 
were: 
• System security, which is always 

on the agenda of all IT related  
forums. New firewalls are 
installed continually at all the 
branches and have successfully 
passed security audits 

• The initial weakness in the testing 
of the disaster recovery system, 
which was remedied and the  
IT Policy as well as the Disaster 
Recovery Process was updated 

• IT architecture was developed, 
which focused on: 
• business architecture (aligned 

with strategy) 
• application architecture 
• data and information  

architecture 
• technology and infrastructure 

architecture 
• security and risk management 

 
Such a capability includes: 
• a clear Enterprise Architecture 

(EA) Mandate from the Executive 
• an organisation structure and 

resources to focus on EA 
• a meta model to structure the 

collection of information 
• processes and procedures for 

conducting architecture work 
• baseline (as is) architectures 

across the domains mentioned 
above 

• target architectures across the 
domains mentioned above 

• a repository for the collection, 
analysis, evolution and sharing 
of EA and Programme related 
information. 

The focus for 2022 leads off the work 
that was done in 2021. We will be 
building on and operationalising the 
EA platform. This includes focusing 
on specific areas: 
• Policy development, to drive 

compliance and standardisation 
around data collection and  
information 

• Business Intelligence (BI), creating 
a multi-tiered, cloud-ready inte-
grated data pipeline to uncover 
new insights from our data, and 
give the power of data intelligence 
to our business users, which will 
in turn allow them to have access 
to timely, accurate information 
and provide them with a 360° 
view of their data 

• IT Infrastructure Library (ITIL) 
alignment, to drive an optimised 
and efficient Helpdesk, Incident 
and Change Management  
Function within the organisation 
by tracking tasks, bugs, incidents 
and changes against the business 
value chain and providing an  
efficient learning engine to  
remedy frequently asked questions

• POPIA compliance, driving the 
systems and policy requirements 
to drive data privacy, responsibility 
 and accountability throughout 
the organisation 

• Systems security, enhancing the 
strong IT Controls Environment 
we have already developed to 
align ourselves with the ISO27001 
standard 

• Data recovery, focusing on 
providing a live failover that will 
allow for immediate business 
continuity in the event of an issue 
in our production environment 

• Document management, which 
will involve migration from  
network drive document storage 
facilities to a cloud-based platform 
to assist with data security, ease 
of access and collaboration. 

The Group’s Governance  
Framework provides for the  
compliance management framework. 
This framework ensures effective and 
ongoing compliance assessments 
and ensures processes to anticipate 
unpredictable compliance risks. 
The Audit and Risk Committee and 
the Risk Management Committee 
identify, assess, measure and manage 
key compliance risks that arise from 
the Group’s applicable laws, binding 
and non-binding rules, codes and 
standards to ensure that the Group is 
a responsible corporate citizen. 

A specialist outsourced compliance 
consultant conducts a critical and 
objective analysis of the Group’s 
compliance policies and processes. 
The internal auditors review TUHF’s 
internal compliance controls. 

There were no material or repeated 
regulatory penalties, sanctions or 
fines for contraventions of, or non- 
compliance with, statutory obligations 
imposed on the company and to any 
employees of the Group.

Planned focus areas include:
• Review of the regulatory frame-

works to ensure all high-risk 
legislations affecting TUHF form 
part of the Compliance Manual

• Review of the FICA Risk  
Management Compliance  
Programme

• Compliance with the Protection 
of Personal Information Act 4 
of 2013 (POPIA) and ensuring 
POPIA compliance

• Development of tools to ensure 
effective compliance reporting 
and management by the Audit 
and Risk Committee.

• Drafting effective Compliance 
Risk matrixes.

Regulatory Compliance
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Stakeholder engagement 
report

Needs, Interests and  
Expectations

TUHF’S Response

Clients • Develop their entrepreneurial skills and 
business growth

• Training and coaching
• Market intelligence.

• A relational business with each client which allows 
for a single point of contact and service, managed by 
their portfolio manager and supported by the entire 
TUHF team for the duration of their loan 

• Focused property management support 

Funders • Commercial return on investment
• Timely repayment of interest
• Ultimate repayment of capital
• Growth of our loan book and business
• Continuous improvement of our social 

impact
• Collaboration with like-minded  

stakeholders. 

• Monthly management accounts and reporting
• Quarterly updates on overall performance and  

individual investment performance through  
investor packs

• Integrated annual report
• Regular meetings with funders

Employees • Allocation of correct skills to each  
employee

• A company that fosters team  
collaboration, improved user experience 
and operational efficiencies.

• Staff skills audit to align roles and expectations
• Daily interactions as TUHF conducts its operations
• Bi-weekly staff meetings
• Monthly one-on-ones with managers 

 

Government 
and  
Municipalities

• TUHF to address the housing needs  
faced by the country

• Stimulation of the economy through 
local economic development and job 
creation

• Growth of the City’s fiscal environment
• Urban regeneration in declining urban 

areas

• Engaging with the City and City Agencies often 
and wherever possible to ensure TUHF is informed 
and seen as a significant stakeholder, and that 
TUHF’s clients’ issues and challenges find resolution 
through:

Inner city  
communities 
and  
organisations

• TUHF adds to their collective  
conversation around inner city issues and 
challenges, in support of their ideology 
that a collective voice has the power to 
be ‘heard’ over a single voice 

• TUHF acts as a platform and an important 
strategic partner / stakeholder to lobby 
public sector and play an advocacy role 
on their behalf.

• To engage as qualitatively as possible on all issues 
which affect TUHF, TUHF’s clients and the urban 
regeneration agenda through:
• Memberships on stakeholder organisations 

and regular engagement with developmental 
bodies and engaging, on a regular basis, with 
smaller community bodies in the individual 
cities in which we operate 

Regulators • Compliance submissions where needed 
• Attendance to queries.

• Operating in excellence and compliance to the 
regulations and laws 

• Strict compliance with industry standards thereby 
achieving good governance.

Key Focus for FY21

• Additional channels include:
• Website
• Social Media Channels 
• Email Communication  from their  

TUHF Advisor
• info@tuhf.co.za which allows us to 

assist potential clients within 48 hours.

• Continued monitoring of client cash flows
• Improved complaints process and faster turnaround times.

• Planned quarterly roadshows and funder 
visits – not fully achieved due to lockdown 
restrictions 

• Negotiating support from funders during  
the COVID-19 pandemic which resulted in 
relaxing covenant and payment  
requirements. 

• Complete funding architecture 
• Develop CMBS Securitisation strategy further through relationship 

with Standard Bank
• Build treasury capability
• Review and improve balance sheet matching
• Implement quarterly road shows to visit key funders
• Get net loan book growth back on track 
• Funder diversification.

• Annual mid-term review of the company’s 
performance against the strategy map

• Newsflashes and monthly marketing  
newsletters to keep employees informed  
on any matters of interest.

• Performance management process review and upskilling as needed
• Clear career path development
• Awareness, training, learning and development on systems  

and processes
• Continued focus on change management

• Leadership coaching
• Staff mentorship programmes

• Ongoing meetings with council, provincial 
and local government representatives

• Ongoing engagements with the Department 
of Human Settlements 
 
 
 

• Continue to engage with local governments regarding:
• Increasing utility tariffs
• The sectional title and ownership agenda
• Urban management 
• The dire need for social amenities and managed public open 

space for inner-city communities.

• Board members on various inner city 
Boards, giving strategic oversight and 
engaging at the local level

• Ongoing meetings with councils,  
provincial and local government as 
well as stakeholder associations such 
as JPOMA, JICP, JDA, ITRUMP, NMBDA 
and others. 

• Continue to serve on various Boards 
• Continue to engage with stakeholders across a wide range of inner- 

city and near-city neighbourhoods regarding challenges and needs 
• Increase engagement with urban management stakeholders at both 

grassroots level and management level 
• Increase engagement with social housing stakeholders across  

all metros.

 
 

• Continued compliance and compliance monitoring
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Audit and Risk Committee 
Report 

Membership
The Audit and Risk Committee is an 
independent statutory committee 
and consists of three Non-Executive 
Directors. Its members are:
• Robert Emslie – Chairperson
• Cas Coovadia
• Mandu Mamatela 
The committee has the expertise 
and experience to properly execute 
its duties and responsibilities. The 
CEO, CFO, senior management and 
representatives from the external and 
internal auditors attend all meetings 
by invitation. Both external and  
internal auditors present formal 
reports to the committee. The  
committee also invites, at its  
discretion, professional advisors 
whose input may be required.

Meetings
The committee meets at least three 
times a year or at the request of the 
Chairperson, any member of the 
committee, the Boards, or the internal 
or external auditors. During the year, 
the committee held five meetings. 
Board members have the right of 
attend the committee meetings.

Roles and responsibilities
• Review Group accounting  

policies and practices and, when 
necessary, recommend changes

• Review Group financial,  
operational and internal control 
systems, including business 
rescue plans and, when required, 
make recommendations to the 
Boards

• Review the implementation of 
IT structures, processes and 
mechanisms and be satisfied that 
the IT strategy is integrated with 
the Group strategic and business 
processes

• Ensure that risk assessments are 
formally documented

• Review the regulatory compliance 
by the Group and oversee the 
compliance risk management 
processes

• Monitor management’s compliance 
 with reporting best practice

• Oversee reporting by internal  
and external auditors, exceptions 
are noted, and the level of risk 
tolerance and appetite are set

• Evaluate, review, approve and 
recommend to the Boards the 
Annual Financial Statements and 
Integrated Annual Report

• Liaise with the Social and Ethics 
Committee on ethical matters.

 
In determining the key risk areas 
facing the Group, the committee is 
assisted by:
• the Risk Management Committee, 

chaired by the CFO and comprising 
senior management 

• the Assets and Liabilities  
Committee, chaired by an Indepen- 
dent Non-Executive Director, to 
review and recommend strategy 
on the asset side of the statement 
of financial position and manage 
the liquidity and funding position, 
interest rate risk, asset and liability 
mismatches, economic capital 
and market risks. 

Appointment and Independence of 
the external auditor
The committee recommended  
PWC Inc. to the shareholders for  
appointment as external auditor for 
the financial year ended 31 March 
2021. However, the committee  
reviewed this appointment in con- 
sideration of the tenure of the  
auditors and the early adoption of 
mandatory audit firm rotation. PWC 
had been auditors for the Group 
companies for 9 years and 2021 
would have been their 10th year. 

As such, and following a tender  
process, the committee recommended 
the appointment of Deloitte and 
Touche Inc (Deloitte) to the Board 
and the Board agreed and resolved to 
appoint Deloitte as auditors for the 
financial year 2021.

The committee ensured that the  
appointment of Deloitte complied 
with all applicable legal and  
regulatory requirements for the 
appointment of an auditor. The 
committee undertook the relevant 
procedures to enable it to confirm 
that the auditor is accredited by the 
JSE and that the designated auditor, 
Stephen Munro, is not on the JSE list 
of disqualified auditors.

The committee approved Deloitte’s 
terms of engagement and the fees. 

The committee is satisfied with the 
quality, effectiveness, independence, 
and objectivity of Deloitte as the 
external auditors and Stephen Munro 
as the designated auditor.

At the forthcoming AGM to be held 
on 22 July 2021, the committee will 
propose that Deloitte and Stephen 
Munro remain the Group auditors 
for the 2022 financial year. This 
appointment will comply with the 
Companies Act and the Debt Listing 
Requirements.

Key focus areas and achievements 
in the year
• Monitored the impact of the 

COVID-19 Pandemic, particularly 
on the IFRS 9 Model and its 
implementation, the economy 
and uncertainty around collection 
levels and business cashflows, 
and assisted in the development 
of strategies to ensure TUHF 
remained a going concern

• Monitored the implementation of 
the IFRS 9 ECL calculations and 
reviewed and approved the IFRS 9 
section of the Mortgage Loan and 
Credit Policy

• Monitored the progress in  
obtaining condonations from all 
our funders as regards funder 
covenant levels that exceeded 
contractual requirements for the 
financial period to 31 March 2021

• Reviewed the Integrated Annual 
Report and recommended it to 
the Board for approval

• Attended to the process of 
appointing new Group external 
auditors through a tender  
process and recommended the 
appointment of Deloitte

• Reviewed and approved the  
external audit plan, with the  
following audit key focus areas: 
• internal controls
• expected credit loss  

methodologies and how 
these were applied

• TUHF’s significant risks  
and fraud risk

• related party transactions 
and balances 

• compliance with rules and 
regulations

• Reviewed the internal auditors’ 
report, covering the financial 
discipline review that was rated 
as satisfactory for the financial 
ended March 2020 

• Planned the following internal 
audits for the 2021 financial year:
• Annual financial discipline 

review
• Cyber review
• Compliance and Risk  

functions review 
• Liquidity management 

review.
• Deferred the cyber, compliance 

and risk functions, and liquidity 
management reviews to 2022 due 

to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic that required focus in 
other areas of the business

• Completed the 2021 annual 
financial disciplinary review,  
with satisfactory conclusion 

• Approved the TUHF Risk  
Management Framework for 
implementation by the Risk  
Management Committee 

• Continued monitoring the  
development of the IT  
architecture, including an assess- 
ment and enhancement of IT 
systems, system integration,  
data and reporting requirements. 

In discharging its responsibilities 
during the year, the committee has 
not found or become aware of any 
material failures, irregularities or 
misstatements affecting the Group’s 
internal controls, structures and  
systems. This includes financial 
controls, accounting policies and 
controls, and reporting, incorporating 
the maintenance and improvement 
of accounting and control systems. 
There have been no material  
regulatory penalties, sanctions or 
fines for contravening, or non- 
compliance with, statutory  
obligations. No compliance  
inspections by environmental  
regulators have been undertaken.

Internal auditors
The committee has evaluated the 
role, independence and effectiveness 
of the internal auditor, KPMG, and 
is satisfied that their performance 
meets the requirements of the 
Group’s risk management system.

Internal controls
The Group’s financial control  
environment was assessed. The  
committee was satisfied that the 
controls were in place and could be 

relied on, and that the internal  
controls of the Group operated  
effectively during the year.

Statutory reporting
The committee has evaluated the 
consolidated Annual Financial 
Statements of the TUHF Group for 
the year ended 31 March 2021. Based 
on the information it has received, 
the committee is of the opinion that 
these companies fully comply with 
the requirements of the Companies 
Act, IFRS, the SAICA Financial  
Reporting Guides and all other  
applicable legislation.

Finance functions
The Boards of the Group have 
delegated the responsibility for 
overseeing financial reporting to the 
committee. The committee has taken 
responsibility for the governance of 
financial reporting, internal and 
external audits, and internal controls 
and policies. 

The requirements of the competency, 
skills and resources of the Group’s 
finance function were assessed, and 
the committee is satisfied that the 
finance function requirements are 
adequate and appropriate. The  
committee reviewed the performance 
and expertise of Ilona Roodt and 
confirmed her suitability to hold 
office as the Group’s Chief Financial 
Officer.

The committee further provides  
reasonable assurance that the  
financial records for the preparation 
of the Annual Financial Statements 
can be relied upon.
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The Social and Ethics Committee is a 
statutory committee of the TUHF 
Group to which is assigned the  
statutory duties as required by  
section 72(4) of the Companies  
Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended 
(Companies Act) (read in conjunction 
with Regulation 43 of the Companies 
Regulations, 2011) together with 
such other duties assigned to it by 
the Boards of TUHF and its holding 
and subsidiary companies.

The terms of reference tasks the 
committee with monitoring the 
Group’s activities with regard to 
several categories.

Social and economic development, 
including:
• The United Nations Global  

Compact Principles and  
Sustainable Development Goals

important principles to which the 
Group adheres and summarises how 
the various activities are handled 
without issues being overlooked.

A monitoring report is presented 
during every committee meeting to 
ensure that the committee activities 
are aligned with the work plan. The 
Committee reviews the work plan 
from time to time to ensure that it is 
always relevant to the Committee’s 
mandate.

King IV has made the Social and 
Ethics Committee more relevant 
by having an ethical focus and it 
recommends that the committee 
upholds, monitors and reports on 
organisational ethics, responsible 
corporate citizenship, development 
and stakeholder inclusivity beyond 
mere compliance and towards value 
creation.

Membership
The Committee comprises the  
following members:
• Jill Strelitz (Chairperson)
• James Howard 
• Ilona Roodt 

Senior management and the external 
HR consultant attend all meetings by 
invitation. During the 2020 financial 
year, the committee held two  
meetings. 

The Committee Chairperson attends 
the AGM to answer any questions 
that shareholders may have.

Key focus areas and achievements 
in the year

Board Evaluation
The Committee identified gaps that 
needed to be addressed in the Board 
evaluation process and recommended 
that a framework be developed by the
Company Secretary. The Framework 
will be adopted and implemented 
during the 2022 Board evaluation.

Monitoring of the B-BBEE  
Verification Progress
The Committee monitored TUHF’s 
verification process and received 
regular feedback from management. 
TUHF moved from being non- 
compliant and attained B-BBEE  
Level 4 for the 2020 year. TUHF is 
working on attaining Level 3 in the 
2021 year.

King IV Compliance
The Committee monitored TUHF’s 
compliance with the King IV principles 
and identified areas of improvement, 
which mostly related to Board 
composition and tenure. These were 
tabled by the Committee to the 
Board and REMCO was tasked with 
attending to the issues and tabling 
recommendations to the Board for 
future consideration in Board  
members’ appointments.

Stakeholder Engagement 
The Committee monitored the  
implementation of TUHF’s Stake-
holder Management Policy. 

Sustainability and Value Creation 
for Impact Funders and Clients
The Committee approved the  
Sustainability Bond Framework, 
which was then listed at the JSE’s 
Sustainability Bond Index.

Monitoring the Update of Internal 
Policies
The Committee also monitored the 
update of TUHF’s policies, ensuring 
proper storage and version control.

Planned focus areas include:
• Focus on achievement of impact 

for impact funders
• Betterment of the TUHF Public 

Profile
• Oversight of King IV Compliance.

Conclusion
The roles, functions and respon- 
sibilities of the Social and Ethics 
Committee cover non-financial  
activities that have a broad scope.  
To contribute to the Group’s success 
and sustainability, committee  
members are required to clearly  
understand the terms of reference. 
To this end, the committee will rely 
on executive management’s reporting 
systems and processes to produce 
the information the members require 
to discharge their duties.

Audit and Risk Committee Report

Social and Ethics  
Committee Report

• The Organisation for Economic 
Cooperation and Development 
regarding the prevention of  
corruption 

• The International Labour  
Organisation’s decent work 
agenda

• The Employment Equity Act
• The Broad-Based Black Economic 

Empowerment Act
• The Consumer Protection Act
• Other regulatory acts and  

industrial charters relevant to  
the Group’s business.

Good corporate citizenship,  
including:
• Promotion of equality
• Fair and non-discriminatory 

practices
• Prevention of corruption
• Contribution to the development 

of communities

• Job creation
• Consumer relationships
• Compliance with consumer  

protection laws
• Record of donations
• Charitable giving

Health and safety for employees 
and the public, including the  
impact of the Group’s activities on:
• The Group’s employment  

relationships and its contribution 
to the training and educational 
development of its employees, 
performance evaluations, board 
effectiveness and adherence to 
the Code of Ethics and Business 
Conduct

• The environment, including 
greening and waste management. 

The Committee has an approved 
work plan which clarifies the  

CFO
The committee has, under review, 
affirmed that Ilona Roodt has the 
expertise and experience to  
undertake the duties and  
responsibilities of the CFO.

Company Secretary
The committee has satisfied itself 
that the Company Secretary, Kilgetty 
Statutory Services (Proprietary)  
Limited and its representative, 
Matthew Wray, have the required 
competency, qualifications and  
experience, and always maintain an 
arm’s-length relationship with the 
Board.

Recommendation of the Annual 
Financial Statements and  
Integrated Annual Report
The committee has fulfilled its  
oversight role regarding the reporting 
process for the Annual Financial 
Statements and the Integrated  
Annual Report and, being satisfied 
with the integrity of these reports, 
recommends that the Boards of 
Directors approve them.

Discharge of responsibilities
The committee is satisfied that it has 
conducted its affairs and discharged 
its legal and other responsibilities as 
outlined in its charter, in accordance 

with the Companies Act and King IV. 
The Board concurred with this  
assessment. 

The members are satisfied that they 
have fulfilled all their functions as 
prescribed by the Companies Act, the 
JSE Debt Listings Requirements, the 
committee terms of reference and 
the governance framework.

Jill Strelitz

Robert Emslie
Chairperson
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The Remuneration and Human 
Resources Committee (REMCO) is 
responsible for setting the direction 
for the Group with regards to  
remuneration and remuneration  
reporting. This report has three parts:
1. The background statement, which 

provides feedback on factors that 
influence the remuneration policy 
and the future focus areas 

2. The overview of the Remuneration 
Policy 

3. The illustration of the implemen-
tation of the remuneration policy 
over the financial year

BACKGROUND STATEMENT
Our Remuneration Philosophy
In line with our strategy, the  
remuneration philosophy and policies 
recognise the importance of our 
people in the continued growth and 
sustainability of the Group and its 
overall performance. TUHF’s  
remuneration philosophy includes 
the principle of rewarding individuals 
in direct proportion to their con-
tribution towards their specific job 
objectives and the degree to which 
they contribute to meeting overall 
organisational goals. 

A TUHF performance management 
system is used to monitor and assess 
performance. The system operates 
based on the implementation of 

the balanced scorecard approach. 
Performance contracts are developed 
annually to align with the overall 
strategy and organisational balanced 
scorecard.

Internal and External Factors  
Influencing Remuneration
The company ensures that there is 
internal pay parity throughout the 
Group and develops a wage curve 
annually that is informed by market- 
related data. This ensures that the 
company remunerates its people in 
line with the market, which assists  
in the retention of employees and 
sustainability within the Group.  
Although the wage curve is con- 
sidered in salary increases, such 
increases are mainly informed by 
performance, affordability and the 
market.

Shareholder Voting on the  
Remuneration Policy and the  
Implementation Report
The remuneration policy and imple-
mentation report are put to separate 
non-binding advisory votes at the 
company’s AGM, in line with King IV. 
During the 2020 AGM, held on  
29 September 2020, the shareholders 
unanimously voted in favour of the 
Remuneration Policy and the  
Implementation Report.

If either the policy or the implemen- 
tation report is voted against by  
25% or more of the voting rights  
exercised, REMCO will actively 
engage with shareholders and report 
back on the outcomes thereof and 
any corrective measures taken. If 
either the policy or the implemen-
tation report, or both, are voted 
against by 25% or more of the votes  
exercised, TUHF – in its voting results 
announcements following the AGM – 
will invite the shareholders to engage 
in a dialogue.

OVERVIEW OF THE  
REMUNERATION POLICY
REMCO
The Boards have delegated the 
duties and responsibilities regarding 
remuneration decisions to REMCO. 
The committee is guided by the 
Remuneration Policy, the REMCO’s 
terms of reference and the HR Policy 
and Procedure manual. These policies 
and the terms of reference define the 
objectives of the committee and the 
required operating procedure, as well 
as the committee’s responsibilities 
and functions.
The committee was established to:
• Attract, motivate, reward and 

retain human capital
• Ensure that remuneration policies 

support the strategic goals of the 
Group

The Remuneration Report

• Maximise individual qualities and 
potential, and acknowledge and 
reward performance and skill

• Promote an ethical culture and 
responsible corporate citizenship

• Comply with regulatory require-
ments and governance.

The committee assists the Boards in 
discharging their duties and oversees, 
reviews and recommends objectives 
relating to:
• Recognising that individual 

strengths contribute towards a 
successful organisation

• Ensuring that all employees are 
fairly and equitably rewarded, 
and understand how salaries are 
determined

• Rewarding management fairly 
and responsibly

• Ensuring that Executive and Non- 
Executive Directors’ remuneration 
aligns with best practice and 
governance principles, and with 
the benchmark set by companies 
of similar size and standing

• Ensuring, as far as possible, that 
people with the required skills are 
recruited

• Creating a strong, performance- 
orientated environment

• Ensuring that remuneration  
packages, including benefits,  
are competitive with the market 
and similar organisations, and 

that overall market trends and 
practices are considered and 
reviewed regularly

• The choice and structuring of 
employer share schemes

• HR policies and procedures
• Reviewing what is expected of 

employees.

In line with REMCO’s terms of 
reference, remuneration policy best 
practices and feedback received from 
stakeholders, the Committee con-
tinually evaluates the remuneration 
policy. REMCO and management 
review employee remuneration and 
benefits continuously taking into 
account fairness, reasonability and 
key management remuneration. A 
key component of the policy is the 
management of remuneration parity 
and fairness.  

REMCO believes that the remuner-
ation policy supports the short- and 
long-term strategy of the company 
and that the policy achieved its  
stated objectives.

Remuneration Policy Objectives 
Recognising that individual strengths 
contribute towards successful  
organisations, TUHF is committed  
to the principle of a flat and lean  
organisational structure that  
maximizes individual qualities and 

potential and acknowledges and 
rewards performance and skill. 

Its remuneration objectives are: 
• Ensuring that all staff are  

fairly and equitably rewarded, 
according to a systematic set  
of principles

• Ensuring that all staff understand 
how salaries are determined

• Ensuring that TUHF can attract 
and retain skilled resources

• Ensuring that remuneration  
packages are competitive with the 
market and similar organisations, 
and that overall market trends 
and practices are considered and 
reviewed regularly in line with the 
organisational strategy and risk 
profile

• Recognising and rewarding 
individual contribution in overall 
organisational success within the 
team approach 

• Ensuring that remuneration  
packages are structured with 
maximum individual flexibility, 
and as much tax efficiency as 
current legislation allows

• Ensuring that employees operate 
as good corporate citizens.
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Framework for Performance  
Assessment
REMCO monitors and assesses the 
performance of the CEO. It reviews 
and confirms the performance of the 
CFO. Employee performance for all 
employees during the year is assessed 
using the TUHF performance 
management system. Performance 
contracts are developed annually  
and are reviewed in the trimester 
performance evaluation discussions.  

Within the system, job profiles are 
created and agreed to by the job 
incumbent. Performance contracts 
are developed considering both the 
job profile and the organisational 
performance indicators. Performance 
is assessed and monitored monthly 
through one-on-one discussions 
between the individual employee and 
their manager. Employee performance 
is reviewed and evaluated three 
times a year. These reviews inform 
the trimester incentives. The overall 
performance rating determines the 
participation in the annual bonus 
awarded by the committee. The  
resulting overall rating will also  
inform the annual salary review.

The key principles of the incentive 
philosophy capture and embody the 
Group’s remuneration policy. They 
are that:
• Incentives are based on actual, 

measurable performance in the 
Group

• Incentives for performance  
are holistic and do not only  
incentivise volume and quantita- 
tive measures. Therefore, they 
include qualitative measures

• Teams and individuals are  
rewarded frequently to support 
performance

• The system is closely aligned to, 
and integrated with, the balanced 
scorecard and overall performance 
management

• The Group strongly incentivises 
performance.

To achieve the objectives of the 
incentive policy, the committee 
creates a budgeted incentive pool 
each year. The incentive pool has 

two clear components comprising a 
fixed portion that is allocated to the 
individual incentives, and a variable 
portion that is allocated to the team-
based award. 

Incentive awards are determined as 
a performance percentage against 
the performance contract signed by 
the employee at the beginning of the 
financial year. The award is paid in 
three tranches over the year. In  
establishing the team-based award, 
the committee determines the over-
all performance of the Group against 
the corporate balanced scorecard. 
This award is a percentage of the  
current salary bill, of which 40% is 
allocated as the team-based  
component of the award and  
60% is allocated as an incentive  
determined by the employee’s  
performance rating achieved at the 
end of the financial year.

TUHF Holdings Conditional Share 
Plan (CSP)
The CSP has been established with 
the object and purpose of providing 
employees an opportunity to benefit 
from the growth in value of the TUHF 
Group in the medium- and long-
term, and incentivising current and 
prospective employees. Originally,  
it was established to recognise 
services rendered, and all employees 
participated in this plan. This has 
been changed under the new CSP, 
the Rules of which were approved by 
the Board on 3 October 2019.  

Summary of the Conditions of  
the New CSP
TUHF Holdings Limited was  
authorised to grant awards vesting in 
shares that will not exceed 10% (ten 
percent) of the Company’s issued 
shares from time to time. 

The awards will only be granted to 
“line of sight employees” who are 
defined as employees whose duties 
require them to have an overall 
understanding of and responsibility 
for TUHF’s goals and core strategies. 
This includes all Executive Directors 
holding salaried employment or 
office of the Employer Company,  

as determined from time to time by 
the Board in its absolute discretion, 
but excludes any Non-Executive 
Director. 
 
The granting of Conditional Awards 
Shares shall be based primarily on 
salary, grade, individual performance, 
retention of required calibre  
employees and market benchmarks. 
The overall conditional awards to  
be granted will also take into con-
sideration circumstances such as 
company performance, retaining  
the required calibre employee and 
company affordability.

The grants of conditional awards 
that are made to selected employees 
shall vest in the shares awarded after 
a performance period of five years, 
commencing on the date of the grant 
award. These grants are subject to 
the performance conditions being 
achieved.

The rules allow for both cliff and 
staggered vesting starting from 
2019. 

Cliff vesting, as agreed to by the 
Board, will apply to the CEO’s shares 
with the shares vesting in 2021. 
Staggered vesting will apply to all 
employees for five years. The first 
vesting year will be in 2022.

Executive Directors
TUHF Executive Directors do not 
have a fixed-term contract but are 
employed in terms of a standard 
contract of employment. The notice 
period for termination of service is a 
standard months’ notice and there 
are approved succession plans in 
place.

The normal retirement age ranges 
from 60 to 65 years. No additional 
payments are made to Executive  
Directors upon the termination 
of employment, apart from those 
required in terms of the labour laws, 
and they do not receive any sign-on 
bonuses.

REMCO determines Executive Direc-
tors’ remuneration and reports to the 

The Remuneration Report Board. Executive Directors’  
remuneration is aligned to measurable 
performance criteria, which are 
aligned with the strategy and  
objectives of the Group. The  
appropriateness of the executive 
remuneration is informed by bench-
marking remuneration for the CEO 
and the CFO against executives in 
similar-sized organisations.  

Market-related data is sourced from 
the Deloitte Executive Salary Survey.  
Remuneration is reviewed both in 
terms of guaranteed remuneration 
and total remuneration including 
incentives. Annual increases and 
incentive bonuses for executives are 
directly informed by performance, 
both at an individual and an  
organisational level. This ensures 
that remuneration and incentive 
awards are directly influenced by,  

and aligned to, performance.  
Executive Directors are paid a short-
term incentive designed to reward 
performance. 

Non-Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors do not  
receive short- or long-term incentives. 
They are paid an annual fee for their 
services. The fees paid relate to 
attendance fees for each Board or 
committee meeting they attend, 
including a fee for each round-robin 
event they are required to participate 
in, other than a meeting. These fees 
are reviewed and decided on by 
REMCO annually and reported to the 
Board, subject to a special resolution 
approved by the shareholders of TUHF. 

The quarterly payment of the basic 
Non-Executive Directors’ fees is 
subject to the director attending 

60% of the meetings convened in the 
quarter for which payment is made. 
Non-Executive Directors are entitled 
to subsistence and travel allowances 
at the rates indicated in the financial 
management and administration 
manual. Any non-director appointed 
to a board committee is remunerated 
on the same basis as a Non-Executive 
Director. Alternate directors will 
not be paid attendance fees but are 
entitled to subsistence and travel 
allowances.
 
The Committee is satisfied that 
it was independent and objective 
in carrying out its mandate. The 
Committee is also satisfied that it 
achieved the primary objectives of 
the key principles of remuneration.

This part of the report provides insight into the implementation of TUHF’s remuneration policy during the year ended 
31 March 2021. It details the remuneration paid to both executive and non-executive directors.

IMPLEMENTATION REPORT

Cash  
component

Bonus Provident     
fund

Other Total

Paul Jackson R2 939 931 R0 R558 039 R222 346 R3 720 317

Ilona Roodt R1 875 996 R0 R332 381 R82 669 R2 291 047

20-Jun 20-Sep 20-Dec 21-Mar Total

Taffy Adler R118 500 R140 500 R85 500 R116 900 R461 400

James Howard R59 500 R70 500 R85 500 R70 500 R286 000

Emslie R96 500 R148 500 R141 500 R176 900 R563 400

Strelitz R96 500 R103 500 R96 500 R81 500 R378 000

Belinda Mapongwana R48 500 R59 500 R59 500 R59 500 R227 000

Luthando Vutula R59 500 R92 500 R48 500 R98 500 R299 000

Samson Moraba R125 000 R121 000 R95 000 R91 000 R432 000

Mandu Mamatela R70 500 R118 500 R48 500 R118 500 R356 000

Cassim Coovadia R129 500 R185 500 R140 500 R160 900 R616 400

R3 590 500

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
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Annual Financial
Statements

TUHF21 NPC
(Registration number 1993/000217/08)
Annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021

General Information

Country of incorporation  
and domicile

South Africa

Nature of business and  
principal activities

The main business of the company is to invest in subsidiary
companies whose main business is to provide commercial property
finance in the form of bridging, equity finance and long term loans
secured by mortgage collateral and other financial products to  
finance entrepreneurs and landlords for the purchase, construction 
and improvement of property for the purpose of the regeneration of 
South African inner city precincts and surrounding suburbs showing 
indications of decline where the primary objective is the supplying 
of housing and associated commercial property for rental stock.

Directors SS Moraba 
T Adler
C Coovadia 
PGN Jackson 
JK Mamatela 
JS Strelitz
IL Roodt
LN Netshitenzhe

Business address 12th Floor, West Wing
 Libridge Building
25 Ameshoff Street 
Braamfontein
2001

Postal address PO Box 30872
Braamfontein 
2017

Bankers The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

Auditor Deloitte & Touche

Secretary Kilgetty Statutory Services Proprietary Limited

Company registration number 1993/000217/08

Preparer The annual financial statements were internally compiled by:
Lutic Mosoane BAP (SA) – Winsome Africa under the direction and
review of Imke Kruger CIMA (SA) following the detailed workings
provided, including a company working file for disclosure and a
consolidation working file. A second review of the financial  
statements was performed by Ilona Roodt, CA (SA)

Issued 30 September 2021

NCR number NCRCP1709

Internet address www.tuhf.co.za 
info@tuhf.co.za
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Directors’ responsibilities and approval

The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and are
responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included 
in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of 
the group as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, 
in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The external auditor is engaged to express an 
independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are 
based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established 
by the group and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors 
to meet these responsibilities, the board of directors sets standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of 
error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level 
of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the group and all employees are required to maintain the highest  
ethical standards in ensuring the group’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management in the group is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known 
forms of risk across the group. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the group endeavours to minimise it 
by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within  
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of 
internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the group’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2022 and, in light of this review and 
the current financial position, they are satisfied that the group has or had access to adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The external auditor is responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the group’s annual financial statements. 
The annual financial statements have been examined by the group’s external auditor and their report is presented on 
pages 10 to 12.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 13 to 72, which have been prepared on the going concern basis, were
approved by the board of directors on 30 September 2021 and were signed on their behalf by:

Samson Moraba  
Chairperson

Paul Jackson  
Chief Executive Officer

30 September 2021
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In terms of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended, I certify that the group has lodged with 
the Commissioner all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the Act and that all such returns 
are true, correct and up to date.

Matthew Wray   
for and on behalf of  
Kilgetty Statutory Services (Pty) Ltd

Johannesburg
30 September 2021
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Directors' Report

The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on the annual financial statements of TUHF21 NPC and it’s subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

1. Incorporation

The company was incorporated in South Africa on 18 January 1993 and obtained its certificate to commence business on the
same day.

2. Nature of business

The main business of the company is to invest in subsidiary companies whose main business is to provide commercial
property finance in the form of bridging, equity finance and long term loans secured by mortgage collateral and other financial
products to finance entrepreneurs and landlords for the purchase, construction and improvement of property for the purpose of
the regeneration of South African inner city precincts and surrounding suburbs showing indications of decline where the
primary objective is the supplying of housing and associated commercial property for rental stock.

The group operates in a very narrow segment of funding. There are no clearly distinguishable segments within the business. As
such no segmental information has been provided.

There have been no material changes to the nature of the group’s business from the prior year.

3. Review of financial results and activities

The consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The accounting policies have been applied consistently
compared to the prior year, except for the adoption of new or revised accounting standards as set out in note 2.

Full details of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the group are set out in these consolidated annual
financial statements.

4. Conditional share plan

The Group has a Conditional Share Plan (CSP) from which conditional share and cash awards are granted to senior
employees and junior employees respectively of TUHF Limited.

The awards granted are subject to a performance management system and are measured over a three year performance
period. The performance conditions of the awards are determined by the management of the employing companies (presently
only TUHF Limited) for each of the performance years by means of a performance management assessment (Performance
Contract).

For each of the financial years covering the performance period, the performance level of the Performance Contract will be
reviewed. At the end of the performance periods the Performance Contract will be finalised. The Group's Remuneration
Committee, together with the management of TUHF Limited, will examine the extent to which performance conditions have
been satisfied and determine the awards that employees will be entitled to. The awards decided upon will be vested over a
period of three years in equal numbers. 

During the year under review, the following transactions took place:
2021 2020

-Conditional awards granted - 5 234 292
-Conditional awards purchased - 41 899

As at 31 March
-Total shares vested to date 2 668 297 2 668 297
-Treasury shares held by TUHF Limited 1 997 621 1 997 621

5. Directorate

The directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

5
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10. Members' funds

The Company is a non-profit company and there are no members’ funds vested.

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, each member of the Company guarantees to contribute the sum of R1 (one) in
the event of the Company being wound up. At the reporting date the guarantee value amounted to R8 (2020: R8).

11. Subsidiary companies

Information regarding the Company’s interest in companies whose business is to provide commercial property finance to
entrepreneurs and landlords for the purchase of property for the purpose of the regeneration of South African inner cities can
be found under note 13.

12. Borrowing powers

Borrowing capacity is determined by the directors in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, from time to time.

Debt capital (interest bearing debt/ interest bearing debt plus capital and reserves) of the Group must be 90% or below. For the
current year debt capital was 85%.

The company’s subsidiary, TUHF Limited issued listed notes on the JSE Limited amounting to R 280 million in January 2017.
TUHF Holdings Limited is the guarantor in this structure. The issued notes are secured by loan assets with a book value of R
330 million and an underlying collateral value of approximately R 625 million. The notes were re-issued for a further period in
January 2020 with a maturing date of October 2024.

The pool covenants achieved on issue date and at year end:

 Loan to value ratio of 67.5%

 Concentration of top 5 assets < 35%

 Pool and Group debt service coverage ratio 1.2 x

The covenants applicable to the company and group are as follows

 Debt service cover ratio 1.1 x – achieved 1.2 x actual

 Interest cover ratio 1.1 x – achieved 1.2 x actual

 Bad debts written off < 5% - achieved, nil

 Loans with arrears < 10% - not achieved (14.62% company : 10.24% group)

 Gearing < 90% - achieved 84%

 Risk Weighted Capital adequacy 15% - 20% - achieved 25%

Performance measures including a minimum Cost to Income Ratio and Return on Equity, were under pressure in the current
operating environment but will be a focus of the group into 2022.

Following discussions with the listed note investors, an approval to delist the note has been received and has been submitted
to STRATE and the JSE on 26 July 2021. The investor does not require a listed instrument and the Group has access to the
capital markets through its securitisation programme. The DMTN Programme Memorandum allows for both listed and unlisted
notes and the reporting. The programme has been removed from the JSE in its entirety, and the JSE has confirmed that the
debt listing requirements no longer apply to TUHF Limited or to TUHF Holdings Limited.

The investor has condoned the breach in covenants for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. The breach in covenant
relates to the loans with arrears ratio only which exceeded the covenant for the June and September 2020 quarter. For the
quarter December 2020 and March 2021 the pool arrears ratio was achieved but the group ratio was not achieved.

The funder covenants for all bilateral funders and the Domestic Medium-Term Note Programme are under review. The loans
with arrears covenant will be revised and replaced with a more appropriate covenant that will require funder consent and
recontracting. The measures are subject to funder consent and are likely to include a revised capital adequacy ratio and a
coverage ratio that considers collateral coverage and ECL. The focus on the quality of the book will continue and ongoing
regular performance will be reported to funders.

7

TUHF21 NPC
(Registration number 1993/000217/08)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Directors' Report

Directors Designation
SS Moraba Non-executive
T Adler Non-executive
C Coovadia Non-executive
PGN Jackson Executive
JK Mamatela Non-executive
JS Strelitz Non-executive
IL Roodt Executive
LN Netshitenzhe Executive

6. Special resolutions

No special resolutions, the nature of which might be significant to the shareholder in their appreciation of the state of affairs of
the group were made by the group or any of its subsidiaries during the period covered by this report.

7. Funding

A revolving 3-year R 400 million warehouse funding facility from Futuregrowth Asset Management Proprietary Limited, acting
as agent for various lenders, was approved to be used over three years. The facility is currently in its third year and R 350
million of the facility was repaid in the first quarter of 2020, but the repayment of the remaining R 50 million is currently being
re-negotiated.

The warehouse facility was used to originate assets for the listed Domestic Medium Note Program. The R 280 million Domestic
Medium-Term Note program matured in January 2020 and was extended to October 2024. The note is delisted.

A securitisation funding structure raising R 500 million was implemented in December 2018. A further tap assistance of R150
million was raised in October 2019. TUHF Limited is the originator in this capital market scheme and retains the role of servicer
and administrator. The issuer, TUHF Urban Finance (RF) Limited is a bankruptcy remote company, independently owned by
the TUHF Urban Finance Owner Trust.

A second securitisation structure was implemented in March 2021, whereby the group raised an additional R 609 million in
funding through the capital markets. This raised over R 100 million in funding for the company and enabled the balance of the
proceeds of R 509 million to be applied to the revolving facility with Standard Bank. This complied with the requirements of the
facility to allow for the facility availability period to be extended for a further 12 months, with the total facility at R 700 million.
TUHF Limited is the originator in this capital market scheme and retains the role of servicer and administrator. The issuer,
Urban Ubomi 1 (RF) Limited is a bankruptcy remote company, independently owned by the Urban Ubomi 1 Issuer Owner Trust.

A senior revolving facility for R 700 million was put in place with Standard Bank of South Africa Limited in January 2020 in a
bankruptcy remote company which uses the funding to acquire assets from TUHF Limited. TUHF Limited is the originator in
this capital market scheme and retains the role of servicer and administrator. Vuselela Warehouse SPV (RF) Proprietary
Limited is a bankruptcy remote company, independently owned by the Vuselela Warehouse Owner Trust. At the end of March
2021, R 509 million of the facility was repaid enabling the facility to remain active. The facility remains active and at year end R
387 million was committed under the Bank Warehouse.

TUHF Limited has successfully negotiated a R 200 million 10-year term facility with Eskom Pension and Provident Fund. The
facility commercial terms have been negotiated, the agreements have been signed and a drawdown of R200 million was done
in July 2021.

The liquidity mismatch pertaining to the period up to five years after reporting date will be managed by refinancing interest
bearing liabilities. Refer to note 8 for the maturity analysis relating to advances. Refer to the Liquidity risk note for the
calculation of the liquidity mismatch.

8. Support programme for social housing

The Company continues to act as agent for and on behalf of the National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited and its
representative in respect of a social housing programme funding in the sum of R 23.1 million originated from the Commission
of the European Community.

9. Equity funding

Supporting emerging entrepreneurs who qualify for debt support in the form of variable interest subordinated loans continues to
remain one of the principles of the Company’s lending approach.

6
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17. Auditors

Deloitte & Touche have been appointed in office as auditors for the company and its subsidiaries for 2021.

At the AGM, the shareholders will be requested to reappoint Deloitte & Touche as the independent external auditors of the
company and to confirm Stephen Munro as the designated lead audit partner for the 2022 financial year.

18. Events after the reporting period

Subsequent to year end the directors of Silverkey Proprietary Limited entered into a sale agreement with City of Johannesburg
Metropolitan Municipality for the sale of part of its property portfolio. The buildings being sold are known as Catham house and
Karl House.

19. Going concern

The directors believe that the company has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future
and accordingly the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors have satisfied
themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its
foreseeable cash requirements. The directors are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the
company. The directors are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any
pending changes to legislation which may affect the company.
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The business has changed over the past three years with the role of TUHF Limited evolving. TUHF Limited originates new loan
assets, and a separate warehouse holds loan assets for securitisation. Management estimate that up to 70% of the group
funding requirements will in future be sourced through the capital markets. A formal plan for proposed changes to the TUHF
Limited balance sheet has been presented to the Board for approval in July 2021 and a consultation process with funders will
follow. This may entail the establishment of a separate servicer entity.

A written condonation was obtained from all investors Ashburton Investment, Futuregrowth Asset Management, Cadiz Life,
National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited (NHFC), NOVO Impact NPC, Public Investment Corporation (PIC),
Mergence Investment Managers and Nedbank Limited SA for the condonation of the loans with arrears covenant being above
covenant level for the duration of the financial year, April 2020 to 31 March 2021.
The investors ALCB Fund, Mergence Investment Managers, Development Bank of Southern Africa and Small Enterprise
Finance Agency did not need to provide a condonation as the covenant does not apply to their facilities.

The group has three structured finance transactions, two of which are listed, being Urban Ubomi 1 (RF) Limited and TUHF
Urban Finance (RF) Limited. No covenants were breached in the structured finance transactions.

13. Preparation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements together with the accounting policies applied for the year under review were prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa and the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS). The Annual Financial Statements were independently compiled by Lutic Mosoane BAP (SA) – Winsome Africa under
the direction and review of Imke Kruger CIMA (SA) following the detailed workings provided, including a company working file
for disclosure and a consolidation working file. A second review of the financial statements was performed by Ilona Roodt, CA
(SA).

14. Management agreement

In September 2009 the Company entered into a management agreement with TUHF Limited in terms of which TUHF Limited
will provide management and administrative services necessary, incidental and ancillary to satisfy the ongoing commercially
reasonable requirements for the Company including, but not limited to secretarial services, accounting services, banking
services, administrative services, corporate governance services, social and ethic management, strategy planning and
reporting services and statutory reporting services.

The board agreed to delegate the corporate governance functions, decisions and applications to the board of TUHF Limited
The directors of TUHF Limited will however be subject to instructions from the board, to the Company’s Memorandums of
Incorporation and be required to safeguard, at all times, the interests of the Company when implementing the obligations and
duties set out in the management agreement.

The board of TUHF Limited will therefore respect the fiduciary duties of this board.

The implementation and adoption of policies, processes and procedures of TUHF Limited will be considered and approved by
this board as a signatory to the management agreement.

A formally documented and approved Board Charter outlines the scope of authority, responsibilities, powers and functioning of
the TUHF Limited board. This charter is reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that it remains relevant and in line with
governance best practice.

15. Non-controlling shareholders share of reserves

The amount reflected on the statement of financial position as the portion attributable to non-controlling shareholders is stated
assuming that the Group is a going concern. On liquidation it is noted that the portion of the non-distributable reserves would
be available to all shareholders.

16. Secretary

The company secretary is Kilgetty Statutory Services Proprietary Limited.

8
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KKeeyy  AAuuddiitt  MMaatttteerrss  
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
 

KKeeyy  AAuuddiitt  MMaatttteerr  HHooww  tthhee  mmaatttteerr  wwaass  aaddddrreesssseedd  iinn  tthhee  aauuddiitt  

EExxppeecctteedd  CCrreeddiitt  LLoosssseess  oonn  llooaannss  aanndd  aaddvvaanncceess  

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments requires the 
recognition of expected credit losses (“ECL”) on all 
financial assets within the scope of its impairment 
model. The ECL on loans and advances, has been 
identified as a Key Audit Matter (“KAM”) due to the 
magnitude of the loans and advances and the 
inherent uncertainty and level of significant 
judgement applied by management in determining 
the ECL.  
 
The estimation of credit losses is inherently 
uncertain and the subject of significant judgment 
by management. Models used to determine the 
credit provisions can be complex, and inputs used 
may not be fully observable.  
 
The key areas of significant judgement applied by 
management in the ECL calculations include the 
following: 

• The evaluation of significant increase in 
credit risk (“SICR”) and the resultant 
staging of the loans as stage 1, 2 or 3 in 
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 
9; 

• Incorporating macro-economic inputs and 
forward-looking information into the 
assessment and ECL measurement; 

• Input assumptions applied to estimate the 
probability of default (“PD”), exposure at 
default (“EAD”) and loss given default 
(“LGD”) within the ECL measurement; and 

• The valuation of collateral.   
  

To address the KAM we completed the following 
audit procedures: 
• We identified, obtained an understanding of, 

and tested the design and implementation of 
relevant controls relating to the approval of 
the credit facilities, the governance processes 
in place around credit models, inputs and the 
collateral valuations; the credit forums where 
key judgements are considered, reviewed, 
challenged and approved and governance 
processes over out-of-model adjustments.  
 

• In the evaluation of SICR and the resultant 
classification of the loans as stage 1, 2 or 3 in 
accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9: 

a) We selected a sample of exposures 
and assessed whether the stage 
classification of these exposures is 
appropriate in terms of the 
requirements of IFRS 9.  

b) We inspected the minutes of the 
arrears and problematic project 
committee to assess the classification 
of those clients that have been 
identified as being in arrears and being 
problematic and whether 
management’s classification of these 
loans as a result of identified SICR is 
appropriate.  

c) We assessed the items that were 
included in the watchlist, held 
discussion with management to 
understand the reasons for the clients 
being placed on the watchlist and 
assessed whether those clients were 
adequately identified as presenting a 
possible SICR trigger and therefore 
being adequately classified as stage 2 
in terms of the requirements of IFRS 9.  
 

 

  
 

IINNDDEEPPEENNDDEENNTT  AAUUDDIITTOORR’’SS  RREEPPOORRTT    
TToo  tthhee  SShhaarreehhoollddeerr  ooff  TTUUHHFF2211  NNPPCC  LLiimmiitteedd  
 
RReeppoorrtt  oonn  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  aanndd  SSeeppaarraattee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss  
 
OOppiinniioonn    
  
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of TUHF21 NPC (the Group and 
Company) set out on pages 16 to 75, which comprise the consolidated and separate  statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the consolidated and separate statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated and separate statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
and separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated and separate financial position of TUHF21  NPC and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021, 
and its consolidated and separate financial performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act of South Africa. 
 
BBaassiiss  ffoorr  OOppiinniioonn  
  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group 
and Company in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to 
performing audits of Consolidated and Separate financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical 
requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the 
corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (IESBA) International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code). 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

  

 

  
 

IINNDDEEPPEENNDDEENNTT  AAUUDDIITTOORR’’SS  RREEPPOORRTT    
TToo  tthhee  SShhaarreehhoollddeerr  ooff  TTUUHHFF2211  NNPPCC  LLiimmiitteedd  
 
RReeppoorrtt  oonn  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  aanndd  SSeeppaarraattee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss  
 
OOppiinniioonn    
  
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of TUHF21 NPC (the Group and 
Company) set out on pages 16 to 75, which comprise the consolidated and separate  statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated and separate statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the consolidated and separate statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated and separate statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
and separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated and separate financial position of TUHF21  NPC and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021, 
and its consolidated and separate financial performance and consolidated and separate cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act of South Africa. 
 
BBaassiiss  ffoorr  OOppiinniioonn  
  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group 
and Company in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence requirements applicable to 
performing audits of Consolidated and Separate financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical 
requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the 
corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (IESBA) International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code). 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
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KKeeyy  AAuuddiitt  MMaatttteerr  HHooww  tthhee  mmaatttteerr  wwaass  aaddddrreesssseedd  iinn  tthhee  aauuddiitt  
c) We assessed the reasonability 

of the haircuts applied to the 
valuation of the property.  

 
• We assessed the adequacy of the 

disclosures in the consolidated and 
separate financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS 9. 

  
 
  
OOtthheerr  MMaatttteerr    
  
The consolidated and separate financial statements of the Group and Company for the year ended 31 March 
2020 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 30 
September 2020. 
  
OOtthheerr  IInnffoorrmmaattiioonn  
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the document titled “TUHF21 NPC Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 
2021” which includes the Audit and Risk Committee Report, Directors’ Responsibilities and Approvals, 
Company Secretary’s Certification and the Directors’ Report as required by the Companies Act of South 
Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. The other information does not include the 
consolidated and separate financial statements and our auditor’s reports thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the 
other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard. 
  
RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ooff  tthhee  DDiirreeccttoorrss  ffoorr  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  aanndd  SSeeppaarraattee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss    
  
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group and/or Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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KKeeyy  AAuuddiitt  MMaatttteerr  HHooww  tthhee  mmaatttteerr  wwaass  aaddddrreesssseedd  iinn  tthhee  aauuddiitt  
• In the evaluation of the input assumptions 

applied to estimate the probability of default 
(“PD”), exposure at default (“EAD”) and loss 
given default (“LGD”) and the Incorporation of 
macro-economic inputs and forward-looking 
information into the assessment and ECL 
measurement, we included the involvement of 
our specialists in quantitative and credit 
modelling skills in performing the following 
procedures: 

a) Assessment of methodologies for 
compliance with IFRS 9 and testing of 
assumptions in response to the 
relevant risks of material 
misstatement identified;  

b) Reperformance of management’s 
calculation of model parameters (i.e. 
PD, LGD, and EAD); 

c) Reperformance of management’s 
calculation of the ECL allowance as at 
31 March 2021;  

d) Assessing how management have 
taken the macro economic factors and 
forward-looking information, 
considering market related data, 
including the impact of COVID 19, into 
account in the determination of the 
ECL; and  

e) Assessing, in conjunction with the 
audit team, the completeness and 
accuracy of data used in the model. 

 
• For a sample of properties held as 

collateral, we performed the following 
procedures to test the fair value of the 
collateral: 

a) Where external valuators 
were used, we assessed the 
competence, capabilities and 
the objectivity of the 
externally appointed 
valuation expert by assessing 
their accreditation and 
relevant experience;  

b) We benchmarked the 
capitalisation rates used to 
value the collateral  against 
market related data; and 

Independent auditor’s report Independent auditor’s report
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.  
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
 
RReeppoorrtt  oonn  OOtthheerr  LLeeggaall  aanndd  RReegguullaattoorryy  RReeqquuiirreemmeennttss  
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we 
report that Deloitte has been the auditor of TUHF21 NPC for 1 year. 
 
  
  
DDeellooiittttee  &&  TToouucchhee    
Registered Auditor  
Per: Stephen Munro 
Partner 
 
04 October 2021 
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AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ffoorr  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  aanndd  SSeeppaarraattee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss  
  
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of the consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing 
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend 
to liquidate the Group and / or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to 
do so.  
 
AAuuddiittoorr’’ss  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ffoorr  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  aanndd  SSeeppaarraattee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss  
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance; but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated and separate financial statements. 
  
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and the Company’s internal control.  

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and separate financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group and / or the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

Independent auditor’s report Independent auditor’s report
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TUHF21 NPC
(Registration number 1993/000217/08)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Statements of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Group Company

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2021 2020 2021 2020

Interest income 26 378 013 373 477 684 854 698 374 1 742 301

Interest expenses 27 (244 045 463) (300 827 379) (285 745) (805 769)

Expected credit losses 28 8 059 451 (45 290 414) (675 139) (3 375 205)

Gains (losses) arising from derecognised financial
asset measured at amortised cost

- (12 740 112) - -

Income from lending activities 142 027 361 118 826 949 (262 510) (2 438 673)

Other operating income 29 7 984 108 10 121 901 1 501 500 1 565 500

Other operating gains (losses) 30 20 401 914 802 888 - -

Other operating expenses 31 (123 654 146) (123 865 352) (567 331) (1 890 168)

Operating profit (loss) 28 46 759 237 5 886 386 671 659 (2 763 341)

Investment income 33 1 762 044 5 977 446 - -

Profit (loss) before taxation 48 521 281 11 863 832 671 659 (2 763 341)

Taxation 34 (8 180 987) (3 716 562) 113 424 102 272

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 40 340 294 8 147 270 785 083 (2 661 069)

Profit (loss) attributable to:

Owners of the parent 13 450 901 2 716 592 785 083 (2 661 069)

Non-controlling interest 26 889 393 5 430 678 - -

40 340 294 8 147 270 785 083 (2 661 069)

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:

Owners of the parent 13 450 901 2 716 592 785 083 (2 661 069)

Non-controlling interest 26 889 393 5 430 678 - -

40 340 294 8 147 270 785 083 (2 661 069)
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Statements of Financial Position as at 31 March 2021
Group Company

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2021 2020 2021 2020

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 148 833 031 107 995 979 8 062 838 77 833

Money market assets 7 11 294 777 4 308 934 - -

Current tax receivable 9 343 286 11 739 546 268 953 679 445

Loans and advances 8 3 632 547 591 3 606 105 278 - -

Other assets 9 37 712 752 5 885 387 313 313

Properties in possession 10 11 400 000 11 400 000 - -

Investment property 11 297 623 481 - - -

Loans to group companies and related parties 12 5 011 053 46 359 310 113 966 880 71 962 334

Investments in subsidiaries 13 - - 26 333 534 26 333 534

Investments in joint ventures 15 3 684 430 4 699 154 - -

Unlisted investments 16 24 967 606 24 573 001 - -

Equipment 17 1 857 705 1 928 347 - -

Right-of-use assets 18 14 623 490 8 258 342 - -

Intangible assets 19 5 104 458 4 785 034 - -

Deferred tax 20 29 306 813 27 796 576 705 838 592 414

Total assets 4 233 310 473 3 865 834 888 149 338 356 99 645 873

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent

Owners' reserves 127 926 300 113 033 777 49 478 524 48 693 441

Non-distributable reserves 21 243 129 211 193 041 410 85 629 452 35 541 651

Share based payment reserve 25 12 515 957 6 997 098 - -

Equity development fund reserve (2 998 107) (1 556 585) - -

380 573 361 311 515 700 135 107 976 84 235 092

Non-controlling interest 249 508 181 222 618 788 - -

630 081 542 534 134 488 135 107 976 84 235 092

Liabilities

Lease liabilities 18 16 045 530 9 227 648 - -

Trade and other payables 22 57 172 054 25 438 991 14 230 292 15 410 693

Financial liabilities 24 3 519 016 910 3 288 265 798 - -

Current tax payable 2 195 873 - - -

Deferred tax 20 8 798 564 8 767 963 88 88

3 603 228 931 3 331 700 400 14 230 380 15 410 781

Total Equity and Liabilities 4 233 310 473 3 865 834 888 149 338 356 99 645 873
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Statements of Changes in Equity

Figures in Rand

Share based
payment
reserve

Equity
development
fund reserve

Non-
distributable

reserve

Total reserves Owners'
reserves

Total
attributable to
equity holders
of the group /

company

Non-controlling
interest

Total equity

Group

Balance at 01 April 2019 - 556 666 166 886 154 167 442 820 108 413 967 275 856 787 217 188 110 493 044 897

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 2 716 592 2 716 592 5 430 678 8 147 270

Issue of shares - - - - 200 200 - 200
Acquisition of treasury shares - - - - (210 233) (210 233) - (210 233)
Grant received from National Treasury Jobs Fund - - 26 155 256 26 155 256 - 26 155 256 - 26 155 256
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 6 997 098 - - 6 997 098 - 6 997 098 - 6 997 098
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited transfer of fund
margin

- (2 113 251) - (2 113 251) 2 113 251 - - -

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of
company recognised directly in equity

6 997 098 (2 113 251) 26 155 256 31 039 103 1 903 218 32 942 321 - 32 942 321

Balance at 01 April 2020 6 997 098 (1 556 585) 193 041 410 198 481 923 113 033 777 311 515 700 222 618 788 534 134 488

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 13 450 901 13 450 901 26 889 393 40 340 294

Issue of shares - - - - 100 100 - 100
Grant received from National Treasury Jobs Fund - - 27 582 860 27 582 860 - 27 582 860 - 27 582 860
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 5 518 859 - - 5 518 859 - 5 518 859 - 5 518 859
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited transfer of fund
margin

- (1 441 522) - (1 441 522) 1 441 522 - - -

Grant received from Oppenheimer Trust - - 22 504 941 22 504 941 - 22 504 941 - 22 504 941

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of
company recognised directly in equity

5 518 859 (1 441 522) 50 087 801 54 165 138 1 441 622 55 606 760 - 55 606 760

Balance at 31 March 2021 12 515 957 (2 998 107) 243 129 211 252 647 061 127 926 300 380 573 361 249 508 181 630 081 542
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Statements of Changes in Equity

Figures in Rand

Share based
payment
reserve

Equity
development
fund reserve

Non-
distributable

reserve

Total reserves Owners'
reserves

Total
attributable to
equity holders
of the group /

company

Non-controlling
interest

Total equity

Group

Balance at 01 April 2019 - 556 666 166 886 154 167 442 820 108 413 967 275 856 787 217 188 110 493 044 897

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 2 716 592 2 716 592 5 430 678 8 147 270

Issue of shares - - - - 200 200 - 200
Acquisition of treasury shares - - - - (210 233) (210 233) - (210 233)
Grant received from National Treasury Jobs Fund - - 26 155 256 26 155 256 - 26 155 256 - 26 155 256
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 6 997 098 - - 6 997 098 - 6 997 098 - 6 997 098
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited transfer of fund
margin

- (2 113 251) - (2 113 251) 2 113 251 - - -

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of
company recognised directly in equity

6 997 098 (2 113 251) 26 155 256 31 039 103 1 903 218 32 942 321 - 32 942 321

Balance at 01 April 2020 6 997 098 (1 556 585) 193 041 410 198 481 923 113 033 777 311 515 700 222 618 788 534 134 488

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 13 450 901 13 450 901 26 889 393 40 340 294

Issue of shares - - - - 100 100 - 100
Grant received from National Treasury Jobs Fund - - 27 582 860 27 582 860 - 27 582 860 - 27 582 860
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 5 518 859 - - 5 518 859 - 5 518 859 - 5 518 859
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited transfer of fund
margin

- (1 441 522) - (1 441 522) 1 441 522 - - -

Grant received from Oppenheimer Trust - - 22 504 941 22 504 941 - 22 504 941 - 22 504 941

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of
company recognised directly in equity

5 518 859 (1 441 522) 50 087 801 54 165 138 1 441 622 55 606 760 - 55 606 760

Balance at 31 March 2021 12 515 957 (2 998 107) 243 129 211 252 647 061 127 926 300 380 573 361 249 508 181 630 081 542
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Statements of Changes in Equity

Figures in Rand

Share based
payment
reserve

Equity
development
fund reserve

Non-
distributable

reserve

Total reserves Owners'
reserves

Total
attributable to
equity holders
of the group /

company

Non-controlling
interest

Total equity

Company

Balance at 01 April 2019 - - 9 386 395 9 386 395 51 354 510 60 740 905 - 60 740 905

Total comprehensive Loss for the year - - - - (2 661 069) (2 661 069) - (2 661 069)

Grant received from National Treasury Jobs Fund - - 26 155 256 26 155 256 - 26 155 256 - 26 155 256

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of
company recognised directly in equity

- - 26 155 256 26 155 256 - 26 155 256 - 26 155 256

Balance at 01 April 2020 - - 35 541 651 35 541 651 48 693 441 84 235 092 - 84 235 092

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 785 083 785 083 - 785 083

Grant received from National Treasury Jobs Fund - - 27 582 860 27 582 860 - 27 582 860 - 27 582 860
Grant received from Oppenheimer Trust - - 22 504 941 22 504 941 - 22 504 941 - 22 504 941

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of
company recognised directly in equity

- - 50 087 801 50 087 801 - 50 087 801 - 50 087 801

Balance at 31 March 2021 - - 85 629 452 85 629 452 49 478 524 135 107 976 - 135 107 976
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Statements of Changes in Equity

Figures in Rand

Share based
payment
reserve

Equity
development
fund reserve

Non-
distributable

reserve

Total reserves Owners'
reserves

Total
attributable to
equity holders
of the group /

company

Non-controlling
interest

Total equity

Company

Balance at 01 April 2019 - - 9 386 395 9 386 395 51 354 510 60 740 905 - 60 740 905

Total comprehensive Loss for the year - - - - (2 661 069) (2 661 069) - (2 661 069)

Grant received from National Treasury Jobs Fund - - 26 155 256 26 155 256 - 26 155 256 - 26 155 256

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of
company recognised directly in equity

- - 26 155 256 26 155 256 - 26 155 256 - 26 155 256

Balance at 01 April 2020 - - 35 541 651 35 541 651 48 693 441 84 235 092 - 84 235 092

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 785 083 785 083 - 785 083

Grant received from National Treasury Jobs Fund - - 27 582 860 27 582 860 - 27 582 860 - 27 582 860
Grant received from Oppenheimer Trust - - 22 504 941 22 504 941 - 22 504 941 - 22 504 941

Total contributions by and distributions to owners of
company recognised directly in equity

- - 50 087 801 50 087 801 - 50 087 801 - 50 087 801

Balance at 31 March 2021 - - 85 629 452 85 629 452 49 478 524 135 107 976 - 135 107 976
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Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

Corporate information

TUHF21 NPC is a public company incorporated and domiciled in South Africa.

The consolidated and separate annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 were authorised for issue in
accordance with a resolution of the directors on Thursday, 30 September 2021.

1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate annual financial statements are
set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated and separate annual financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis in accordance
with, and in compliance with, International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") interpretations issued and effective at the time of preparing these annual financial
statements and the Companies Act 71 of 2008 of South Africa, as amended.

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the accounting
policies which follow and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below. They are presented in Rands, which is the
group and company's functional currency.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period.

1.2 Consolidation

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated annual financial statements incorporate the annual financial statements of the company and all subsidiaries.
Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) which are controlled by the group.

The group has control of an entity when it is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from involvement with the entity and it
has the ability to affect those returns through use of its power to direct the activities of the entity.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated annual financial statements from the effective date of acquisition to
the effective date of disposal.

Adjustments are made when necessary to the annual financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those of the group.

All inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated in full
on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred.

Investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements

In the company's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.

1.3 Investments in joint ventures

Joint ventures are initially measured at cost and subsequently accounted for using the equity method at an amount that reflects
the group’s share of the net assets of the joint venture (including goodwill). Equity accounting is applied from the date on which
the entity becomes a joint venture up to the date on which the group ceases to have significant influence or joint control. Equity
accounting of losses is restricted to the interests in these entities, including unsecured receivables or other commitments,
unless the group has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the associate or joint ventures. Where there is an
indicator of impairment the carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment by comparing its recoverable amount
with its carrying amount. Impairment losses are recognised through non-trading and capital related items.
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Statements of Cash Flows
Group Company

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2021 2020 2021 2020

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest income 322 401 030 429 354 595 166 754 318 114

Guarantee interest received 13 927 - - -

Rental income 1 273 390 1 363 736 - -

Interest expenses (236 916 041) (311 108 743) (5 423) -

Tax paid (8 152 386) (14 447 373) - (229 444)

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (88 903 050) (109 922 838) (1 537 086) (4 262 675)

Management fees 1 492 413 1 171 020 - -

Cash received from clients 1 032 000 1 927 566 1 032 000 1 232 000

Dividend paid - (10 093 517) - -

Net movement in advances (188 902 878) (220 023 009) - 5 035 609

Early repayment penalty - 1 814 085 - -

Tax refund received 482 386 - 435 741 -

Jobsfund grant used (4 395 921) - - -

Net cash from operating activities (200 575 130) (229 964 478) 91 986 2 093 604

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of equipment (878 932) (948 074) - -

Proceeds from disposal of equipment 17 20 845 1 739 - -

Purchase of other intangible assets 19 (2 538 539) (1 521 299) - -

Loans advanced to joint ventures - (10 174 299) - -

Dividends received 285 250 616 336 - 5 339 927

Net cash from investing activities (3 111 376) (12 025 597) - 5 339 927

Cash flows from financing activities

Payments to employees for Treasury shares purchased by
TUHF Limited

- (210 232) - -

Amounts paid to related parties - - (45 147 887) (49 126 466)

Amounts received from related parties - - 2 953 105 15 330 965

Shareholder loan received 55 188 639 - - -

Principal lease payment (4 497 243) (4 177 172) - -

Proceeds from financial liabilities 487 000 0001 017 353 931 - -

Repayments of financial liabilities (945 636 335)(973 892 051) - -

Proceeds from notes issued 609 000 000 152 657 315 - -

Grant funds received 50 087 801 26 155 256 50 087 801 26 155 256

Net cash from financing activities 251 142 862 217 887 047 7 893 019 (7 640 245)

Total cash movement for the year 47 456 356 (24 103 028) 7 985 005 (206 714)

Cash at the beginning of the year 112 671 452 136 774 480 77 833 284 547

Total cash at end of the year 6 160 127 808 112 671 452 8 062 838 77 833
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Accounting Policies

1.4 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Sensitivity analysis applicable to 2021

Throughout the 2021 year some of the uncertainty regarding the impact of covid could be seen and resulted in the actual direct
impact of increasing arrears and a general decrease in collections for a period. Stability was achieved within a short period of
time, of six months and consequently the per project assessment of risk could be conducted through the problematic project
meeting process.

The additional stresses on the PDs were not done in the current year as this was already in the data but an approach to
consider additional risk through the watchlist process was deemed appropriate. The project and risk screening approach
ensured that the risk of default on loans with no arrears were evaluated and a quantitative assessment of the significant
increase in credit risk was applied to the ECL through an overlay. No additional stresses to the PDs were applied.

The loss given default information is conservative at 55% and was left unchanged. The loans are secured and the recovery of
the collateral, form part of the model assessment and assumptions. In the model a 50% haircut is applied to reduce values,
increasing the required provisions. The model considers economic variables such as property prices and interest rates. The
decline in interest rates was again ignored for the purpose of the provision to remain conservative. Usually such a decrease
would improve consumer credit and the ability of customers to repay their debt but given the other factors such as the
economic shutdown and job losses this was ignored. Property values usually would be considered, and a growth factor would
be applied to the collateral. For 2020 this was not done given the uncertainty in the market. Instead, a 5% decline in property
values was considered for the next 12 months and thereafter a 2% increase was applied for 12 months and a 3% factor
thereafter.

PD Adjustment Factors
2021 2022 2023 2024

1 - Downturn 110% 110% 110% 110%

2 - Base case 100% 100% 100% 100%

3 - Upturn 90% 90% 90% 90%

1.4.2  Expected credit losses (ECL's) on loans and advances

TUHF21 NPC Group

In respect of the ECL’s for loans and advances in the non-performing category we reported ECL’s of R109 003 798
(2020:R78 976 319).

In respect of the ECL’s for loans and advances in the performing category we reported ECL’s of R27 285 738
(2020:R45 857 066).

Total expected credit losses, Stage 1, 2 and 3 combined reported are: R136 289 536 (2020:R124 833 385). 

In respect of the ECL's for loans and advances, the weighted average of the downturn, base case and upturn scenario is as
follows.

2021 2020

Downturn R162 144 402 R125 311 786

Base case R136 289 536 R124 833 385

Upturn R128 112 162 R124 334 858
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Accounting Policies

1.4 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management, from time to time, to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. These estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

1.4.1 The impact of Covid-19 on IFRS 9 ECL

The disruption of normal economic activity as a result of Covid-19 has in many instances resulted in an increase in credit risk
for many of TUHF Limited’s clients. The group based their ECL estimates on the best available information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of economic conditions. In assessing forecast conditions, consideration has been given both
to the effects of Covid-19 and the significant government support measures being undertaken. As a result of the significant
uncertainty, it is difficult to incorporate the specific effects of Covid-19 and government support measures on a reasonable and
supportable basis. However, changes in economic conditions have been reflected in macroeconomic scenarios applied and
their weightings. The company has taken steps to determine the impact of Covid-19 on all its clients. Where a client’s business
has been impacted this information was taken into account in determining the expected credit losses.

Another area of significant judgement relates to the migration of accounts between the IFRS 9 staging buckets. Any relief that
is granted by the group to selected clients in the form of short-term payment holidays was assessed in conjunction with other
factors prior to determining whether accounts to which such relief is provided move either to stage 2 or stage 3.

All reasonable and supportable information that was available to make a distinction between those accounts where the credit
risk has increased significantly and those accounts where credit risk has not increased significantly has been carefully
considered. If an account was up to date prior to the relief measure and the account is expected to remain in up-to-date status
once the relief period ends, all other factors remaining constant, management assumed that no significant increase in credit
risk has occurred and the account has not been moved to stage 2. If however, there are adverse changes in other
circumstances which are not expected to be temporary in nature over and above the relief provided (e.g. a mortgage debtor is
retrenched or an the client enters business rescue or suffers losses that put into question its ability to repay the outstanding
balance), it can be reasonably concluded that a significant increase in credit risk has occurred, warranting the migration of the
account into stage 2 or stage 3.

Sensitivity analysis applicable to 2020

Due to the uncertainty regarding the impact of covid on the cashflows and expected credit losses, the stresses applied to the
model took into account the overall economic impact and likely decline of South Africa’s gross domestic product and the impact
on the probability of default (PD).

Loans were separated into different group reflecting common default characteristics. Loans falling into each of these groups
are assigned separate probabilities of default and the exposure weighted average 12-month PD across the book reflects the
following trend. The PDs were stressed 3-fold.

The loss given default information is conservative at 55% and was left unchanged. The loans are secured and the recovery of
the collateral, form part of the model assessment and assumptions. In the model a 50% haircut is applied to reduce values,
increasing the required provisions. The model considers economic variables such as property prices and interest rates. The
decline in interest rates was ignored for the purpose of the provision. Usually such a decrease would improve consumer credit
and the ability of customers to repay their debt but given the other factors such as the economic shutdown and job losses this
was ignored. Property values usually would be considered and a growth factor would be applied to the collateral. For 2020 this
was not done given the uncertainty in the market. Instead, a 5% decline in property values was considered for the next 12
months and thereafter a 2% increase was applied for 12 months and a 3% factor thereafter.
Scenario Probability 2020

Upside 20% -10,2%

Base 50% -11,7%

Downturn 30% -13,2%

22



T UHF INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T UHF INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021108 109

T UHF21 NPC (REGIS TRATION NUMBER 1993/000217/08)
ANNUAL FINANCIAL S TATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR END ED 31 MARCH 2021

T UHF21 NPC (REGIS TRATION NUMBER 1993/000217/08)
ANNUAL FINANCIAL S TATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR END ED 31 MARCH 2021

Accounting Policies Accounting PoliciesTUHF21 NPC
(Registration number 1993/000217/08)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.6 Investment property

Investment property is land and buildings held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes, or for sale in the ordinary course of business.

Investment property is initially measured at cost and subsequently at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
and loss. If the fair value of investment property cannot be measured reliably without undue cost or effort, then it is measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment.

The cost of investment property comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs incurred to bring the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an investment property and costs incurred subsequently to add to,
replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of investment property, the
carrying amount of the replaced item is derecognised.

The fair value is determined annually by an external valuator derived from current market prices of comparable real estate.

1.7 Equipment

Equipment is tangible assets which the group holds for its own use or for rental to others and which are expected to be used for
more than one year.

An item of equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the group, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition or
construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of equipment are capitalised if it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the group and the cost can be measured
reliably. Day to day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. Depreciation is charged
to write off the asset's carrying amount over its estimated useful life, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which the
asset's economic benefits are consumed by the group. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset
is classified as held for sale or derecognised.

The useful lives of items of equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item Depreciation method Average useful life

Office furniture and equipment Straight line 20% - 33.33% per annum
Computer hardware and telephones Straight line 25% per annum

The useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ
from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of another
asset.

Impairment tests are performed on equipment when there is an indicator that they may be impaired. When the carrying amount
of an item of equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.

An item of equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its continued use
or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of equipment, determined as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item, is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised.
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1.4 Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

1.4.3  Expected credit losses (ECL's) on loans to group companies

TUHF21 NPC Group

In respect of the ECL’s for loans to group companies in the non-performing category we reported ECL’s of R- (2020:R600 169).

In respect of the ECL’s for loans to group companies in the performing category we reported ECL’s of R414 319
(2020:R154 620).

Total expected credit losses, Stage 1, 2 and 3 combined reported are: R414 319 (2020:R754 789). 

In respect of the ECL's for loans to group companies, the weighted average of the downturn, base case and upturn scenario is
as follows.

2021 2020

Downturn R525 169 R981 225

Base case R441 319 R754 789

Upturn R414 840 R603 831

TUHF21 NPC Company

In respect of the ECL’s for loans to group companies in the non-performing category we reported ECL’s of R- (2020:R-).

In respect of the ECL’s for loans to group companies in the performing category we reported ECL’s of R4 201 412
(2020:R3 526 273).

Total expected credit losses, Stage 1, 2 and 3 combined reported are: R4 201 412 (2020:R3 526 273). 

In respect of the ECL's for loans to group companies, the weighted average of the downturn, base case and upturn scenario is
as follows.

2021 2020

Downturn R5 098 542 R4 544 464

Base case R4 201 412 R3 526 273

Upturn R3 930 421 R3 143 979

1.4.4  Expected credit losses (ECL's) on loans to related parties

TUHF21 NPC Group

In respect of the ECL’s for loans to related parties in the non-performing category we reported ECL’s of R4 067 067 (2020
:R189 777).

In respect of the ECL’s for loans to related parties in the performing category we reported ECL’s of R- (2020: R54 336).

Total expected credit losses, Stage 1, 2 and 3 combined reported are: R4 067 067 (2020: R244 113).

In respect of the ECL’s loans to related parties, the weighted average of the downturn, base case and upturn scenario is as
follows.

2021 2020

Downturn R4 067 067 R317 347

Base case R4 067 067 R244 113

Upturn R3 823 043 R195 290

1.5 Properties in possession

Properties in possession are properties acquired by the group which were previously held as collateral for underlying lending
arrangements that, subsequent to origination, have defaulted. The properties are initially recognised at cost and are
subsequently measured at the lower of cost and its net realisable value. Any subsequent write-down in the value of the
acquired properties is recognised as an operating expense. Any subsequent increases in the net realisable value, to the extent
that it does not exceed its original cost, are also recognised within operating expenses.
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1.9 Financial instruments (continued)

Loans to group companies and related parties, loans to managers and employees, and loans and advances are subsequently
classified at amortised cost.

They have been classified in this manner because the contractual terms of these loans give rise, on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the group's business model is to
collect the contractual cash flows on these loans.

Application of the effective interest rate method

Interest income is calculated using the effective interest method, and is included in profit or loss in interest income (note
26&33).

The application of the effective interest method to calculate interest income on a loan receivable is dependent on the credit risk
of the loan as follows:

 The effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the loan, provided the loan is not credit
impaired. The gross carrying amount is the amortised cost before adjusting for a loss allowance.

 If a loan was not purchased or originally credit-impaired, but it has subsequently become credit-impaired, then the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost of the loan in the determination of interest.  If, in subsequent
periods, the loan is no longer credit impaired, then the interest calculation reverts to applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount.

 Raising fees that are integral to the to the effective interest rate are capitalised to the value of the loan and are
amortised to profit or loss and other comprehensive income over the expected life of the loan using the effective
interest rate method.

 Other fees earned, such as penalty fees on late payment of instalments and early settlement penalty amounts,
accrue to the company.

Impairment

IFRS 9 Three Stage Model

Staging ECL - Measurement

Stage 1 Loans and advances that are not credit
impaired on initial recognition are
classified in "Stage 1" and have their
credit risk continuously monitored by the
company.

Loans and advances in Stage 1 have
their ECL measured based on an amount
equal to the portion of 12 months
expected credit losses that result from
default events possible within the next 12
months.

Stage 2 If a significant increase in credit risk
('SICR') since initial recognition is
identified, the loans and advances are
moved to "Stage 2" but are not yet
deemed to be credit-impaired.

Loans in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL
measured based on expected credit
losses on a lifetime basis.

Stage 3 If the loan is in default, the financial
instrument is then moved to "Stage 3".

Forward looking information A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward-looking information.

Significant increase in credit risk SICR- is determined through a watchlist process whereby financial and project
performance of the counterparties is discussed. In addition, the status of the
construction of ongoing projects is taken into account as well as other ad hoc
indicators.

IFRS 9 outlines a three-stage model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition and is
summarised as follows:

 A financial instrument that is not credit impaired on initial recognition is classified in "Stage 1" and has its credit risk

continuously monitored by the company.

 If a significant increase in credit risk ('SICR') since initial recognition is identified, the financial instruments is moved to

"Stage 2" but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.
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1.8 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised when:
 it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and
 the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:
 it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.
 there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.
 there is an ability to use or sell it.
 it will generate probable future economic benefits.
 there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset.
 the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no foreseeable
limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation is not provided for these
intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be
impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an indicator that
the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying amount is amortised over
its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised as
intangible assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis as follows:

Item Useful life
Computer software 20% per annum

1.9 Financial instruments

Financial instruments held by the group are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

IFRS 9 introduces requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities as well as accounting
requirements for impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on:

 the entity's business model for managing the asset; and

 the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the entity classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement categories:
 Amortised cost. This category applies only when the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified

dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on principal, and where the instrument is held
under a business model whose objective is met by holding the instrument to collect contractual cash flows; or

 Fair value through profit or loss. This classification automatically applies to all debt instruments which do not qualify
as at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income.
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1.9 Financial instruments (continued)

Definitions

SICR:

 Qualitative criteria: SICR is primarily determined through the watchlist process whereby the financial performance of

the counterparties are discussed. In addition, the status of the construction of ongoing projects is taken into account

and as well as qualitative factors such as financial distress, significant change in collateral value or significant adverse

changes in business, financial or economic status.

 A backstop is applied and the financial instrument considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk if

the borrower is more than 30 days past due on its contractual payments.

 The Group has not used the low credit risk exemption for any financial instruments in the year ended 31 March 2021.

 The assessment of SICR incorporates forward looking information (see below) and is performed annually for all loans.

DEFAULT:

The definition of default, which triggers the credit impaired classification (stage 3), is based on the group's internal credit risk
management approach and definitions and occurs at the earlier of:

1. In the Group's view, the counterparty is considered to be unlikely to pay amounts due on the due date or shortly
thereafter without recourse to actions such as the realisation of security; or

2. When the counterparty is past due for more than 90 days. The Group has not rebutted IFRS 9's 90 days past due
rebuttable presumption.

WRITE-OFF POLICY:

An impaired loan is written off once all reasonable attempts at collection have been made and there is no material economic
benefit expected from attempting to recover the balance outstanding. The following criteria must be met before a financial asset
can be written off:

 at the point of write-off, the financial asset is fully impaired (i.e. 100% allowance) with no reasonable expectations of

recovery of the asset, or a portion thereof. As an exception to the above requirements, where the exposure is secured

(or for collateralised structures), the impaired loan can only be written off once the collateral has been realised. Post

realisation of the collateral, at the point of write-off any excess amounts to be written off will be recognised in the

income statement under Gains (losses) of derecognised financial assets.

CURING:

Continuous assessment is required to determine whether the conditions that led to a financial asset being considered to be
credit impaired (i.e. stage 3) still exist.

Qualitative factors include compliance with covenants and compliance with existing financial asset terms and conditions.

Where it has been determined that a financial asset no longer meets the criteria for SICR, the financial asset will be moved
from stage 2 (lifetime expected credit loss model) back to stage 1 (12-month expected credit loss model) prospectively.

When it has been determined that the financial asset no longer meets the classification for stage 3 and all arrears are current,
the financial asset will move from stage 3 to stage 2 or stage 1.

Loans to (from) group companies

These loans are recognised initially at fair value plus direct transaction costs. Subsequently these loans are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts.

29

TUHF21 NPC
(Registration number 1993/000217/08)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Accounting Policies

1.9 Financial instruments (continued)

 If the financial instrument is in default, the financial instrument is then moved to "Stage 3".

 Financial Instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured based on an amount equal to the portion of 12 months

expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months.

 Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis.

 A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-looking

information.

Measuring ECL - Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

Expected credit losses are the discounted product of the probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given
default (LGD), defined as follows:

 PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation either over the next 12 months (12M

PD), or over the remaining lifetime (lifetime PD) of the obligation.

 EAD is based on the amounts the company expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12 months (12M

EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (lifetime EAD).

 LGD represents the company's expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by type of

counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit support.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for each individual exposure.

These three components are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival, (i.e., the exposure has not prepaid
or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates the ECL for each future month, which is then discounted back to
the reporting date and summed.

The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturing profile to the current 12M PD. The maturity profile looks at how defaults
develop on a portfolio from the point of initial recognition throughout the lifetime of the loans.

The maturity profile is based on historical observed data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio and
credit grade band. This is supported by historical analysis.

The 12-month and Lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile. For amortising products and bullet
repayment loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower over a 12 month of lifetime basis. This will
also be adjusted for any expected overpayments made by a borrower. Early repayment/refinance assumptions are also
incorporated into the calculation.

These assumptions vary by product type and current limit utilisation band, based on an analysis of the company's recent
default data.

The 12-month and Lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact the recoveries made post default and this
is based on collateral type and projected collateral values, historical discounts to market/book values due to forced sales, time
to repossession and recovery costs incurred.

Forward-looking economic information such as the gross domestic product (GDP) are included in determining the 12-month
and Lifetime PD, EAD and LGD. Forward- looking economic information such as property prices are included in the
determining of the 12-month LGD.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation - such as how the maturity profile of the PDs and how the collateral values
change etc. - are monitored and reviewed on an annual basis.
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1.10 Expected credit losses on loans to group companies and related parties

This relates to the intercompany expected credit losses raised on the loans granted between companies in the group. Interest
is charged at the contracted interest rate that is applicable to the relevant agreement. 

The methods for calculating Expected Credit Losses for each financial asset type depends on the underlying collateral.
Sometimes several techniques and models may be used within a single asset class. Calculation methods and models may
differ from company to company based on the types of assets in each category. 

Staging

The ECL’s applied is measured on an amount equal to the portion of 12 month ECL that result from default events possible
within 12 months.

Where there has been a significant increase in credit risk, a loan is regarded as being in Stage 2 and a lifetime ECL is applied.

If a loan is credit impaired, it is regarded as being Stage 3 and a lifetime ECL is applied. No interest should be accrued on the
loan.

Loans repayable on demand 

Where a loan is repayable on demand, an assessment is made of the debtor’s ability to repay if demand for immediate
repayment was made. It is assumed that the risk is negligible and an appropriate ECL was raised. If, however, there are
insufficient cash resources, the term of a loan is estimated by assessing how long it will take to repay in the normal course of
business with reference to the cash flow of the debtor entity. The cash flow is estimated using the most recent financial year’s
financial statements or budgeted forecasts. Management uses a Debt Service Cover ratio calculation to estimate the available
cash flow and assume that this can be used to repay the loan. Where the cash flow is negative or very low, management
assume a repayment period based on management’s strategic plans for the business to generate sufficient cash flows to repay
the loans, which is typically 2 years.

Loans with no fixed terms of repayment 

Loans with no fixed terms of repayment have been treated as repayable on demand regardless of the stated intention of
management regarding repayment of the loan.

Accounting for Derivatives

Classification

Non-hedging derivatives are classified as mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

The accounting for derivatives strategy will require the company to reduce any basis risk exposure on interest rate risk. The
company loans and advances earn interest on the basis of the prevailing prime interest rate.

The group funds itself in the capital markets by means of structured finance notes subject to the 3-month Jibar rate. This
creates mismatch between assets and liabilities priced according to different benchmark rates. Accordingly, an interest rate
swap has been entered into with Standard Bank to swap the underlying principal asset cashflows with the 3-month Jibar rate. 

The reasoning behind the accounting for derivatives correlates strongly to the underlying rating action taken by the rating
agency. The structure risk would have been higher had the prime/Jibar swap not been concluded. 

Derivatives held by the group which are not in designated hedging relationships, include forward exchange contracts and
interests rate swaps. 

A swap between TUHF Limited and Urban Ubomi 1 (RF) Limited ensures that the structure pricing benefit is retained and that
the overall group risk objective is achieved ensuring that the overall derivative impact is neutral. 

Recognition and measurement

Derivatives are recognised when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. They are
measured, at initial recognition and subsequently, at fair value. Transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
of the swaps are measured on a monthly basis applying the mark to market method. 
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1.9 Financial instruments (continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired or incurred in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers and service providers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents and money market assets

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
are subject to insignificant risk in changing value. Cash and cash equivalents are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Money market assets and cash held in trust are disclosed separately.

Cash held in trust are funds deposited into the Group’s attorneys’ trust account to facilitate the issue of purchase guarantees
and payment of the purchase price to the property seller of the bond and transfer registration. Cash and cash equivalents held
in trust are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include money market assets as these are short
term and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash and cash equivalents and money market assets are regarded as having a low probability of default and therefore the
related expected credit loss is not significant.

Mortgage-backed securities

Variable-rate notes are classified as financial liabilities and measured at amortised cost.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired, or
where the group has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows on the financial asset such that it has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset. Any interest in the transferred financial assets that is
created or retained by the group is recognised as a separate asset or liability. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
financial liabilities' obligation is extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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1.12 Leases (IFRS 16) (continued)

Group as lessee

A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset are recognised at the lease commencement date, for all lease
agreements for which the group is a lessee.

The various lease and non-lease components of contracts containing leases are accounted for separately, with consideration
being allocated to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone prices of the lease components and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components (where non-lease components exist).

Details of leasing arrangements where the group is a lessee are presented in note 18 Leases (group as lessee).

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rates was determined based on a rate that the
group can borrow fund for a similar amount to the lease payments.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:
 fixed lease payments

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability (or right-of-use
asset). The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period incurred and are included in operating expenses
(note 31).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made. Interest charged on the lease
liability is included in interest expense (note 27).

In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to
exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination options) are
only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). The group considers
historical lease durations, cost and business disruption to relocate business premises to assess if the lease term is reasonably
certain to be extended (or not terminated). The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in
circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and that is within the control of the group. IFRS 16 introduced additional
guidance in determining reasonable certainty when assessing lease terms.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line item on the Statement of Financial Position.

The right-of-use assets is initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term. Depreciation starts at the commencement date of
a lease and is recognised in profit or loss.

Statement of cash flows

The group has classified:
 Cash payments for the principal portion of lease payments as financing activities;
 Cash payments for the interest portion as operating activities; and 
 Short-term lease payments and variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability within

operating activities.

1.13 Impairment of assets (non-financial)

The group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the group also:
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1.10  Expected credit losses on loans to group companies and related parties (continued)

Fair value gains or losses are included in other operating gains (losses) (note 30). Details of the valuation policies and
processes are presented in note 30.

1.11 Taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect
of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered
from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither
accounting profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting
profit nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to the
extent that the tax arises from:

 a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income, or
 a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged,
in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.12 Leases (IFRS 16)

The group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.

A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

In order to assess whether a contract is, or contains a lease, management determine whether the asset under consideration is
"identified", which means that the asset is either explicitly or implicitly specified in the contract and that the supplier does not
have a substantial right of substitution throughout the period of use. Once management has concluded that the contract deals
with an identified asset, the right to control the use thereof is considered. To this end, control over the use of an identified asset
only exists when the group has the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset as well as the
right to direct the use of the asset.
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1.16 Share based payments (IFRS 2) (continued)

When the share awards are to be vested, TUHF Holdings Limited, issues new shares. The shares are purchased from TUHF
Holdings Limited at the ruling net asset value through intercompany loan account and granted to the employees for no
consideration. The actual consideration is compared to the amount provided over the vesting period and any adjustment is
made where appropriate. This is recorded in the investment in holding company account.

Where the conditional share plan share award requires equity to be issued the impact is disclosed in non distributable
reserves.

1.17 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the
annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service), are recognised in the period in which the employee
renders the related service.

The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

The accruals have been calculated at undiscounted amounts based on current wage and salary rates.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a retirement plan under which the group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The group
has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

For defined contribution plans, the group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been
paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

1.18 Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable for
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and value added tax.

Revenue comprises interest income and non-interest income.

Interest income

Interest income and expenses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income using the
effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument, or when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset of financial liability. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument (e.g. prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised equally over the period of the lease taking into consideration the clauses affecting the rental
charge.

Management fee income

Management fee income earned from the provision of management services is recognised in the accounting period in which
the services are rendered, with reference to the stage of completion of the service.
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1.13 Impairment of assets (non-financial) (continued)
 tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment

annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed during the
annual period and at the same time every period.

 tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to 
which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for 
assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts 
of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation 
increase.

1.14 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities.

Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as 'share capital' in equity. Any amounts received from the issue of 
shares in excess of par value is classified as 'share premium' in equity. Dividends are recognised as a liability in the group in 
which they are declared.

1.15 Non-distributable reserve

The group receives grant funds for the exclusive purpose of lending to its customers as per an agreement with National 
Treasury. These funds are combined with senior debt raised in the capital markets in a funding structure and represent equity 
in the funding structure. These funds are not repayable and meet the definition of equity per IAS 32. The funds must be 
accounted for and TUHF Limited is required to report on the development impact measures such as job creation and 
entrepreneur training. The funds can only be lent to customers for inner city renewal projects and the funds are not distributable 
as dividends and therefore have been classified as a non-distributable reserve.

1.16 Share based payments (IFRS 2)

TUHF Holdings Limited operates a conditional share plan, under which TUHF Limited receives services from employees as 
consideration for equity instruments. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the shares at 
grant date is recognised as an expense in TUHF Holdings Limited.

The total amount to be expensed with a corresponding increase in equity is determined by reference to the fair value of the 
shares granted.

Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of shares that are expected to vest. The total 
expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be 
satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the company revises its estimates of the number of shares that are expected to 
vest based on the non-market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the 
statement of comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial
year and that are relevant to its operations:

Definition of a business - Amendments to IFRS 3

The amendment:
 confirmed that a business must include inputs and a processes, and clarified that the process must be substantive

and that the inputs and process must together significantly contribute to creating outputs.
 narrowed the definitions of a business by focusing the definition of outputs on goods and services provided to

customers and other income from ordinary activities, rather than on providing dividends or other economic benefits
directly to investors or lowering costs; and

 added a test that makes it easier to conclude that a company has acquired a group of assets, rather than a
business, if the value of the assets acquired is substantially all concentrated in a single asset or group of similar
assets.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2020.

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2021 annual financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure initiative

The amendment clarify and align the definition of ‘material’ and provide guidance to help improve consistency in the application
of that concept whenever it is used in IFRS Standards.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2020.

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2021 annual financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Disclosure initiative

The amendment clarify and align the definition of ‘material’ and provide guidance to help improve consistency in the application
of that concept whenever it is used in IFRS Standards.

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2020.

The group has adopted the amendment for the first time in the 2021 annual financial statements.

The impact of the amendment is not material.

2.2 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are
mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2021 or later periods:

Standard/ Interpretation: Effective date:
Years beginning on or
after

Expected impact:

 Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture

01 January 2099 Unlikely there will be a
material impact

 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current -
Amendment to IAS 1

01 January 2023 Unlikely there will be a
material impact
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1.18 Revenue (continued)

Bad debts recovered

Recoveries of financial assets previously written-off are recognised as bad debts recovered which is shown as a deduction
from expected credit losses expense.

Sundry income

Sundry income includes penalty income on outstanding instalment and early repayment settlement fee.

Dividends received

Dividends income includes dividends paid from unlisted investments and by group companies. Dividends are recognised when
the entity’s right to receive payment is established, it is probable the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the amount
can be measured reliably.

Fair value gains

Fair value gains includes gains on the revaluation of buildings and it is accounted for in other operating gains (losses).

Impairment of goodwill

Impairment of goodwill is recognised when goodwill's carrying value on financial statements exceeds its fair value and it is
accounted for in other operating gains (losses).

Bargain purchase

Bargain purchase is recognised during business combination when the assets are acquired at an amount that is less than their
fair market value.

1.19 Unlisted investments

Unlisted investments comprise the equity investment in associated organisations held to earn dividend income and/or for
capital appreciation. Unlisted investments are carried at the fair values are determined by reference to the net asset values of
the respective entities.

Changes in the fair value of investments are recognised in the statement of comprehensive incomes as investment surpluses.

1.20 Segmental reporting

The executive committee headed by the CEO, has been identified by the group as the chief operating decision maker who is
responsible for assessing the performance and allocation of resources of the group. Operating segments are reported in a
manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. 

The identification of reportable segments are determined based on a consideration of products and services, organisational
structures, geographical areas, economic and regulatory environments and the separable nature of activities or conversely
inherent inter-connectedness and whether these meet the criteria for aggregation. 

The revenue from one single customer does not exceed 10% of the group's revenues in 2021 and in 2020. The business sells
a single product, 15 year mortgage loan facility. Management assesses information relating to the performance of the single
segment on multiple levels and from multiple perspectives. All elements are regarded as inter-connected and as such, no part
of the business is regarded as separable from the rest.
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Liquidity risk

The group funds property loans through a combination of bilateral facilities, listed issuances, and off-balance sheet
securitisation structures.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group is unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due and to replace funds when
they are withdrawn, the consequences of which may be the failure to meet obligations to repay commitments to funders.

The board is responsible for the management of the liquidity risk of the group. The function of managing liquidity risk is
executed through the group’s Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO), a sub-committee of the board. Prudent management of
liquidity contributes to sound liquidity risk management.

The key focus in managing this risk is the use of a cash flow model that monitors cash flows in the short term (12 months),
ensuring that the group has adequate funding for repayments on lenders obligations as they become due, ongoing operational
costs and disbursements of commitments to borrowers. Furthermore, the group performs a long term (5 years) financial
forecast annually to manage and forecast cash flow requirements and compliance with covenants.

The group has developed and implemented a treasury management reporting system with full assets and liability management
functionality. The more detailed treasury and risk management processes are important for the group in developing and
enhancing the group funding strategy.

The board is responsible for the management of the liquidity risk of the group, but they have delegated this responsibility to the
chief financial officer. Prudent management of liquidity contributes to sound liquidity risk management. The key focus in
managing this risk is the use of a cash flow model that monitors loan and funders cashflows for a 12-month window period. A
group 5-year financial forecast is performed annually to review cash flow requirements and compliance with covenants.

The group monitors the interest bearing liabilities in the current period and has managed the amount down from prior years.
The flexibility in the funding facilities affords management more in reducing such exposures. The source of funds may be
accessed through the movement of assets to a warehouse, new liquidity, or prepayments.

As at 31 March 2021, TUHF Limited breached the loans with arrears and cost to income ratio covenants of certain funder loan
agreements. TUHF Limited has received written condonation from all affected funders. The table below analyses the group and
company’s financial liabilities at the statement of financial position date to the contractual maturity date.

At 31 March 2021 - Group Less than 1
year

1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total interest Carrying value

Trade and other payables 57 172 054 - - - 57 172 054
Interest bearing liabilities 772 070 640 2 050 648 989 1 474 035 829 (765 422 306) 3 531 333 152

829 242 694 2 050 648 989 1 474 035 829 (765 422 306) 3 588 505 206

The maturity analysis below reflects the repayments based on the amounts as if they will become due and payable within the
next 12 months:

At 31 March 2020 - Group (IFRS
Compliant Maturity)

Less than 1
year

1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total interest Carrying value

Related parties - - - - -
Trade and other payables 25 438 991 - - - 25 438 991
Interest bearing liabilities 1 723 633 098 1 757 442 043 752 674 116 (933 551 032) 3 300 198 225

1 749 072 089 1 757 442 043 752 674 116 (933 551 032) 3 325 637 216

This maturity analysis below reflects the repayments based on expected cash flows, amusing that the funders do not demand
repayment in the next 12 months. Included in the table below the contractual maturity (R525 079 176) is recorded for TUHF
Urban finance (RF) Limited financial liabilities in the bucket 1-5 years. It is the intention that in 2025 this structure will come to
an end and the financial liabilities will be settled through external funding.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)
 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 01 January 2023 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020:

Amendments to IFRS 1
01 January 2022 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 Reference to the Conceptual Framework: Amendments to

IFRS 3
01 January 2022 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020:

Amendments to IFRS 9
01 January 2022 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended

Use: Amendments to IAS 16
01 January 2022 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract:

Amendments to IAS 37
01 January 2022 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020:

Amendments to IAS 41
01 January 2022 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments

to IFRS 4
01 January 2021 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments

to IFRS 7
01 January 2021 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments

to IFRS 9
01 January 2021 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments

to IFRS 16
01 January 2021 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2: Amendments

to IAS 39
01 January 2021 Unlikely there will be a

material impact
 COVID-19 - Related Rent Concessions - Amendment to

IFRS 16
01 June 2020 Unlikely there will be a

material impact

3. Risk management

Capital risk management

The group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for the shareholder and benefits for the other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to the shareholder,
return capital to the shareholder, issue new shares  or sell assets to reduce debt.

The group monitors capital on the gearing ratio basis together with a debt service cover ratio. The capital management
function is governed primarily by management level subcommittees that oversees the risks associated with capital
management, namely the group asset and liability committee (ALCO). The principal governance documents are the capital
management governance framework and the risk framework.

Financial risk management

Financial risks are identified and managed on a group basis. These risks are identified in the risk matrix which is reported to
the board.

The responsibility for risk management resides at all levels, from members of the board to individuals throughout the group.
Overall risk management policies and risk appetite are established on a comprehensive, organisation wide basis by senior
management and, reviewed with and where appropriate, approved by the board of directors.

There has been no change in how the group assesses or manages its risks from the previous year, but the group has
enhanced the risk management process by adopting a risk management framework that was approved by the board in May
2020. In terms of the framework, risks are identified both from within the organization by designated risk champions and by
management through executive committee.

The main risks managed by the risk committee as described below include credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and
interest rate risk.
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Liquidity mismatch - Group 2020 (Expected Cashflow) Less than 1
year

1 to 5 years Over 5 years Carrying value

Gross advances
TUHF Limited 145 281 096 613 078 352 1 864 326 581 2 622 686 029
TUHF Urban Finance (RF) Limited 34 276 098 174 718 316 417 961 429 626 955 843
Vuselela Warehouse SPV (RF) Proprietary Limited 20 389 605 110 790 681 303 010 412 434 190 698
TUHF Bridge Proprietary Limited 2 184 319 - - 2 184 319
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited 4 420 045 19 731 748 18 718 032 42 869 825
uMastandi Proprietary Limited 428 728 2 687 373 15 702 641 18 818 742
TUHF Properties Proprietary Limited 747 671 2 258 085 - 3 005 756

207 727 562 923 264 555 2 619 719 095 3 750 711 212

Interest bearing liabilities Less than 1
year

1 to 5 years Over 5 years Carrying value

TUHF Limited 463 005 822 1 393 644 249 400 552 059 2 257 202 130
TUHF Urban Finance (RF) Limited 31 256 247 125 024 989 437 587 462 593 868 698
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited - - 388 292 203 388 292 203
TUHF Holdings Limited - 36 704 797 - 36 704 797
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited 13 712 876 5 374 641 5 042 880 24 130 397

507 974 945 1 560 748 676 1 231 474 604 3 300 198 225

Liquidity mismatch (300 247 383) (637 484 121) 1 388 244 491 450 512 987

The liquidity mismatch pertaining to the period up to five years after reporting date will be managed by refinancing interest
bearing liabilities. Refer to note 8 for the maturity analysis relating to advances.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk: the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.

The company is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on both loan and advances and interest bearing liabilities that are
linked to the prime interest rate or JIBAR.

The market risk exposure relates to the potential adverse effect of interest rate movements on net interest income.

Where clients request fixed rates applicable to loans, the interest rate risk is mitigated by management entering into an
interest rate swap contract to swap the fixed interest rate for a floating interest rate. Currently no swap contracts are in
place as no fixed rate loans have been contracted with clients. In negotiating a swap contract where relevant, the company
ensures that no interest rate risk is taken on.

At 31 March 2021, if interest rates on net borrowings and advances had been 1% higher with all other variables held
constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have been R 3 188 036 (2020: R 4 317 099) higher, mainly as a result of higher
net interest paid on variable rate borrowings and advances. If interest rates on net borrowings and advances had been 1%
lower with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year would have been R 3 188 036 (2020: R 4 317 099)
lower.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause financial loss for another party by failing to discharge
an obligation.

The credit risk that the group faces arises mainly from commercial loans and advances. The group has policies, procedures
and processes dedicated to controlling and monitoring risk from all such activities.

While credit exposures principally arise in loans and advances, the group can be exposed to other credit risks. These
exposures comprise loan commitments and contingent liabilities. The risks are managed in a similar way to those loans in
loans and advances, and are subject to the same or similar approval and governance processes.
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At 31 March 2020 - Group (Expected
Cashflow)

Less than 1
year

1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total interest Carrying value

Related parties - - - - -
Trade and other payables 25 438 991 - - - 25 438 991
Interest bearing liabilities 1 723 633 098 1 757 442 043 752 674 116 (933 551 032) 3 300 198 225

1 749 072 089 1 757 442 043 752 674 116 (933 551 032) 3 325 637 216

Liquidity mismatch - Group 2021 Less than 1
year

1 to 5 years Over 5 years Carrying value

Gross advances
TUHF Limited 103 885 730 550 326 891 1 363 801 293 2 018 013 914
TUHF Urban Finance (RF) Limited 40 109 070 189 263 943 352 628 893 582 001 906
Vuselela Warehouse SPV (RF) Proprietary Limited 19 483 427 115 371 132 290 526 639 425 381 198
Urban Ubomi 1 (RF) Limited 31 112 034 172 971 131 452 808 831 656 891 996
TUHF Bridge Proprietary Limited 5 497 776 - - 5 497 776
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited 5 854 842 27 273 098 16 404 763 49 532 703
uMastandi Proprietary Limited 1 019 371 5 818 462 26 547 699 33 385 532
TUHF Properties Proprietary Limited 844 849 2 121 843 - 2 966 692

207 807 099 1 063 146 500 2 502 718 118 3 773 671 717

Interest bearing liabilities Less than 1
year

1 to 5 years Over 5 years Carrying value

TUHF Limited 459 430 827 1 167 593 509 255 156 731 1 882 181 067
TUHF Urban Finance (RF) Limited 35 829 709 169 070 789 320 178 678 525 079 176
Vuselela Warehouse SPV (RF) Proprietary Limited 17 336 737 102 659 506 258 516 326 378 512 569
Urban Ubomi 1 (RF) Limited 28 688 141 159 495 200 421 680 560 609 863 901
TUHF Holdings Limited 38 515 745 56 032 345 - 94 548 090
TUHF Bridge Proprietary Limited - - - -
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited 14 441 210 5 363 922 5 032 822 24 837 954
Jeppestown Urban Trust - 16 310 395 - 16 310 395

594 242 369 1 676 525 666 1 260 565 117 3 531 333 152

Liquidity mismatch (386 435 270) (613 379 166) 1 242 153 001 242 338 565

Liquidity mismatch - Group 2020 (IFRS Compliant) Less than 1
year

1 to 5 years Over 5 years Carrying value

Gross advances
TUHF Limited 145 281 096 613 078 352 1 864 326 581 2 622 686 029
TUHF Urban Finance (RF) Limited 34 276 098 174 718 316 417 961 429 626 955 843
Vuselela Warehouse SPV (RF) Proprietary Limited 20 389 605 110 790 681 303 010 412 434 190 698
TUHF Bridge Proprietary Limited 2 184 319 - - 2 184 319
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited 4 420 045 19 731 748 18 718 032 42 869 825
uMastandi Proprietary Limited 428 728 2 687 373 15 702 641 18 818 742
TUHF Properties Proprietary Limited 747 671 2 258 085 - 3 005 756

207 727 562 923 264 555 2 619 719 095 3 750 711 212

Interest bearing liabilities Less than 1
year

1 to 5 years Over 5 years Carrying value

TUHF Limited 1 492 026 000 588 758 814 176 417 316 2 257 202 130
TUHF Urban Finance (RF) Limited 31 256 247 125 024 989 437 587 462 593 868 698
Vuselela Warehouse SPV (RF) Proprietary Limited - - 388 292 203 388 292 203
TUHF Holdings Limited - 36 704 797 - 36 704 797
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited 13 712 876 5 374 641 5 042 880 24 130 397

1 536 995 123 755 863 241 1 007 339 861 3 300 198 225

Liquidity mismatch (1 329 267 561) 167 401 314 1 612 379 234 450 512 987
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Company - 2021 Amortised
cost

Total

Cash and cash equivalents 8 062 838 8 062 838
Investment in subsidiaries 26 333 534 26 333 534
Loans to group companies and related parties 113 966 880 113 966 880

148 363 252 148 363 252

Company - 2020 Amortised
cost

Total

Cash and cash equivalents 77 833 77 833
Investment in subsidiaries 26 333 534 26 333 534
Loans to group companies and related parties 71 962 334 71 962 334

98 373 701 98 373 701

The table below sets out the reconciliation of financial assets that are measured at fair value based on inputs that are not
based on observable market data (level 2):

Fair value hierarchy levels 1 to 3 are based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities;

 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability

that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Group

Figures in Rand 2021 2020

Level 2 Derivatives
Opening balance - -
Addition 5 540 262 -
Fair value adjustments (recognised in profit or loss) 77 252 -

5 617 514 -

Urban Ubomi 1 (RF) Limited

Nominal value R562 412 460. The company has entered into a fair value interest rate cashflow swap with Standard Bank of
South Africa Limited. The derivative swaps prime interest rate cashflows for 3-month JIBAR Cashflow. The company
calculates the Mark to Market (MTM) on the swap on a monthly basis. The maturity date of the swap is 15 May 2043. The
swap is balance guaranteed so the nominal value will automatically go to zero on the coupon set-up date, currently is May
2026.
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The granting of credit is one of the group's major sources of income and is therefore one of the most significant risks, and
the group dedicates considerable resources to controlling it effectively. A system based loan workflow process is used to
facilitate the loan approval process. The granting of credit is considered on a project by project basis and various hurdle
rates are considered in terms of our loan and credit policy.

Credit risk consists mainly of advances, cash deposits, cash equivalents and money market assets. The group only
deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.

Advances comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing
basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control
assessed the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors.
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. 

The board took the decision in March 2020 that no new credit decisions will be taken until they are certain what the full
extent of the fallout is from Covid-19 on their clients, the capital market, the economy of South Africa and well as the world.
This decision is reviewed on a continuous basis. Credit was opened in September 2020. The Group's maximum exposure
to credit risk is as follows:

Group Company

Figures in Rand 2021 2020 2021 2020

Financial instrument
Cash and cash equivalents 148 833 031 107 995 979 8 062 838 77 833
Money market assets 11 294 777 4 308 934 - -
Loans and advances 3 773 671 717 3 750 711 212 - -
Loans to group companies and related parties 9 519 440 47 358 212 118 168 294 75 488 607
Investments in joint ventures 3 684 430 4 699 154 - -
Other assets excluding prepayments 36 151 867 4 099 385 - -
Unlisted investments 24 967 606 24 573 001 - -

4 008 122 868 3 943 745 877 126 231 132 75 566 440

4. Financial assets by category

Group - 2021 Amortised
cost

Fair value
through profit

or loss

Total

Cash and cash equivalents 148 833 031 - 148 833 031
Money market assets 11 294 777 - 11 294 777
Loans and advances 3 632 547 591 - 3 632 547 591
Other assets excluding prepayments 30 534 353 5 617 514 36 151 867
Unlisted investments - 24 967 606 24 967 606
Loans to group companies and related parties 5 011 053 - 5 011 053
Investment in joint venture 3 684 430 - 3 684 430

3 831 905 235 30 585 120 3 862 490 355

Group - 2020 Amortised
cost

Fair value
through profit

or loss

Total

Cash and cash equivalents 107 995 979 - 107 995 979
Money market assets 4 308 934 - 4 308 934
Loans and advances 3 606 105 278 - 3 606 105 278
Other assets excluding prepayments 4 099 385 - 4 099 385
Unlisted investments - 24 573 001 24 573 001
Loans to group companies and related parties 46 359 310 - 46 359 310
Investment in joint venture 4 699 154 - 4 699 154

3 773 568 040 24 573 001 3 798 141 041
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Figures in Rand 2021 2020 2021 2020

The table below sets out the reconciliation of financial liabilities that are measured at fair value based on inputs that are not
based on observable market data (level 2):

Level 2 Derivatives
Opening balance - -
Addition 7 197 083 -
Fair value adjustments (recognised in profit or loss) (180 061) -

7 017 022 -

TUHF Limited

Nominal value R562 412 460. The company has entered into a fair value interest rate cashflow swap with Standard Bank of
South Africa Limited. The derivative swaps prime 3- month Jibar cashflows for prime Cashflow. The company calculates the
Mark to Market (MTM) on the swap on a monthly basis. The maturity date of the swap is 15 May 2043. The swap is balance
guaranteed so the nominal value will automatically go to zero on the coupon set-up date, currently is May 2026.

Group - 2021 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial liabilities 7 017 022 3 511 999 888 3 519 016 910

Group - 2020 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial liabilities - 3 288 265 798 3 288 265 798

6. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand 11 674 17 190 - -
Current and call accounts 148 821 357 107 978 789 8 062 838 77 833

148 833 031 107 995 979 8 062 838 77 833

Composition of cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include total cash and money market assets.
The money market assets are subject to restrictions and are not available to the company or group unless the guarantees
are cancelled. All accounts are held at Standard Bank of South Africa Limited.

Cash and cash equivalents 148 833 031 107 995 979 8 062 838 77 833
Money market assets 11 294 777 4 308 934 - -

160 127 808 112 304 913 8 062 838 77 833

7. Money market assets

Deposits for payment guarantees 10 301 198 2 395 018 - -
Deposits pending property transfer registrations 993 579 1 913 916 - -

11 294 777 4 308 934 - -

8. Loans and advances

Loan and advances 3 773 671 717 3 750 711 212 - -
Deferred raising fee** (4 834 590) (19 772 549) - -
Expected credit losses (136 289 536) (124 833 385) - -

3 632 547 591 3 606 105 278 - -

** The current portion of the deferred raising fee is R3 791 911 (2020: R 10 360 377).
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The table below sets out the reconciliation of financial assets that are measured at fair value based on inputs that are not
based on observable market data (level 3):

Group

Figures in Rand 2021 2020

Level 3 unlisted investments
Opening balance 24 573 001 23 770 113
Fair value adjustments (recognised in profit or loss) 394 605 802 888

24 967 606 24 573 001

There were no reclassifications, or movements between levels during the current and prior period. 

The most pertinent information used to determine the fair value of the unlisted investment is the underlying net asset value
of the company. 

The carrying value of financial assets (loans and advances) carried at amortised cost approximates the fair value.

5. Financial liabilities by category

Group - 2021 Financial
liabilities at
amortised

cost

Financial
liabilities at
fair value

Total

Interest bearing liabilities 3 511 819 827 7 197 083 3 519 016 910
Trade and other liabilities 57 172 054 - 57 172 054

3 568 991 881 7 197 083 3 576 188 964

Group - 2020 Financial
liabilities at
amortised

cost

Total

Interest bearing liabilities 3 288 265 798 3 288 265 798
Trade and other liabilities 25 438 991 25 438 991

3 313 704 789 3 313 704 789

Company - 2021 Financial
liabilities at
amortised

cost

Total

Trade and other liabilities 14 230 292 14 230 292

Company - 2020 Financial
liabilities at
amortised

cost

Total

Trade and other liabilities 15 410 693 15 410 693
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8. Loans and advances (continued)

Group 2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Standard

monitoring
Special

monitoring
Default

Gross loans 3 103 974 071 253 860 475 392 876 665 3 750 711 211

Expected credit losses Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Opening balance at 01 April 2019 9 937 098 8 451 537 62 907 224 81 295 859
Transfers between stages 28 310 478 (4 120 448) (24 190 030) -

Transfer to/ (from) stage 1 (1 021 356) 64 683 956 673 -
Transfer to/ (from) stage 2 4 897 132 (5 711 514) 814 382 -
Transfer to/ (from) stage 3 24 434 702 1 526 383 (25 961 085) -

(released) (18 670 902) 22 740 835 40 809 760 44 879 693

ECL on new exposures raised (17 962 561) 22 740 835 47 208 093 51 986 367
Change in ECL due to derecognition (708 341) - (6 398 333) (7 106 674)

Interest income on stage 3 loans not recognised - - 7 964 248 7 964 248
Impaired accounts written off - - (9 306 415) (9 306 415)

Closing balance 19 576 674 27 071 924 78 184 787 124 833 385

1) Net impairments raised/(released) less recoveries of amounts written off in previous years equals income statement
impairment (refer credit impairment charges note).

2) The group's policy is to transfer opening balances based on the ECL stage at the end of the reporting period. Therefore
exposures can be transferred directly from stage 3 to stage 1 as the curing requirements would have been satisfied during
the reporting period and shown in the "Subsequent changes in ECL line". Furthermore, the expected credit loss recognised
on new exposures originated during the reporting period (which are not included in opening balances) are included within
the line "ECL" on new exposure raised" based on the exposures ECL stage as at the end of the reporting period.

Net Advances 3 084 397 397 226 788 551 314 691 878 3 625 877 826

Renegotiated terms

None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated in the last year. Funds receivable are first
applied to any past due amounts.

Credit quality of other financial assets

In order to ensure the optimal recovery of the underlying collateral property, management may take temporary possession
of an underlying property.

Group Company

Figures in Rand 2021 2020 2021 2020

Geographical analysis
Eastern Cape 230 223 521 205 285 274 - -
Free State 94 122 789 64 134 338 - -
Gauteng 2 448 744 493 2 677 609 183 - -
Kwazulu Natal 610 225 678 514 384 369 - -
Western Cape 390 355 236 289 298 048 - -

3 773 671 717 3 750 711 212 - -

Collateral held

The group follows the principle of registering a mortgage bond to the value of 120% of the loan facility amount. In addition, 
another 30% of the facility amount is provided for legal costs in the total bond registered. The amounts stated below are 
stated exclusive of the legal costs provided for in the registered mortgage bond.
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8. Loans and advances (continued)

Exposure to credit risk

Loans and advances inherently exposes the group to credit risk, being the risk that the group will incur financial loss if
counterparties fail to make payments as they fall due.

In order to mitigate the risk of financial loss from defaults, the group only deals with reputable counterparties with consistent
payment histories. Sufficient collateral or guarantees are also obtained in all cases. Each counterparty is analysed individually
for creditworthiness before terms and conditions are offered. The analysis involves making use of information submitted by the
counterparties as well as external bureau data (where available). Counterparty credit limits are in place and are reviewed and
approved by credit management committees. The exposure to credit risk and the creditworthiness of counterparties is
continuously monitored.

Group 2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Standard

monitoring
Special

monitoring
Default

Gross loans 3 322 376 898 122 540 545 328 754 274 3 773 671 717

Expected credit losses Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Opening balance 01 April 2020 19 576 674 27 071 924 78 184 787 124 833 385
Transfers between stages 35 788 260 (17 453 657) (18 334 603) -

Transfer to/ (from) stage 1 (304 527) 117 762 186 765 -
Transfer to/ (from) stage 2 14 954 453 (17 571 419) 2 616 966 -
Transfer to/ (from) stage 3 21 138 334 - (21 138 334) -

Net impairments raised/(released) (37 845 784) 148 321 73 091 433 35 393 970

ECL movement in the current year (31 369 965) 7 808 164 88 088 876 64 527 075
Subsequent changes in ECL - (15 719) (164 389) (180 108)
Change in ECL due to derecognition (6 475 819) (7 644 124) (14 833 054) (28 952 997)

Interest income on stage 3 loans not recognised - - (3 073 862) (3 073 862)
Impaired accounts written off - - (20 863 957) (20 863 957)

Closing balance 17 519 150 9 766 588 109 003 798 136 289 536

1) Net impairments raised/(released) less recoveries of amounts written off in previous years equals income statement
impairment (refer credit impairment charges note).

2) The group's policy is to transfer opening balances based on the ECL stage at the end of the reporting period. Therefore
exposures can be transferred directly from stage 3 to stage 1 as the curing requirements would have been satisfied during
the reporting period and shown in the "Subsequent changes in ECL line". Furthermore, the expected credit loss recognised
on new exposures originated during the reporting period (which are not included in opening balances) are included within
the line "ECL movement in the current year" based on the exposures ECL stage as at the end of the reporting period.

Net Advances 3 304 857 748 112 773 957 219 750 476 3 637 382 181
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Figures in Rand 2021 2020 2021 2020

11. Investment property

Group Cost /
Valuation

Carrying value

Investment property 297 623 481 297 623 481

Details of property

1. Erf 2762, 60 John Page Drive, Jeppestown, Johannesburg

2. Erf 2825, Milner House, Jeppestown, Johannesburg

3. Erf 2788, Catham, Jeppestown, Johannesburg

4. Portion 1 of Erf 646, Portion 1 of Erf 648, Remaining Extent of Erf 649, Remaining Extent of Erf  647, Remaining Extent of
Erf  654, Remaining Extent of Erf 651 and Remaining Extent of Erf  655, Karl House, Jeppestown, Johannesburg

5. Erf 2808, 28 Madison (Bjala Square), Johannesburg

6. Erven 495 & 496, 35 & 37 Jules Street, Johannesburg

7. Erf 246, 33 Madison, Johannesburg

8. Erf 640, Rodi Rose, Johannesburg

9. Erf 2805, 38 John Page drive, Johannesburg

10. Erf 41 and Erf 144 New centre Johannesburg (17 Roper)

11. Erf 336, Erf 337 Erf 339 and Erf 341, Jeppestown (Masana House)

12. Erf 175, Erven 180-183 Jeppestown, Johannesburg (33 Macyntire)

The properties listed above serve as collateral for the mortgage loans granted by TUHF Limited as per note 24.

Details of valuation

All revaluations for 2021 were performed by an independent valuer that is not connected to the companies and have
experience in the location and category of the investment property being revalued. The valuation was based on open market
value for existing use on a capitalised cash flow basis. The capitalisation rate used ranged between 10%-13% and is
determined from the market (i.e. the rate at which similar assets have traded recently), and is influenced in general by: rates of
return of similar properties, risk, obsolescence, inflation, market rental growth rates, rates of return on other investments, as
well as mortgage rates.

12. Loans to group companies and related parties

Subsidiaries*

TUHF Properties Proprietary Limited - - 3 531 864 3 238 316
TUHF Limited - - 14 464 589 15 534 176
uMastandi Proprietary Limited - - 36 437 933 27 174 048
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited - - 63 733 906 29 542 067
Loans to group companies ECL - - (4 201 412) (3 526 273)

- - 113 966 880 71 962 334
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8. Loans and advances (continued)

Value of collateral
Stage 1 6 749 391 514 6 373 172 799 - -
Stage 2 214 949 105 385 920 764 - -
Stage 3 388 758 499 596 259 898 - -
Deferred sale loans 23 226 068 39 763 603 - -
Equity finance second bond 43 179 256 51 977 061 - -

7 419 504 442 7 447 094 125 - -

9. Other assets

Financial instruments:
Trade receivables - 2 233 283 - -
Deposits 908 723 905 783 - -
Financial asset derivative 5 617 514 - - -
Interest on guarantee funds 102 894 231 643 - -
Other receivables 28 963 619 728 676 - -
VAT 559 117 - - -
Prepaid expenses 1 560 885 1 786 002 313 313

37 712 752 5 885 387 313 313

Amounts receivable are all current. No amounts are past due or impaired.

10. Properties in possession

Reconciliation of properties in possession - Group - 2021

Opening
balance

Total

Properties in possession 11 400 000 11 400 000

Reconciliation of properties in possession - Group - 2020

Opening
balance

Additions Total

Properties in possession - 11 400 000 11 400 000

Details of properties

1. Old Trafford, Erven 828-830 located at 24 Kruger street City and Suburban Johannesburg.

2. Philipps, Toys, Wellsid Court, Sections 1-8 of Sectional title scheme Toys Court & Sections 1-9 of Sectional title scheme
Philips Court & Sections 1,2,3,5,6,7,8 of Sectional title scheme Wellsid court. Located at 5,6&7 Sueltz Street Port
Elizabeth.
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Figures in Rand 2021 2020 2021 2020

12. Loans to group companies and related parties (continued)

Reconciliation of group related borrowings

46 359 310 31 975 185 71 962 334 40 281 770
221 127 10 174 300 45 147 886 49 126 467

4 562 482 5 208 727 484 904 1 411 335
- - (2 953 105) (15 330 965)

(441 319) (244 113) (4 201 412) (3 526 273)
(4 067 067) (754 789) - -

244 113 - 3 526 273 -
754 789 - - -

Loans to related parties
Opening balance
Advances 
Interest
Repayments
Loans to group companies ECL
Loans to related parties ECL
Add back prior year loans to group ECL
Add back prior year loans to related parties ECL 
Previous joint venture loans changed to loans to 
subsidiaries

(42 622 382) - - -

5 011 053 46 359 310 113 966 880 71 962 334

*All these loans have been classified as stage 2 in 2021 (2020: stage 2)

**All these loans have been classified as stage 1 in 2021 (2020: stage 1)

***This loan has been classified as stage 3 in 2021 (2020: stage 3)

13. Investments in subsidiaries

The group's principal subsidiaries are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of
ordinary shares that are held directly by the group, and the proportion of ownership interest held equals the voting rights
held by the group. The country of incorporation for all subsidiaries is South Africa.

The company owns 32,85% (2020: 32,85%) of TUHF Holdings Limited but exerts control through a voting pool agreement. 

Group

Name of company Carrying
amount 2021

Carrying
amount 2020

TUHF Holdings Limited (Subsidiary investment) 26 333 333 26 333 333
TUHF Properties Proprietary Limited (Short-term bridging finance) 100 100
Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited (Equity finance) 100 100
uMastandi Proprietary Limited (Short-term bridging finance) 1 1

26 333 534 26 333 534

14. Business combinations

During the financial year TUHF Equity Proprietary Limited acquired 100% control of two of its joint venture companies and a
related party of one of the joint ventures.

Silverkey Proprietary Limited

TUHF Equity bought the additional 50% ownership of Silverkey Proprietary Limited for R100 by way of a share sale agreement
in May 2020. The purpose of the purchase was to obtain full ownership of the investment property portfolio following a dispute
between the parties and a settlement arrangement that was reached. The investment in subsidiary is held at cost, consistent
with the group accounting policy. The 50% investment held under the equity accounted method was revalued at the date of
acquisition and de-recognised and the investment in subsidiary was brought in at the effective date. 
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12. Loans to group companies and related parties (continued)

Joint ventures

Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited**
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime plus 1.75%
and is payable in 2023.

- 22 195 982 - -

Silverkey Proprietary Limited***
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime plus 1.75%
and is payable 2023.

- 11 737 314 - -

Risk Prop Proprietary Limited**
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime plus 3% and
is payable in 2023.

2 659 527 2 399 878 - -

Pearl Property Investment Proprietary Limited**
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime plus 5% and
is payable in 2024.

2 792 845 2 470 887 - -

Loans to group companies ECL (441 319) (754 789) - -

5 011 053 38 049 272 - -

*All these loans have been classified as stage 1 in 2021 (2020: stage 2)

**All these loans have been classified as stage 2 in 2021 (2020: stage 2)

***This loan has been classified as stage 3 in 2021 (2020: stage 3)

Related parties

Bjala Investments Proprietary Limited (50% shareholder of
Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited)**
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime plus 2% and is
repayable in 2023.

- 4 842 748 - -

EGC Properties Proprietary Limited (50% shareholder and of
Silverkey Proprietary Limited)***
The loan is unsecured, bears interest at prime plus 2.5% and is
repayable in 2023.

4 067 067 3 711 403 - -

Loans to related parties ECL (4 067 067) (244 113) - -

- 8 310 038 - -

Total 5 011 053 46 359 310 113 966 880 71 962 334
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14. Business combinations (continued)

Jeppestown Urban Trust

As part of the settlement agreement reached between the shareholders of Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited, TUHF
Equity gained 100% control of the Jeppestown Urban Trust and became the new beneficiary of the Trust in January 2021. No
consideration was paid for the control. 

The acquisition of Jeppestown Urban Trust has been provisionally accounted for, as per the requirements of IFRS3: Business
Combinations. The recorded fair values of assets and liabilities at acquisition is therefore based on the available information as
at 31 March 2021. The total residential portfolios held at fair value is R139 million. The investment in the Trust is held at cost, in
line with the group accounting policy. A bargain gain on purchase of R15.38 million is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group as a result of the fair value of the net assets value acquired of R15.38 million exceeding the purchase
consideration of R nil. 

No rental income for the period February 2021 and March 2021 has been included for the properties due to the immateriality of
the information. 

Control of the property management of the portfolio was obtained in January 2021 and is being managed by TUHF Equity.

Valuation method used in determining the fair value of the Asset and Liabilities of company acquired. 

Assets: 

The fair value of the assets were calculated using independent external valuers that performed an independent valuation on the
buildings using the Income Capitalised Approach. 

This comparative approach considers income and expense data relating to the property being valued and estimates value
through a capitalisation process. Capitalisation relates income (usually a net income figure) and a defined value type by
converting an income amount into a value estimate. This process may consider direct relationships (known as capitalisation
rates), yield or discount rates (reflecting measures of return on investment). In general, the principal of substitution holds that
the income stream which produces the highest return commensurate with a given level of risk leads to the most probable value
figure. The capitalisation rate used ranged between 10%-13% and is determined from the market (i.e. the rate at which similar
assets have traded recently), and is influenced in general by: rates of return of similar properties, risk, obsolescence, inflation,
market rental growth rates, rates of return on other investments, as well as mortgage rates.

Liabilities: 

For Liabilities, the outstanding amount at the date of control was used as that is considered to be the fair value of the liability at
that given time.
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14. Business combinations (continued)

The acquisition of Silverkey has been provisionally accounted for, as per the requirements of IFRS 3: Business combinations.
Goodwill is therefore calculated based on draft accounting figures as at 1 May 2020. A bargain gain on purchase of R25 million
was recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the Group as a result of the fair value of the net assets value of R25
million exceeding the purchase consideration of R100. Three of the four buildings in this portfolio were completed during this
financial year and, subsequent to the financial year end, Management concluded a sale agreement for two of the buildings
namely Chatham house and Karl House in the portfolio.

Control of the property management of the portfolio was obtained in May 2020 and is being managed by TUHF Equity. 

Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited

TUHF Equity bought the additional 50% ownership of Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited in January 2021 for a
consideration of R50. The purchase was a result of a settlement agreement reached between the shareholders as a result of
the non- performance of the client and for the protection of the quality of the investment property portfolio held by the Better
Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited. The investment in subsidiary is held at cost, consistent with the group accounting policy.
The 50% investment held under the equity accounted method was revalued at the date of acquisition and de-recognised and
the investment in subsidiary was brought in at the effective date. 

The acquisition of Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited has been provisionally account for, as per the requirement of IFRS
3: Business Combinations. A goodwill amount of R19.03 million has therefore been recognised based on the available
information regarding the net assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2021. The fair value of assets acquired of R68 million was
less than fair value of the of liabilities of R87 million, as recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
Whilst management are confident that there is more value to be unlocked in the portfolio of this company in the coming years,
the goodwill has been impaired for the current year.

No rental income for the period February 2021 and March 2021 has been included for the properties due to the immateriality of
the information. 

Control of the property management of the portfolio was obtained in January 2021 and is being managed by TUHF Equity.
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14. Business combinations (continued)

**The impairment of goodwill in Better Urban Living 2 was a result of the lack of maintenance and the high percentage
vacancies in the investment portfolio.

Goodwill impairment testing 

Goodwill impairment occurs when the recognised goodwill associated with an acquisition is greater than its implied fair value.
In determining the goodwill TUHF Equity used external property valuation to ascertain the fair value of the assets for the
company's acquired. The fair value of the liabilities was the outstanding amount at the date of assessment and if the fair value
of the asset was less than the fair value of the liabilities, the full amount of goodwill was required to be impaired.

15. Investments in joint ventures

Joint ventures

The following table lists all of the joint ventures in the group:

Name of company %
ownership

interest 

%
ownership

interest 

Carrying
amount 

Carrying
amount 

2021 2020 2021 2020

Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited %- %50,00 - 2 279 727
Silverkey Proprietary Limited %- %50,00 - 100
Risk Prop Proprietary Limited %50,00 %50,00 3 683 930 2 409 147
Pearl Property Investment Proprietary Limited %50,00 %50,00 500 10 180

3 684 430 4 699 154

Aggregate amount of the group’s share of profit/ (loss) after tax
Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited (2 279 727) 2 278 727
Silverkey Proprietary Limited (100) -
Risk Prop Proprietary Limited 1 274 783 (553 134)
Pearl Property Investment Proprietary Limited (9 680) 9 680

Total (1 014 724) 1 735 273

(1) The company has purchased 50% of the share capital in Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited in February 2018 and a
shareholder's loan of R10.5 million has been advanced. A joint venture agreement has been signed for the development of the
investment property. The group gained control of 100% of Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited in the current year. See
note 14.

(2)The company has purchased 50% of the share capital in Silverkey Proprietary Limited in September 2018 and a
shareholder's loan of R9.6 million has been advanced. A joint venture agreement has been signed for the development of the
investment property. The group gained control of 100% of Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited in the current year. See
note 14.

(3) The company has purchased 50% of the share capital in Risk Prop Proprietary Limited in September 2018 and a
shareholder's loan of R2 million has been advanced. A joint venture agreement has been signed for the development of the
investment property.

(4) The company has purchased 50% of the share capital in Pearl Properties Investment Proprietary Limited in June 2019 and
a Shareholders loan of R2.2 million has been advanced. A joint venture agreement has been signed for the development of the
investment property.

The unrecognised losses on these joint ventures amount to R11.7 million (2020: R0) The increase from the prior year is as 
a result of the sale of an associate in the current year which had unrecognised losses.
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14. Business combinations (continued)

Name of Business acquired Nature of
Business

Effective date
of control

Interest
Acquired (%)

Purchase
Consideration

transferred 
(R)

Silverkey Proprietary Limited Property
Investment
held for rental
Income

May-20 %100 100

Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited Property
Investment
held for rental
Income

Jan-21 %100 50

Jeppestown Urban Trust Property
Investment
held for rental
Income

Jan-21 %100 -

Fair value of assets and Liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition Silverkey
Proprietary

Limited

Better Urban
Living 2

Proprietary
Limited

Jeppestown
Urban Trust

Assets
Investment properties 72 050 000 68 200 000 139 620 000
Other receivables 100 - -

72 050 100 68 200 000 139 620 000

Liabilities
Trade and other payable 2 063 516 6 921 956 17 934 230
Interest bearing debt 33 089 467 50 738 949 95 760 592
Shareholder loans 11 833 463 29 568 467 -
Other Liabilities 8 253 - 10 544 239

46 994 699 87 229 372 124 239 061

Net assets acquired 25 055 401 (19 029 372) 15 380 939

Total purchase consideration 100 50 -

Cash paid 100 50 -

(Goodwill)/ Bargain purchase* 25 055 301 (19 029 422) 15 380 939

*None of the goodwill arising on the acquisitions during the year is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Goodwill
Net carrying value at the beginning of the year - -
Net movement during the year - -
Net acquisition/ (disposals) of subsidiaries 19 029 422 -

Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited 19 029 422 -
- -

Impairments (19 029 422) -

Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited** (19 029 422) -

Re- classification to held for sale - -

Net carrying amount at the end of the year - -
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17. Equipment

Group 2021 2020

Cost Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value Cost Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying value

Office furniture and equipment 3 554 282 (2 971 141) 583 141 3 491 417 (2 565 993) 925 424
Computer hardware and
telephones

6 070 339 (4 795 775) 1 274 564 5 275 116 (4 272 193) 1 002 923

Total 9 624 621 (7 766 916) 1 857 705 8 766 533 (6 838 186) 1 928 347

Reconciliation of equipment - Group - 2021

Opening
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Office furniture and equipment 925 424 62 865 - (405 148) 583 141
Computer hardware and telephones 1 002 923 816 068 (5 201) (539 226) 1 274 564

1 928 347 878 933 (5 201) (944 374) 1 857 705

Reconciliation of equipment - Group - 2020

Opening
balance

Additions Disposals Depreciation Total

Office furniture and equipment 1 140 226 341 335 (956) (555 181) 925 424
Computer hardware and telephones 978 888 606 739 - (582 704) 1 002 923

2 119 114 948 074 (956) (1 137 885) 1 928 347
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16. Unlisted investments

Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss:
Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited 24 967 606 24 573 001 - -

24 967 606 24 573 001 - -

TUHF Limited holds 5% in Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited. The shares are held at fair value.

Fair value disclosures

Group - 2021 Carrying value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value
Investment in Urban Task Force
Proprietary Limited

24 967 606 - - 24 967 606 24 967 606

Group - 2020 Carrying value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value
Investment Urban Task Force Proprietary
Limited

24 573 001 - - 24 573 001 24 573 001

Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited is valued as a percentage of net asset value off of the latest available management
accounts of UrbanTask Force Proprietary Limited. Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited operates in the property rental
business and the investment properties in the statement of financial position are measured at fair value at year end.
Management is of the opinion that the net asset value represents fair value accurately as the investment properties are the
most significant assets on the Statement of Financial Position. Management has also reviewed independent and director's
valuations of the assets and liabilities of Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited and is comfortable that the net asset value is
within an acceptable range of these values. Independent valuations are obtained by the directors of Urban Task Force
Proprietary Limited and a capitalisation rate of 10% - 12% was considered a key assumption.

At 31 March 2021, if the capitalisation rate used to value the investment properties of Urban Task Force Proprietary Limited
had been 1% higher (downturn) or 1% lower (upturn) with all other variables held constant, the value of the unlisted investment
would be as follows:

2021 2020

Downturn R18 872 345 R18 521 562

Base Case R24 967 606 R24 573 001

Upturn R32 281 919 R31 834 728
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18. Leases (group as lessee) (continued)

Maturity analysis
Within one year 4 108 785 788 537 - -
Two to five years 15 694 033 8 087 555 - -
More than five years - - - -

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 March
2021

19 802 818 8 876 092 - -

Lease liabilities in the statement of financial
position at 31 March 2021
Non-current liabilities 13 271 171 5 752 338 - -
Current liabilities 2 774 359 3 475 310 - -

Total 16 045 530 9 227 648 - -

19. Intangible assets

Group 2021 2020

Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying value Cost /
Valuation

Accumulated
amortisation

Carrying value

Computer software 20 511 229 (15 406 771) 5 104 458 17 972 690 (13 187 656) 4 785 034

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group - 2021

Opening
balance

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 4 785 034 2 538 539 (2 219 115) 5 104 458

Reconciliation of intangible assets - Group - 2020

Opening
balance

Additions Amortisation Total

Computer software 5 204 194 1 521 299 (1 940 459) 4 785 034

20. Deferred tax

Deferred tax liability

Accelerated depreciation (1 429 248) (1 339 809) - -
Deferred and prepaid expenses (3 664 245) (3 842 237) (88) (88)
Fair value adjustment (3 704 424) (3 435 906) - -
IFRS 16 leases - (150 011) - -
Prior year consolidation error (647) - - -

Total deferred tax liability (8 798 564) (8 767 963) (88) (88)
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18. Leases (group as lessee)

Right-of-use assets

2021 Opening
balance

Adjustments Additions Modifications Depreciation Total

Office space (buildings) 8 258 342 (9 648) 224 522 9 958 480 (3 808 206) 14 623 490

2020 Opening
balance

Additions Disposal Depreciation Total

Office space (buildings) 11 136 982 762 777 - (3 641 417) 8 258 342

Lease liabilities

2021 Opening
balance

Adjustments Additions Modifications Payments Interest
expense

Total

Office space (buildings) 9 227 648 (19 565) 224 522 9 585 231 (4 497 243) 1 524 936 16 045 530

2020 Opening
balance

Additions Payments Interest
expense

Total

Office space (buildings) 11 857 005 762 775 (4 421 548) 1 029 416 9 227 648
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21. Non-distributable reserves (continued)

A grant agreement was entered into between TUHF21 NPC and Oppenheimer Generation Foundation to advance R 22.5 
million. R 15 million of the Grant will flow to uMaStandi to fund first-time township entrepreneurs and R 7.5 million to provide 
technical assistance. To date, the full R 22.5 million has been received. TUHF21  NPC has the unconditional right to avoid 
the repayment of these funds as of 31 March 2021.

Non-distributable reserve 157 499 759 157 499 759 - -
Grant received from National Treasury 63 124 511 35 541 651 63 124 511 35 541 651
Grant received from Oppenheimer 22 504 941 - 22 504 941 -

243 129 211 193 041 410 85 629 452 35 541 651

22. Trade and other payables

Financial instruments:
Trade payables 25 773 758 21 793 327 14 209 530 15 373 578
COJ Municipal Provision 29 196 180 - - -
Other payables 2 181 354 3 356 126 - -
Non-financial instruments:
VAT 20 762 289 538 20 762 37 115

57 172 054 25 438 991 14 230 292 15 410 693

The balance at year end is considered current.

23. Dividend payable

Opening balance - 10 319 959 - -
Dividends accrued - 59 886 - -
Dividends declared and paid - (10 319 959) - -

Closing balance - - - -

24. Financial liabilities

Held at amortised cost
Secured
National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited
The loan of R50 million from the National Housing
Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an interest rate
of prime minus 2%. Interest and capital are repaid over
the remaining term and will be repaid by September
2024.

15 708 590 17 564 720 - -

National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited
The loan of R50 million from the National Housing
Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an interest rate
of prime minus 2%. Interest and capital are repaid over
the remaining term and will be repaid by 30 November
2024.

26 332 360 28 061 776 - -

Development Bank of South Africa SOC Limited
The loan of R50 million from the Development Bank of
South Africa SOC Limited is at an interest rate of prime
minus 2%. Interest and capital are repaid over the
remaining term and will be repaid by September 2022.

9 076 456 11 949 590 - -
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20. Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax asset

Provision for bonus 349 285 321 824 - -
Loan impairments 4 057 412 4 300 020 - -
Deferred income 1 353 685 5 536 314 - -
Provision for bad debts 7 980 025 17 470 603 - -
Intercompany ECL 757 409 167 815 705 838 592 414
Fair value hedge 391 862 - - -
IFRS 16 leases 84 040 - - -
Deferred tax asset on assesed loss 13 512 870 - - -
Share scheme 820 225 - - -

Deferred tax balance from temporary differences other
than unused tax losses

29 306 813 27 796 576 705 838 592 414

Total deferred tax asset 29 306 813 27 796 576 705 838 592 414

Deferred tax liability (8 798 564) (8 767 963) (88) (88)
Deferred tax asset 29 306 813 27 796 576 705 838 592 414

Total net deferred tax asset (liability) 20 508 249 19 028 613 705 750 592 326

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset / (liability)

At beginning of year 19 028 613 16 617 338 592 326 57 957
Provision 27 462 (139 236) - -
Accelerated depreciation (89 439) 117 365 - -
Current year charge - movement on loan impairment (9 733 186) 4 355 711 - (42 299)
Deferred income (4 182 628) (1 060 507) - (16 338)
Deferred and prepaid expenses (2 134) (1 161 673) - 592
Fair value adjustment 567 838 (179 847) - -
Intercompany ECL 589 593 167 816 113 424 592 414
IFRS 16 leases 234 051 (150 011) - -
Opening balance adjustment - 663 439 - -
Prior year adjustment - (201 782) - -
Deferred tax asset on assesed loss 13 512 866 - - -
Prior year consolidation corrections 555 213 - - -

20 508 249 19 028 613 705 750 592 326

The deferred tax balance at year end is considered non-current.

21. Non-distributable reserves

A grant agreement was entered into between TUHF Limited and National Treasury to advance R200 million to TUHF
Limited over 3 years. The funds will be combined with R800 million senior debt to lend to end user clients.To date R157
million has been received and on lent to end users. These funds are not available for distribution to the shareholders. TUHF
Limited has the unconditional right to avoid the repayment of these funds as at 31 March 2021. 

A grant agreement was entered into between TUHF21 NPC and National Treasury to advance R75 million to TUHF21 NPC
over 3 years. The money will flow down to Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited where it will be used to lend to user
clients. To date R29.4 million has been received and on lent to end users. These funds are not available for distribution to
owners. TUHF21 NPC has the unconditional right to avoid the repayment of these funds as at 31 March 2021. 

A grant agreement was entered into between TUHF21 NPC and National Treasury to advance R25 million to TUHF21 NPC
over 3 years. The money will flow down to uMastandi Proprietary Limited where it will be used to lend to user clients. To
date R6.2 million has been received and on lent to end users. These funds are not available for distribution to owners.
TUHF21 NPC has the unconditional right to avoid the repayment of these funds as at 31 March 2021. 
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24. Financial liabilities (continued)
Futuregrowth Asset Management
The loan of R300 million from Futuregrowth Asset
Management acting as facility agent on behalf of Senior
Lenders is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.2%. R200
million is repayable in equal monthly instalments of
capital and interest calculated and interest calculated
according to a 144-month amortisation profile as from
13 June 2013 and a final single payment on 15 July
2023. R100 million is repayable in equal monthly
instalments of capital and interest calculated according
to a 144-month amortisation profile as from 15 January
2014 and a final single payment 15 January 2024.

165 285 432 181 048 424 - -

Standard Bank Warehouse
A R700 million warehouse revolving facility bearing
interest at a rate of 3-month JIBAR rate plus a margin
of 3.25%, with the 3-month JIBAR rate resetting
quarterly. Interest is payable on a monthly basis and
capital can be repaid and redrawn on a revolving basis.
The facility is renewable every 12months, with the
contractual maturity being 17 years after the availability
period.

378 512 569 388 292 203 - -

National Housing Finance Corporation Limited
The preference shares are issued to the National
Housing Finance Corporation Limited and are at an
interest rate of prime less the corporate tax rate,
currently 6,3%. Dividend payments have been accrued.
The preference shares are redeemable in 2022 and
rank after secured loans for repayment.

38 515 745 36 704 797 - -

Futuregrowth Asset Management
The loan of R200 million from Futuregrowth Asset
Management is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.20%.
The facility is fully drawn as funds are required and
interest and capital are paid monthly. The loan is
repayable in equal installments and is repayable in full
by September 2024.

105 418 780 118 584 862 - -

Ashburton Investments
A R65 million promissory note from Ashburton
Investments issued at a nominal value of R65 million
each, made to property developers is funded by the
issue of the notes. Interest is serviced monthly and
capital is redeemed on maturity in a bullet payment.
The coupon is priced at prime and the final redemption
date was extended to March 2021.

- 65 492 486 - -

Mergence Investment Managers
The loan of R11 million from Mergence Investment
Managers is at an interest rate of prime. The facility is
fully drawn and interest and capital are paid monthly.
The facility is repayable in full by December 2090.

8 922 216 9 286 695 - -

Futuregrowth Asset Management
The loan of R400 million from Futuregrowth Asset
Management is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.40%.
Interest is serviced monthly. Capital was paid in 3
tranches of R300 million in March 2020, R50 million in
April 2020 and the remainder in March 2021.

- 104 173 715 - -
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24. Financial liabilities (continued)
Development Bank of South Africa SOC Limited
The loan of R100 million from the Development Bank of
South Africa SOC Limited is at an interest rate of prime
minus 2%. Interest and capital are repaid over the
remaining term and must be repaid in full by 30 June
2024.

33 944 523 38 693 700 - -

Future Growth Asset Management
The loan of R100 million from Future Growth Asset at
an interest rate of prime minus 0,75%. Interest and
capital are repaid over the remaining term and will be
repaid by February 2022.

15 085 048 22 984 416 - -

National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited
The loan of R100 million from the National Housing
Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an interest rate
of prime minus 2%. Interest and capital are repaid over
the remaining term and will be repaid by July 2028.

57 425 400 61 016 783 - -

National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited
The loan of R25 million from the National Housing
Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an interest rate
of prime minus 2%. Interest and capital are repaid over
the remaining term and will be repaid by July 2029.

12 901 838 13 612 631 - -

National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited
The loan of R120 million from the National Housing
Finance Corporation SOC Limited is at an interest rate
of prime minus 0.5%. Interest and capital are repaid
over the remaining term and will be repaid in full by
December 2025.

62 274 936 67 599 319 - -

Development Bank of South Africa SOC Limited
The loan of R200 million from the Development Bank of
South Africa Limited is at an interest rate of prime
minus 1.0%. Interest and capital are repaid over the
remaining term and must be repaid in full by 31
December 2024.

84 357 485 94 212 214 - -

Cadiz Life and Asset Management
The loan of R40 million from Cadiz Life and R10 million
from Cadiz Asset Management is at an interest rate of
prime plus 0.25%. The facility period was extended for
another 60 months in June 2015. Interest and capital
are repaid over the remaining term and repayment is
extended by 12 months to May 2021.

23 801 744 26 581 211 - -

Futuregrowth Asset Management
The loan of R250 million from Futuregrowth Asset
Management is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.5%.
The facility is fully drawn and interest and capital are
paid monthly. The facility is repayable in full by August
2021.

87 579 320 103 940 975 - -

Mergence Investment Managers
The loan of R15 million from Mergence Investment
Managers is at an interest rate of prime less 0.5%. The
facility is fully drawn and interest and capital are paid
monthly. The facility is repayable in full by August 2026.

8 755 586 9 420 182 - -

Public Investment Corporation
The loan of R300 million from the Public Investment
Corporation is at an interest rate of prime less 2%. The
facility is fully drawn and interest and capital are paid
monthly. The facility is repayable in full by December
2027.

183 075 813 194 974 800 - -
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24. Financial liabilities (continued)
Novo Impact Fund (Previously The New Housing
Company) - 5 million
The loan of R5 million from Novo Impact Fund
(previously The New Housing Company) secured by a
way of 2nd mortgage bond at an interest rate of prime
less 2%. Interest is paid monthly. The repayment of
capital is due in November 2019. The facility may only
be invested in equity funding projects.

5 032 822 5 042 880 - -

NHFC Bridging Loan
The loan of R60 million from NHFC is at an interest rate
of prime plus 2%. The facility is fully drawn. The capital
and interest will be repaid in a single payment at the
end of the term. Discussions are underway to extend
the facility to September 2021.

69 278 255 63 219 870 - -

Taquanta
The loan of R100 million from Taquanta bears interest
at the 3-month JIBAR rate plus 4,25%, with the 3-month
JIBAR rate resetting quarterly. Interest was payable on
a quarterly basis and was repaid in a single payment at
the end of March 2021.

- 100 465 753 - -

Ashburton
The loan of R90 million from Ashburton is at prime rate.
The facility is fully drawn and interest is payable on a
monthly basis. The capital will be repaid in a single
payment at the end of the term. The facility is fully
repayable by May 2024.

90 500 548 90 670 068 - -

Lionshead (ALCB Fund)
The loan of R100 million from Lionshead (ACLB Fund)
is at a fixed interest rate of 10,25% for the first 12
months. Step-up interest rate of the fixed rate
equivalent of  3M JIBAR plus 3.75% came into effect
from October 2020 to March 2021. A further step up of
the fixed rate equivalent of 3M JIBAR plus 4.25%
applies from April 2021 to September 2021. The facility
is fully drawn, and interest is payable on a quarterly
basis. The capital will be repaid in a single payment at
the end of the term. The facility is fully repayable by
September 2021.

100 130 401 100 285 178 - -

SEFA
The loan of R60 million from SEFA is at prime rate. The
facility is fully drawn and interest is payable on a
monthly basis. The capital will be repaid on a monthly
basis with a 6 months moratorium from first draw date.
The facility is fully repayable by March 2030.

28 850 754 30 050 342 - -

Domestic Medium Term Note Programme:
A Listed and rated domestic medium term note was
raised on 26 January 2017. The term of the notes is 3
years and the interest rate is the 3 month JIBAR rate
plus a margin of 3.25%. The capital is repayable in
October 2024. The note has been fully subscribed and
the participants are listed below: All the notes were fully
repaid on the due date.

Sanlam Asset Management: R100 million 283 293 889 285 033 863 - -
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24. Financial liabilities (continued)
Futuregrowth Asset Management
The loan of R60 million from Futuregrowth Asset
Management is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.25%.
The facility is fully drawn and interest and capital are
paid monthly on the remainder of the term facility will be
fully paid by March 2026.

40 061 361 43 320 902 - -

Futuregrowth Asset Management
The loan of R100 million from Futuregrowth Asset
Management is at an interest rate of prime plus 0.40%.
The facility is fully drawn and interest and capital are
paid monthly. The facility is repayable in full by
December 2026.

72 774 249 77 863 851 - -

National Housing Finance Corporation
The loan of R200 million from National Housing
Finance Corporation Limited is at an interest rate of
prime plus 0.25%. Interest and Capital are paid
monthly. The facility is fully drawn and interest and
capital is repaid over the remaining term. The facility is
repayable in full by February 2033.

181 985 138 188 729 819 - -

Nedbank
The loan of R100 million from Nedbank is at an interest
rate of prime. The facility is fully drawn and interest is
payable on a monthly basis. The capital will be repaid
in a single payment at the end of the term. The facility
is fully repayable by July 2022.

98 291 954 98 291 954 - -

Novo Impact Fund
The loan of R10 million from Novo Impact Fund is at an
interest rate of prime less 0,5%. The facility is fully
drawn and interest is payable on a monthly basis. The
capital will be repaid in a single payment at the end of
the term. The facility is fully repayable by May 2024.

10 051 969 10 072 031 - -

Novo Impact Fund (Previously The New Housing
Company) - 10 million
The loan of R10 million from Novo Impact Fund
(Previously The New Housing Company) is secured by
means of a second mortgage bond and interest are
payable at the prime rate less 2%. The facility is fully
drawn. Interest is payable from May 2019. Capital will
be repaid within 7 years being 31 July 2024.

1 488 961 1 491 936 - -

Novo Impact Fund (Previously The New Housing
Company) - 5 million
The loan of R5 million from Novo Impact Fund
(Previously The New Housing Company) secured by a
way of 2nd mortgage bond at an interest rate of prime
less 2%. Interest is payable monthly. The repayment of
capital is due in May 2022. The facility may only be
invested in equity funding projects.

3 874 961 3 882 705 - -

Gauteng Partnership Fund (GPF) - 10 million
The loan of R10 million from the Gauteng Partnership
Fund is at a rate of prime less 2%. The capital and
interest are due in September 2020. The facility may
only be invested in equity funding projects.

14 441 210 13 712 876 - -
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24. Financial liabilities (continued)

All the loans/notes issued are secured by cessions of
all the rights, titles and/or interests the group holds or
which it may acquire in future, arising out of, or in
connection with the end-user agreements, which have
been financed by the respective funding facilities.

Fair value hedge liability
The company has entered into an interest rate swap
with Standard Bank, the nominal amount of transaction
is R562 412 460. The derivative swaps 3-month JIBAR
rate on the nominal amount for prime rate cash flows.
This is part of series of interest rate swaps entered into
by the group to protect the senior note tranches of
Urban Ubomi 1 (RF) against interest rate basis risk.
The maturity date of the swap is 15 May 2043. The
swap is balance guaranteed so the nominal value will
automatically go to zero on the coupon step-up date,
currently is May 2026.

7 017 022 - - -

3 531 333 152 3 300 198 225 - -
Deferred raising fees** (12 316 242) (11 932 427) - -

3 519 016 910 3 288 265 798 - -

**The current portion of the deferred raising fee is R2 481 235 (2020: R 1 458 796)
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24. Financial liabilities (continued)
Buffet Investment
The loan has been granted to Jeppestown Urban Trust.
The interest rate is Prime +1%. Interest is capitalised
and the repaid with the capital in a single payment in
March 2025.

15 000 000 - - -

Nedbank 38 John Page
Mortgage loan granted by Nedbank Limited at Prime
+0.50%. The facility is repayable March 2025.

1 310 395 - - -

National Housing Finance Corporation SOC Limited
The loan of R40 million is a shareholder loan granted to
TUHF Holdings. The Interest rate is fixed at 18% for the
duration of the loan Interest is paid quarterly and capital
will be repaid in a single payment in September 2022.

40 611 507 - - -

Futuregrowth asset manager
The loan of R15.2 million is a shareholder loan granted
to TUHF Holdings. The interest rate is fixed at 18% for
the duration of the loan. Interest is paid quarterly, and
capital will be repaid in a single payment in September
2022.

15 420 838 - - -

Mortgage-backed securities
A listed mortgage-backed securitisation concluded
December 2019. Interest is priced at 3-month JIBAR
plus a specified margin for each tranche of notes, with
the 3-month JIBAR rate resetting quarterly. The
margins range from 2.22% to 10% across the various
notes. Interest and capital are payable quarterly in
terms of the TUHF Urban Finance (RF) priority of
payment until all obligations are fully settled. The
structure has a contractual maturity date of May 2039
and open to the first refinance in January 2025.

A Class Noteholders 448 574 984 507 335 041 - -

B Class Noteholders 52 183 010 59 023 403 - -

D Class Noteholders 24 321 182 27 510 254 - -

Mortgage-backed securities
A listed mortgage-backed securitisation concluded in
March 2021. Interest is priced at 3-month JIBAR plus a
specified margin for each tranche of notes, with the 3-
month JIBAR rate resetting quarterly. The margins
range from 1.55% to 3.80% across the various notes.
Interest and capital are payable quarterly in terms of
the Urban Ubomi 1 (RF) priority of payment until all
obligations are fully settled. The structure has a
contractual maturity date of May 2043 and open to the
first refinance in May 2024.

Class A1 Noteholders 202 259 849 - - -

Class A2 Noteholders 309 447 017 - - -

Class B Noteholders 73 111 006 - - -

Class C Noteholders 25 046 029 - - -
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27. Interest expenses

Interest on borrowings 237 524 196 297 224 131 280 322 805 769
Interest on fees on current account 4 133 11 489 - -
Preference dividends 1 810 948 2 525 696 - -
Interest paid to SARS 21 413 36 647 5 423 -
Interest expense - lease liability 1 524 936 1 029 416 - -
Interest on shareholders loans 3 159 837 - - -

244 045 463 300 827 379 285 745 805 769

Raising fees and legal fees of R3 558 378 (2020: R 2 522 338) were recognised in the financial year under review and are
included in interest on borrowings for group.

28. Expected credit losses

Stage 1 (38 168 169) (17 683 108) - (151 068)
Stage 2 (6 056 313) 22 740 835 675 139 3 526 273
Stage 3 36 165 031 40 820 869 - -
Recoveries in the year - (588 182) - -

(8 059 451) 45 290 414 675 139 3 375 205

29. Other operating income

Rental income 1 273 390 1 363 736 - -
Agency fee income 1 501 500 1 505 614 1 501 500 1 505 614
Management and incentive fees 1 492 413 1 171 020 - -
Sundry income 3 431 555 5 238 753 - -
Dividends received 285 250 842 778 - 59 886

7 984 108 10 121 901 1 501 500 1 565 500

30. Other operating gains (losses)

Impairment of Goodwill (19 029 422) - - -
Bargain gain on purchase 40 436 239 - - -

21 406 817 - - -

Fair value gains (losses)
Financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit
or loss

394 605 802 888 - -

Non-hedging derivatives* (1 399 508) - - -

(1 004 903) 802 888 - -

Total other operating gains (losses) 20 401 914 802 888 - -

*Fair value of the swaps have been determined using expected cashflows based on the respective 3-month JIBAR and
Prime interest rate forward curves, a PD 3.449% and LGD of 75% was used for the CVA and DVA calculations.
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25. Share based payment reserve

Opening balance 6 997 098 - - -
Shares awarded not yet vested 5 518 859 6 997 098 - -

12 515 957 6 997 098 - -

TUHF Conditional Share Plan:

As an incentive for current and prospective employees of TUHF Limited, TUHF Holdings Limited has established a Conditional 
Share Plan ("CSP") to which 9 900 210 ordinary shares of a par value of R0.0001 each has been allocated.

Conditional awards made are subject to TUHF Limited achieving performance metrics (such as, return on equity, growth in 
profit after tax, total capital impaired and other non-financial metrics) and are measured between a two to five year performance 
period. Conditional awards that employees become entitled to as a result of the Remuneration Committee and management's 
deliberations are vested into their name, equally over a three year period.

Following the vesting of conditional awards, TUHF Limited is required to procure the settlement of the shares to be vested from 
TUHF Holdings Limited. Such shares are allotted and issued at the market value per share at no cost to the employee. The 
employee bears the taxation cost when the shares vest based on the current value per share.

In terms of the rules of the CSP, if an employee should leave the employment of TUHF Limited, TUHF Limited has the right of 
first refusal to purchase those shares registered in the employee's name at the current market value.

TUHF Limited may withhold any amounts or make such arrangements as are necessary to meet any liability to taxation or any 
other liabilities and costs in respect of the vesting of a conditional award.

At the end of the period under review, TUHF Limited held 1 997 621 (2020: 1 997 621) treasury shares in TUHF Holdings 
Limited.

On 1 April 2019 and 23 September 2019, grant letters were awarded to employees for 5 234 292 shares that will vest over the 
period April 2021 to April 2024 subject to specific service and performance conditions being met. The assessed fair value at 
grant date of share awards granted during the year ended 31 March 2020 was R6.31 per share. No shares were granted in the 
financial year ending 31 March 2021. The fair value at grant date is determined using management’s best estimates of the 
following assumptions;
* 78% probability of meeting performance conditions; and
* 5% attrition rate for qualifying employees.

26. Interest income

Interest on advances 373 339 274 467 943 429 - 297 449
Interest on advances to related company - - 484 905 1 411 335
Interest on call deposits 4 203 354 7 308 185 166 754 19 334
Interest on guarantee deposits 129 993 2 376 740 - -
Interest on staff loans 9 569 10 574 - -
Interest received from SARS 331 183 45 926 46 715 14 183

378 013 373 477 684 854 698 374 1 742 301

Raising fee income of R17 483 103 (2020: R 18 484 171) was recognised in the financial year under review and is included in
interest on advances for group.
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34. Taxation

Major components of the tax expense (income)

Current
Local income tax - current period 9 660 900 6 127 477 - 432 097

Deferred
Deferred tax asset - (2 963 696) - (534 369)
Deferred tax liability (1 479 913) 552 781 (113 424) -

(1 479 913) (2 410 915) (113 424) (534 369)

8 180 987 3 716 562 (113 424) (102 272)

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense.

Accounting profit 48 521 281 11 863 832 671 659 (2 763 341)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2020: 28%) 13 585 959 3 321 873 188 065 (773 735)

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Assessed loss utilised   (11 358 918) 739 122 (301 489) -
Non deductible interest on preference shares - 707 195 - -
Non taxable fair value adjustment (22 098) (44 961) - -
Non taxable income - -
Non deductible expenses 969 752 - -
IFRS accounting policy change - -
Prior year adjustment

- (831 977)
178  592

- (559 838)
- 175 - -

SARS interest and penalties 1 948 10 261 - -
Reversal prior year income tax asset - 432 097
Exempt dividends

- 432 097
(235 978) - -

No assessed loss created 5 004 346 239 366

8 180 987 3 716 562 (113 424) (102 272)

35. Commitments

Loans and Advances

As at 31 March, the TUHF Group have total unpaid commitments of R386 million. The commitments are contractual but not
irrevocable as several conditions must be met to TUHF’s satisfaction before funds are paid. 

Furthermore, it is a condition of the client’s loan that funds must be used within 12 months of the loan start date, and this
reduces the commitments to R107 million. Upon a detailed analysis of the projects, the actual commitments reduced to R55
million as some properties will be sold in their current configuration and in other instances amounts originally provided are no
longer required. 

36. Borrowing capacity

In terms of the company's memorandum of incorporation the borrowing powers of the company are unlimited except where
any indebtedness, other than trade debt in the ordinary course of business, is limited to R20 million. Undertakings have also
been given to certain lenders of maintaining a debt to capital ratio of 90%.
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31. Other operating expenses

Auditors remuneration 4 980 078 4 312 288 - -
Consulting fees 21 257 094 17 913 699 304 096 961 049
Depreciation and amortisation 3 163 488 3 078 345 - -
Depreciation - Leases 3 808 206 3 641 417 - -
Employee costs 56 236 911 63 091 467 - -
Financial administration 1 068 838 1 128 453 - -
Information technology costs 2 711 883 1 830 368 - -
Marketing 1 553 794 3 004 753 - -
Office rental 26 727 430 787 - -
Other expenses 11 087 810 9 876 641 246 499 881 175
Project management 2 250 914 2 429 748 - -
Telephone and fax charges 1 155 261 1 065 476 - -
Training and skills development 4 282 198 4 168 664 - 13 313
Utilities 961 058 1 023 666 - -
Valuations 1 463 453 480 572 - -
VAT - input VAT not claimable as it relates to non
taxable supplies

7 646 433 6 389 008 16 736 34 631

123 654 146 123 865 352 567 331 1 890 168

32. Employee benefit expense

Employee costs included in note 31, comprises:

Employee costs
Employee costs salaried staff 39 665 268 42 571 932 - -
Directors emoluments 7 433 584 9 816 237 - -
Non-executive directors 3 619 200 3 706 200 - -
Share-based payment 5 518 859 6 997 098 - -

56 236 911 63 091 467 - -

TUHF Ltd has a defined contribution provident plan governed by the Pension Funds Act, 1956, as amended, to ensure all
permanent employees are required to join. Payments to the provident plan are charged as an expense as they fall due.

The group has no obligations for post-retirement health benefits.

The group's expense in respect of defined contribution plans is:

Provident fund 6 289 733 5 510 461 - -

33. Investment income

Interest income
Loans to group companies:
Interest income 2 776 768 4 242 173 - -
Equity accounting earnings/ (losses) (1 014 724) 1 735 273 - -

Total investment income 1 762 044 5 977 446 - -
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37. Related parties (continued)

SilverKey Proprietary Limited 
Interest received (96 150) (1 297 558) - -

Risk Prop Proprietary Limited (Joint Venture)
Interest received (256 199) (291 624) - -

Bjala Investments Proprietary Limited 
Interest received - (546 044) - -

EGC Properties Proprietary Limited 
Interest received - (420 510) - -

Pearl Property Investment Proprietary Limited
(Joint Venture)
Interest received (318 508) (264 075) - -

Key management compensation:

All members of the board are considered key management. Refer to note 38 for details of fees paid to directors.

The following shareholders in TUHF Holdings which is the holding company of TUHF Limited has provided the wholesale loan
facility as stated below to TUHF Limted amounting to R2 013,5 million (2020: R2 265,3 million).

NHFC
Total NHFC debt facilities: capital advanced 703 594 757 703 594 757 - -
Interest paid 30 399 447 39 740 710 - -
Interest and capital repayments 44 297 848 63 212 064 - -

Futuregrowth
Total facilities 1 010 000 000 1 261 717 699 - -
Interest paid 44 836 955 108 545 927 - -
Interest and capital repayments 210 549 909 591 586 475 - -

PIC
Total facilities 299 980 457 299 980 457 - -
Interest paid 9 988 685 16 470 908 - -
Interest and capital repayments 21 887 673 35 521 901 - -
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37. Related parties
Subsidiaries Refer to note 13
Joint ventures Refer to note 15

Related party balances

For the related party balances please refer to note 12.

Related party transactions

NHFC
Interest paid 30 399 447 38 365 749 - -

Futuregrowth
Interest paid 44 836 955 108 545 927 - -

PIC
Interest paid 9 988 685 16 470 908 - -

TUHF Properties Proprietary Limited
Interest received - - (293 548) (340 798)

Intuthuko Equity Fund Proprietary Limited
Interest received - - (29 355) (130 319)

uMastandi Proprietary Limited
Interest received - - (41 131) (160 507)

TUHF Limited
Interest received - - (204 264) (779 712)
Management fees - - 1 492 413 203 846

- - 1 288 149 (575 866)

Better Urban Living 2 Proprietary Limited 
Interest received (2 105 912) (7 003 039) - -
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37. Related parties (continued)

SilverKey Proprietary Limited 
Interest received (96 150) (1 297 558) - -

Risk Prop Proprietary Limited (Joint Venture)
Interest received (256 199) (291 624) - -

Bjala Investments Proprietary Limited 
Interest received - (546 044) - -

EGC Properties Proprietary Limited 
Interest received - (420 510) - -

Pearl Property Investment Proprietary Limited
(Joint Venture)
Interest received (318 508) (264 075) - -

Key management compensation:

All members of the board are considered key management. Refer to note 38 for details of fees paid to directors.

The following shareholders in TUHF Holdings which is the holding company of TUHF Limited has provided the wholesale loan
facility as stated below to TUHF Limted amounting to R2 013,5 million (2020: R2 265,3 million).

NHFC
Total NHFC debt facilities: capital advanced 703 594 757 703 594 757 - -
Interest paid 30 399 447 39 740 710 - -
Interest and capital repayments 44 297 848 63 212 064 - -

Futuregrowth
Total facilities 1 010 000 000 1 261 717 699 - -
Interest paid 44 836 955 108 545 927 - -
Interest and capital repayments 210 549 909 591 586 475 - -

PIC
Total facilities 299 980 457 299 980 457 - -
Interest paid 9 988 685 16 470 908 - -
Interest and capital repayments 21 887 673 35 521 901 - -
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38. Directors' emoluments

Group

Executive

2021

Cash
component

Bonus Provident
fund

Other Total

PGN Jackson 2 939 931 - 558 039 222 347 3 720 317
LN Netshitenzhe 1 080 537 - 213 572 128 111 1 422 220
IL Roodt 1 875 996 - 332 381 82 670 2 291 047

5 896 464 - 1 103 992 433 128 7 433 584

2020

Cash
component

Bonus Provident
fund

Other Total

PGN Jackson 2 908 858 2 600 000 539 744 535 699 6 584 301
IL Roodt 1 869 243 900 000 322 961 139 732 3 231 936

4 778 101 3 500 000 862 705 675 431 9 816 237

Non-executive

2021

Directors' fees Total
SS Moraba 432 000 432 000
T Adler 461 400 461 400
C Coovadia 616 400 616 400
RR Emslie 563 400 563 400
JF Howard 286 000 286 000
JK Mamatela 356 000 356 000
JS Strelitz 378 000 378 000
L Vutula 299 000 299 000
B Mapongwana 227 000 227 000

3 619 200 3 619 200

2020

Directors' fees Total
SS Moraba 431 250 431 250
T Adler 512 650 512 650
C Coovadia 726 650 726 650
RR Emslie 668 050 668 050
JF Howard 288 250 288 250
JK Mamatela 281 250 281 250
JS Strelitz 325 250 325 250
L Vutula 265 650 265 650
R Solomon 83 700 83 700
B Mapongwana 48 500 48 500
PIC 75 000 75 000

3 706 200 3 706 200

74

Group

Group



T UHF INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021 T UHF INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2021160 161

TUHF21 NPC
(Registration number 1993/000217/08)
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements

39. Contingencies

The rules of the group's Conditional Plan requires that all participants who leave the employ of any group company for any
reason whatsoever, will offer to sell their shares to TUHF Limited.

Should TUHF Limited not accept this offer, the participant must offer to sell the shares to other participants in the Plan and
failing this being accepted, the offer must be extended to all other shareholders in the company.

40. Going concern

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

The directors believe that the company has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and
accordingly the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors have satisfied
themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its
foreseeable cash requirements. The directors are not aware of any new material changes that may adversely impact the
company. The directors are also not aware of any material non-compliance with statutory or regulatory requirements or of any
pending changes to legislation which may affect the company.

41. Events after the reporting period

Subsequent to year end the directors of Silverkey Proprietary Limited entered into a sale agreement with City of Johannesburg
Metropolitan Municipality for the sale of part of its property portfolio. The buildings being sold are known as Catham house and
Karl House.
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